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STATEMENT FROM THE MANAGEMENT

EEEREE

The board (the “Board”) of directors (the “Directors”) of China
Investment and Finance Group Limited (the “Company”) and its
subsidiaries (collectively, the “Group”) is pleased to announce
the audited consolidated results of the Group for the year ended
31 March 2021 (the “Year”).

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
Financial Results

For the Year, the Group recorded gross proceeds from disposal
of securities of approximately HK$30.4 million, representing a
decrease of approximately 78.9%, as compared to the amount
of approximately HK$144.3 million for the last year. The Group
recorded in revenue of approximately HK$4.5 million, representing
an increase of approximately 54.3% as compared to the amount
of approximately HK$2.9 million for the last year. The Company
recorded profit attributable to the owners of the Company for
the year amounted to approximately HK$3.6 million (2020: loss
of approximately HK$126.4 million). The audited consolidated
net assets of the Group as at 31 March 2021 amounted to
approximately HK$195.5 million (2020: approximately HK$182.6
million). The net asset per share of the Group was amounted
to approximately HK$0.72 (2020: approximately HK$0.08). The
increase in net asset value per share of the Company over the
year was principally resulted from the net effect of (i) the share
consolidation for every then 10 shares of the Company into 1
share of the Company (see the Company’s circular dated 30 March
2020 for further details); (ii) the placing of 45,150,000 new shares
of the Company at a price of HK$0.150 each (see the Company’s
announcements dated 15 September 2020 and 25 September
2020 for further details); and (iii) the net profit attributable to the
shareholders of the Company for the year of approximately HK$3.6
million.

The Group’s financial performance changed from net loss
approximately HK$126.4 million for the year ended 31 March
2020 to net profit approximately HK$3.6 million for the Year.
Such change is mainly attributable to the change in performance
of the Group’s listed investments and the expected credit loss
assessment. The Group recorded net loss on listed investments
of approximately HK$80.1 million in the last year, while net gain
on listed investments of approximately HK$20.0 million was
recorded in the current year. In relation to the expected credit
loss assessment, the Group recorded impairment losses of
approximately HK$17.0 million in the last year, while reversal of
impairment losses of approximately HK$1.3 million is recorded
in the current year. Taking into account of decrease in fair value
on unlisted investments of approximately HK$13.2 million (2020:
approximately HK$24.7 million), administrative expenses of
approximately HK$8.9 million (2020: approximately HK$7.8 million)
and other expenses, the Group recorded net profit of approximately
HK$3.6 million in the current year (2020: loss of approximately
HK$126.4 million).
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STATEMENT FROM THE MANAGEMENT

EEEREE

Investment Review
As at 31 March 2021, the Group’s major investments were as

follows:
Investments Description
RE Bt

Listed equities

EmRRA

Direct investment in unlisted equities

RIFLTRAZERERE

Debt Investments

BEBRE
Total HK$170.7 million
AEr 170,700,000/% 7T

The investment portfolio as at 31 March 2021 of the Group mainly
comprises of unlisted securities, listed securities and bonds
investment in Hong Kong and China. The value of investment
portfolio of the Group is of approximately HK$170.7 million.
As a whole, the portfolio was carefully managed and being
fully diversified to minimise commercial risk resulting from over
concentration of the investment of the Group in any single industry.

Significant Investments

The Group’s investments with fair value over 5% of value of its
total assets are considered as significant investments. In respect
of the Group’s significant investments as at 31 March 2021, set out
below are certain information on those investments:

BREEE
Ro-B-—F=ZA=+—H AEEZTERENT:

HK$121.2 million of a portfolio of listed shares in 35 companies
FA35[ A 7],2121,200,0007% 7t L 5 424

HK$24.1 million in 3 direct investments in unlisted equities securities
BIEIE LTI ARE 5 2 B 18 E 1#24,100,000/8 7T

HK$25.4 million in bonds issued by 2 listed companies
28] £ T A R 317 2 {5 4:25,400,00078 7T

RZEZ—F=ZA=+—H AEEREHAEEEH
ERERPEELTES LTEFREFREAN -
REE R EMAEELA170,700,00078 7T - 48 M
T REBAERETEETYABRAZ LI ZERKE
AEEBDERRERE —TEMBAREZBERR -

EARE
ARFEEAEEHEEEBEBE % 2AKERER
BRERRE-RAKER _ZT-_—F=A=+—H
ZERREME REREZETEREIIMT

05



06

China Investment and Finance Group Limited
P E KR B OE &£ B B R 44 7

STATEMENT FROM THE MANAGEMENT

EEEREE

(A) UNLISTED EQUITY INVESTMENTS

Peak Zone Group Limited (“Peak Zone”)

Peak Zone principally engages in the electronic commerce
industry specializing on the provision of integrated application,
which can be deployed by its customers on a modular or
selective basis, offering flexibility in budget and choice. For
the twelve months ended 31 March 2021, the unaudited
consolidated net profit attributable to equity holders of Peak
Zone was approximately HK$3.0 million. Peak Zone is
developing its business in Eastern China area and continuing
the development of related and advanced systems to provide
more comprehensive services to increase its revenue. The
Company expects Peak Zone having a high growth potential.

Prominent Alliance Limited (“Prominent Alliance”)

Prominent Alliance is principally engaged in dealing in
securities, advising on securities and asset management. For
the year ended 31 March 2021, the unaudited consolidated
net loss attributable to equity holders of Prominent Alliance
was approximately HK$16.0 million, which was due to the
outbreak of COVID-19 affecting various industries including
financial sector. Prominent Alliance will closely monitor China
and Hong Kong economy trend especially in the investment
market. Accordingly, the Company expects Prominent Alliance
will be prudent on its business development and operation
and obtain a positive return when the epidemic has passed.

(A) EFETRARE

Peak Zone Group Limited ([Peak
Zone |)

Peak Zone T EHX EETRABE  FrieH®
EWMEARN THRERFRERKIRIZEDI
E REBEMEENSEE REZ T =—
F=ZRA=+—HIE+={8 8  Peak Zone Ex#
B ANEMEREEZES T4 T4 43,000,000/
JLo Peak Zone IERAERM @B R E X Wi
BREREBEERS WEHT2EMNRE  #
Mg EH WA - &2 7] FE B Peak Zone 5% A &
EREREBT -

Prominent Alliance Limited ([ Prominent
Alliance ])

Prominent Alliance X 2 EEFE 55  HEBEHIR
HEAREEEBE -BHE-_ZS-—F=-A=1-—
HEFE BRFEMAEEHeRBHIERS
1% 2 %2 Prominent Alliance #mi5 5 A JE
EREEZEEFEEL /16,000,000 7T °
Prominent Alliance & ] BEfE fp B |2 & 78 &
B(LERKREMS)BZ Bt - NRAREH
Prominent Alliance # 1 A #7153 E k& & LR
HEEVTETRBERALEESEBRNEERR-



(B) LISTED EQUITY INVESTMENTS

China e-Wallet Payment Group Limited (“China
e-Wallet”, stock code: 802)

China e-Wallet is principally engaged in provision of internet
and mobile application and distribution of computer-related
and mobile-related electronic products and accessories. The
audited consolidated loss attributable to shareholders of
China e-Wallet for the year ended 31 December 2020 was
approximately HK$41.8 million.

China e-Wallet had continued the efforts to consolidate
and realign its businesses to enable the Group to achieve
improvements in its financial position. Moreover, it will utilise
its existing technical knowledge and programmers to diversify
its income stream and will continue to work towards, attaining
a stable platform for sustainability and basis for any potential
growth. By leveraging the knowledge on its interactive virtual
reality programming on different business sectors, such as
animation and culture, China e-Wallet obtained the license
from the largest Japanese animation studio to conduct an
interactive animation exhibition in Hong Kong during 2019.
They will continue to explore the potential of this business
opportunities and utilize its resource with prudence in the
future. The management of the Company considers the
business model of China e-Wallet having an attractive
business potential, but will keep close monitoring on its
development.

WLS Holdings Limited (“WLS”, stock code: 8021)

WLS is principally engaged in the provision of scaffolding and
fitting out services, and other services for construction and
buildings work, money lending business, securities brokerage
and margin financing and securities investment business
and assets management business. The audited consolidated
loss attributable to shareholders of WLS for the year ended
30 April 2020 was approximately HK$108.9 million.
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(B) L TRAKRE

FEZSEXNEEERAA ([FEEE] -
B4 X 55 - 802)
TRESTIECFRAEBENEHEAENN
Eo#HEMEBEHHBEFERLESF REE
—ETFESA_A=t+—HLEE TEEEL
PR R R B AR A 1R 40 /541,800,000 7T ©

TEEE-HERNGAREEREEYR CHEUWK
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STATEMENT FROM THE MANAGEMENT

EEEREE

As stated in WLS interim report 2020/2021, looking ahead, in
view of present economic uncertainty and difficulties, WLS is
reviewing its existing assets structure and business strategies
and may make adjustment to our existing assets structure,
with the aim to consolidate its resources, so as to be flexibly
prepared for uncertainties in the future. Meanwhile, in order to
enhance its competitiveness, WLS will look for opportunities
to revitalise the scaffolding business to keep up with the
recent development and trend in the industry, in particular the
declining use of bamboo scaffolds. At the same time, WLS will
continue focusing on those business segments that generate
higher profit margins and show ample growth potential such
as money lending operations. WLS will strictly adhere to its
cost control policy, and swiftly adjust business strategies of
its scaffolding business in response to ever-changing market
dynamics in order to generate better financial returns for its
shareholders.

Finally, WLS will actively explore all suitable investment
opportunities to diversify its business horizons and will work
hard to strengthen overall business development. WLS
business strategy is in line with the general direction of the
government’s overall strategic development plans for property
construction, infrastructure investment and financial market
development.

The management of the Company shares the same viewpoints
of WLS and believes its businesses in construction and
infrastructure sectors are in line with the development plan of
Hong Kong Government and will bring positive return to the
Company in long run.
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Power Financial Group Limited (“Power Financial”,
stock code: 397)

Power Financial is principally engaged in business of financial
services, asset management and investment and money
lending. For the financial year ended 31 December 2020, the
audited consolidated profit attributable to shareholders of
Power Financial was approximately HK$44.2 million. Power
Financial aims to migrate into the IPO margin financing
business. In October 2020, it made arrangements with a
licensed bank to provide IPO financing facilities, which will be
used for IPO margin financing to clients. With the adoption
of a more aggressive development strategy and continue
recruiting talents to expand the client base, Power Financial
is poised to expand its horizons and scale new heights in the
years to come. Power Financial will also revamp its Equity
Capital Market (“ECM”) business by building a research and
analysis team with solid academic backgrounds in finance as
well as experience in applying corporate finance analytical
techniques to review and select the best quality and most
profitable ECM deals in order to maximise opportunities
and secure greater business deals where possible. During
the year 2020, Power Financial plans to expand the scope
of money lending business into retail lending and project
financing by setup a new wholly-owned subsidiary and employ
experienced staff to support its expansion.

To help optimize the efficiency of money lending procedures,
Power Financial will upgrade its loan management system
to better monitor and manage loan portfolios as well as
improve overall efficiency in loan operations. E Cash Fintech
Limited, a new wholly-owned subsidiary of Power Financial
for retail lending, is currently creating its own website and
mobile application for money lending platform, which is
expected to be released and in use during the second half
of 2021. The promotion of digitalized and smart trading
services will enable Power Financial to offer better users
experience and strengthen its core competences in the
fintech era. Power Financial will closely monitor the changing
business environment and seek out opportunities for long-
term sustainable and steady growth. Furthermore, it will
carefully pursue all potential viable investment and business
opportunities to further develop existing business segments
while also expanding the customer base as well as deepening
relationships with current customers. The management of
the Company believes Power Financial will be able to spur
its revenue growth and create more value, and profit will be
generated in long terms.
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STATEMENT FROM THE MANAGEMENT

EEEREE

(C) UNLISTED DEBT INVESTMENTS

China 33 Media Group Limited (“China 33 Media”)

During the Year, the Group subscribed unlisted bonds (the
“China 33 Media Bonds”) issued by China 33 Media with
principal of HK$12,000,000 with a coupon rate of 12.0%. The
China 33 Media Bonds will be matured in 36 months from the
issuing date (i.e. 23 July 2020).

China 33 Media is a company incorporated in the Cayman
Islands with limited liability. China 33 Media and its
subsidiaries are principally engaged in Investment holdings,
provision of management services, prepaid card business,
film and entertainment investment and provision of advertising
services. It is listed on GEM of the Stock Exchange (stock
code: 8087). The audited net assets and current assets of
China 33 Media were approximately RMB236.8 million and
RMB363.4 million respectively and its total liabilities were
approximately RMB173.3 million as at 31 December 2020.
The Company considers that China 33 Media has sufficient
working capital to meet the ongoing business, there is no
signal of default of bonds issued by China 33 Media.

Hao Wen Holdings Limited (“Hao Wen”)

During the year ended 31 March 2020, the Group subscribed
unlisted bonds (the “HW Bonds”) issued by Hao Wen with
principal of HK$15,000,000 with a coupon rate of 11.0%. The
HW Bonds will be matured in 36 months from the issuing date
(i.e. 12 July 2019).

Hao Wen is a company incorporated in Cayman Islands with
limited liability. Hao Wen and its subsidiaries are principally
engaged in the money lending business and processing and
trading of electronic parts. It is listed on GEM of the Stock
Exchange (stock code: 8019). The audited net assets and
current assets of Hao Wen were approximately RMB310.3
million and RMB228.3 million respectively and its total
liabilities were approximately RMB56.5 million as at 31
December 2020. The Company considers that Hao Wen has
sufficient financial resources to meets its ongoing operation,
and there is no signal of default of the HW Bonds.

(C) FLMEHKRE
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Performance of the Group’s Listed Securities

The profit on listed investments of approximately HK$20.0 million
for the Year represented net realised loss on disposal of listed
securities of approximately HK$6.0 million and net unrealised gain
of listed securities of approximately HK$26.0 million and dividend
received of approximately HK$7,000. Set out below are further
information of these net realised loss and unrealised gain:

Net Realised Loss on Disposal of Listed Securities

The net realised loss on disposal of listed securities of
approximately HK$6.0 million represented the realised gain of
approximately HK$6.2 million net of realised loss of approximately
HK$12.2 million.

The realised gain of approximately HK$6.2 million principally
represented:

Company name Stock code
NEER R4 155
Aeso Holding Limited 8341
VEZERBRA

BOSA Technology HoIdings Limited 8140

ARMBIZEBRAR A

In addition to the above 2 stocks, there was no other stocks which
brought realised gain over HK$1.0 million to the Group during the
Year.

AEBLLTRFZRE
RNEE TR E % F 4920,000,0008 T L E FHE
(7 BB EI8F 546,000,000 TR tHESZ

IR B30 YN 5 7% 8 4926,000,0005% 7T & 2 W% B 497,000
BT - ERLSEERBEFARAERRKIENES
BERET T

HE FHERT EEEERFE

Hj%t mEHF 2 B %38 E 18 ¥ 546,000,000 T
EE IR 46,200,000 LB O EREEYD
12,200,0005% 7t

B2 IR K55 496,200,0008 T E 245

Investment Disposal Realised
costs consideration gain

REBAK HERE B#R K

HKS$ million HKS$ million HKS$ million
BEET HEET BEET

2.6 515 2.9

0.5 1.9 1.4

B 2SRRI RNEFEIEEMRE AR EE TR

B #3R  & 881,000,000/ 7T
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EEERTE
The realised loss of approximately HK$12.2 million principally 2 235 5518 4912,200,000/8 7T B35 -
represented:
Investment Disposal Realised
Company name Stock code costs consideration loss
NCECR & 47 18557 RERE HERE 2REER
HK$ million HK$ million HK$ million
B&#T B &5 BEET
China Jicheng Holdings Limited 1027 4.0 0.4 3.6
AR & A IR A PR A A
SEM Holdings Limited 9929 6.3 4.1 2.2
REERER AR
In addition to the above 2 stocks, there was no other stocks which Fr Lii2EREIN REEWEEMRESREBER
brought realised loss over HK$2.0 million to the Group during the 2 %37 F518 8 382,000,00078 7t ©
Year.

Net Unrealised Gain of Listed Securities

_E B2 KB B an F AR

The net unrealised gain of approximately HK$26.0 million A B8 IR 35 0% 58 926,000,000 ST A H IR R E L
represented the unrealised gain of approximately HK$39.0 million 39,000,000 7T 1Bk A& & 37 &5 15 4913,000,000/8 7T

net of unrealised loss of approximately HK$13.0 million.

The unrealised gain of approximately HK$39.0 million principally R EIR UK 25 4939,000,000/8 L = £ 45 -

represented:

Company name Stock code Unrealised gain

REEH R 4R REBWH
HK$ million

B EET

Milan Station Holdings Limited 1150 6.5

KRB ER AR A A

Wan Cheng Metal Packaging Company Limited 8291 6.1

EXEBEEERAA

AMCO United Holding Limited 630 4.3

ERERBER AT

China Jicheng Holdings Limited 1027 4.2

PSR IERR B BR A A

In addition to the above 4 stocks, there was no other stocks which REMAERFIN AEETRAMBRERAEEE R

brought unrealised gain over HK$4.0 million to the Group during REIE I 25 8 384,000,000% T ©

the Year.
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The unrealised loss of approximately HK$13.0 million principally
represented:

R 5 184913,000,00008 7T X B :

Company name Stock code Unrealised loss
CIECE R4 R 5 RERER
HK$ million
A&
China Kingstone Mining Holdings Limited 1380 21
RESOEEERERAA
China 33 Media Group Limited 8087 1.9
TR ==EEEEFR AT
Asia Grocery Distribution Limited 8413 1.6
TMEEERAA
China National Culture Group Limited 745 1.0

FEBRXCEXEERFRAA

In addition to above 4 stocks, there was no other stocks which
brought unrealised loss over HK$1.0 million to the Group during
the Year.

Note:

The shares of all the companies mentioned under Performance of the
Group’s Listed Securities were listed on either main board or GEM of the
Stock Exchange.

Performance of the Group’s Unlisted Securities

The Group’s did not dispose of any unlisted securities and
recorded net unrealised loss of unlisted securities of approximately
HK$13.2 million during the Year, which principally represented
the valuation loss on the Group’s investment in Wingate Holdings
Limited of approximately HK$8.8 million.

B b4 R HN » A F E A 4D AR 22 A AN S [ A5 2R
A E IR 188 361,000,0005% 7T °

Bt -

AEBMEMESFZRBRETAMEIABNBRMDERITE
ek GEM ke

AEEFLTHREZRE

RAFEE AEBWREETMIELTERF KRG
EMES AR EEF5 413,200,000 T F 24
7N £ [E A Wingate Holdings Limited 1 & 2 (H{E & 18
#78,800,0003% 7T

B
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Performance of the Group’s Unlisted Debt Investments
The valuation loss on the Group’s investments in the bonds of
approximately HK$0.7 million was recorded during the Year. As
mentioned in the section “Significant Investments” above, the
Board considers that there is no signal of default of the bonds held
by the Group.

Impairment Losses under Expected Credit Loss Model
In the year ended 31 March 2018, the Group disposed of
an investment in Help U Credit Limited at a consideration of
HK$50,000,000. The Group has only received HK$34,920,000 as
of 22 June 2020, the date of approval of the Company’s annual
report for the year ended 31 March 2020 (“Year 2020”). During
Year 2020, the Group has taken legal actions against the vendor in
connection with the outstanding balance of HK$15,080,000 already.
As of 31 March 2020, the Group has made a full impairment on
the remaining balance of HK$15,080,000. The Company has
engaged an independent valuer to assess the expected credit loss
of the Company’s bonds and receivables, and reversal of expected
credit loss of approximately HK$1.3 million was made during the
Year, which was principally attributable to improvement of overall
business environment in China and Hong Kong.

Segmental Information

There is no material change in the Group’s investment segment,
principally investment in listed and unlisted securities, during the
Year.

Price Risk

The Group is exposed to financial assets price risks as investments
held by the Group are classified on the consolidated statement of
financial position as equity investments at fair value through profit
or loss as at 31 March 2021. To manage its price risk arising from
investments in the above financial assets, the Group diversifies
its portfolio. If the prices of the equity investments held for trading
were higher or lower by 5% as at 31 March 2021, the Group’s profit
for the year would increase or decrease by approximately HK$5.1
million respectively, and if the prices of equity investments held
for trading were higher or lower by 5% as at 31 March 2020, the
Group’s loss for the year ended 31 March 2020 would decrease or
increase by approximately HK$4.1 million respectively. If the value
of the investments held by the Group as equity investments with
non-trading in nature were higher or lower by 5% as at 31 March
2021 (2020: 5%), the Group’s equity as at 31 March 2021 would
increase or decrease by approximately HK$1.2 million (2020:
HK$1.9 million) respectively.

AEEMILTEERENKE

NAREE: $%ﬁ%&ﬁ%#1ﬁﬁ%% #7700,000/%
oMW ENTEREE] Sl - EFERALE
EREMESFTEENTR-

FHEEEFEEEXTHRESE

REBEE-_T— \E=ZA=+—HULEFE A£ELE
REAMBER AR RIEKRE KB /450,000,000 7T
HE-_ZT-_ZFFA=-+= E’(ZK ARNEE-_Z =
§¢7ﬂ7+—5¢¢r(:§fgiﬁnz¢ﬁ
R E B HR) - AN 5 B {2 1 134,920,000 7T o 7 =
—EFEE-AKEECHEARKE 4 %womom%n
MEBEFRERTY BE_FTTF=A=+—8"
NEE T phik T 4E#24915,080,000/8 L EH 2 SURE
AABEZE BN AEMIGEARBESRER
REZEHREBE YRAFEELEREERSE
B [B1491,300,0008 0 DEEHRPBERE BN ZE
ERRBAMSRE-

2 EBEHR
Fﬁif'$%l&§“*(I£&ﬁi$&¥tﬁ
F) U EEREH -

B Rk

FEBEHWKEEBERAR RERR-_Z=_—F
ZAZT A XEEFBEAEIREEZESMBRRAE
PAOBAANRTEFABERZRARE - RERH
BELRBMBEEMEELEZERER ~NEESHHE
BEEEG - MBEEERARENERNR S =—F
ZA=+T—BLAXTK% AAEEF R 5EF
79> Bl 18 hn sk El 4> 495,100,000 7T 0 0 35 1E B & %
AEEMNEER_E_TF=A=+—BLAKTR
5% AAEBREBEE-_Z-_TF=-A=+—RHLFE
Z 518 5 BRI 4> 3038 11 494,100,000/% 7T fif & AN 5
EFEEBSIERAREZREBER S —F=
AZ+—BEALTHRS% (ZTZTF:5%) ' BIR
EERZTEZ—F=A=+—BZREKIRIEIMNK
A #91,200,00078 7T ( Z T T4 :1,900,000/87T) °
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Prospects

We expect the global market will continue to face greater
challenges and full of uncertainty especially after the outbreak of
COVID-19. Both developed and developing economies are facing
challenge of economic turmoil. China was also facing a slowdown
in economic growth, but its situation seems not as poor as that of
the West, and its economy has commenced strong recovery since
late Year 2020. In spite of the damage caused by COVID-19, the
launch of vaccines has given hopes to the world of the recovery
of economies. Accordingly, the Directors consider, crisis and
opportunities coexist in the coming year.

The Directors will continue to take a prudent approach in
managing the Group’s investment portfolio and develop the
investment strategies. Given the increasing influence of China
against the global economy, the Group will still be based mainly on
Chinese economy, the Group will continue to look for investment
opportunities which offer outstanding returns under the acceptable
risk in the portfolio of the Group.

The Company would consider investing in certain unlisted
securities, listed securities and fixed income products with high
potential in order to diversify further market risk.

Dividend
The Board has resolved not to recommend a payment of final
dividend.

Liquidity and Financial Resources

As at 31 March 2021, the Group had margin payables to financial
institutions of approximately HK$4.4 million (2020: approximately
HK$5.1 million). The Group had bank balances and cash on hand
of approximately HK$2.8 million (2020: approximately HK$1.6
million), which was mainly placed in bank and other financial
institutions as deposits. As the Group held listed securities of
approximately HK$121.2 million as at 31 March 2021 (2020:
approximately HK$98.1 million), which is around 27.4 times (2020:
approximately 19.1 times) of the margin payable value, the Board
consider the Company’s liquidity position is still healthy as at
31 March 2021.

Gearing Ratio

The gearing ratio (defined as total interest-bearing liabilities/total
equity) was 2.2% (2020: 2.8%), which was considered a very low
leverage level by the Board.

s
BMPEHEEMBSEEERBRE AKEERARSETR
BEM LHEEEZNEMARBE -BFERERYP
KERYERCESHZORS R PEbLEHES
Z&ﬁ;ﬂi‘EE&ﬁwH’\ RUTEFRAR BEEER
ZTFEREMIBEDEE - EE COVID- 198 E L
,Hiaéa'a;mm&w%tﬁ%%&,;ﬁ@i mRH L FIL -
EERA RFREHEKBIWIFN—F-

EER-NE BEREEAEEZREAARSIE
BRERMB - ENTEHEE2REENZTEHRIE M K
EIWH%IEIEB’\‘EPI%%W BEEASEREM

ZXNEARBEASRERRREELARNERE
1%%%%0

RRABIGEBRENETEBEXRBNZIELTE
tHEFREEREER BRE-TDHTHRAR -

ggs
FERTEZIRMN RS -

%:;ﬁ:—iiﬂ =+ —B ZEBEEMNESBERBR
& %) /54,400,000 7T (== = Z 4 : 45,100,000/

75)"21»?&.2%&(7”:'%&?55%% 49 7/2,800,000/%5
T(ZEZTF: 2’916000005%7%)322%%& TRE
ﬂﬂmﬁ&%%?m R—E-_—F=A=+—8 K&

BEH FH#EH4121,200,0008 T (ZE_FF: 4
98,100,000/8 7T) ' AENIRB LM H274F (=T =

TFE 191 ARESERAN-_ZE-_—F=A
=+ —BHARRORBESHKRIDBER-
EESMEBLR

EEABHRER (TEANEABRE BEZR)BE2.2%
(ZEZTF:28%) EEERAZHBEBHREER

IKFE o
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Capital Structure

The unaudited consolidated net asset value per share of the
Company as at 31 March 2021 was HK$0.72 (2020: audited
HK$0.08). The consolidated net asset value per share is calculated
based on the net assets of the Group as at 31 March 2021 of
approximately HK$195.5 million (2020: approximately HK$182.6
million) and the total number of 270,916,600 shares ordinary
shares of the Company at par value of HK$0.001 each (2020:
2,257,666,000 ordinary shares of the Company at par value of
HK$0.05 each) in issue as at that date. The change of the number
of issued shares of the Company and par value of the Company’s
share capital is resulted from the capital reorganization which was
completed on 30 July 2020 (see the Company’s circular dated
30 March 2020 for details) and the placing of 45,150,000 shares
on 25 September 2020 (see the paragraphs below for details).

The Board has been actively seeking fund raising opportunities
to strengthen the Company’s financial position. On 25 September
2020, the Company completed a placing and has successfully
raised approximately HK$6.8 million (before expenses), which are
detailed below.

On 15 September 2020 (after trading hours), the Company and
Astrum Capital Management Limited (the “Placing Agent”) entered
into a placing agreement (the “Placing Agreement”) pursuant to
which the Placing Agent agreed to place, on a best endeavour
basis, to not less than six independent placees for up to
45,150,000 new shares at a price (the “Placing Price”) of HK$0.150
per placing share (the “Placing”). These new shares rank pari
passu in all respect with the then existing Shares. The Placing was
completed on 25 September 2020.

The Placing Price of HK$0.150 per placing share represents: (i) a
discount of approximately 2.6% to the closing price of HK$0.154
per share of the Company as quoted on the Stock Exchange of
Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) on 15 September
2020, being the date of the Placing Agreement; and (ii) a discount
of approximately 9.9% to the average of the closing prices of
HK$0.1664 per share of the Company as quoted on the Stock
Exchange for the last five consecutive trading days immediately
prior to the date of the Placing Agreement.

ERER
RZZE-_—FZAZ+—B AR ERAEEXLE
SEEFERVZETL(ZTZZF:0.088 T (&£
%)) BREGEEFEDNREAEEAR-_Z=—F
:H:+—E|E‘\Jf§§>aaf§,%@195 500,000 (=&
Z T :49182,600,000% 7T) KR B AR FRE
160.0017 JT ) B 8 17 & 3B AR 42 £(270,916,600% (=
T =T :2,257,666,000% A~ A 7] & A E {E0.057% 7T
TERBRFEB/L - ARREBITRHEBE REAAQ
FAIRAEEEH ERR _E_EFL A=+ A XK
WBRAEA (FEFL2HMARAAHA-S_EF=
A=tAMmBR) MR -_TE-_TFAA-THBES
45,150,000/ IR D FT B (BB LB T XERE) -

BT HREBRSREEHGAMBARRFEMRNR
RZZE-_ZTEFNA-_+EB ARRIZK—EEEL
AT %& 5 496,800,000 7T (HIBRF S AT) - B R o

RZZZTFNA+HER (RZEERE) - QR
&%%ﬁx“ﬁﬁﬁ“ (BRI LAEE R

Z([BEEHR]) Bt RERBREEENEEN
thmﬁhﬁmw%EmEWUM%EDWKQ%
IR SR A TR & B % 45,150,0008% 37 8% 15 ([HER &
FH]) - ZEFTRNEMEIBEERREBERNE
AEr REETHEER _Z-_EFENA-THAE
ﬁgo

FRECERKH0.1508 T 2 BLEBE « (i) A2 B RMHK
ZEZTFNATHA (ARERZEH) REEHS
AR AR ([BZAT]) TR KT E S R0.154
BT EN2.6% : R ARAROREERSHE
BERIREZ AEBEER S B REATAT®RA T Wm
BF[%0.1664 8 TLHTE479.9% °
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The principal activity of the Company is investment holding.
The principal activities of its subsidiaries are securities trading
and investment holding. The Board considered that the Placing
represented a good opportunity for the Company to raise additional
funds and to widen the Company’s shareholder base, and the
terms of the Placing Agreement are on normal commercial terms.
Accordingly, the Directors considered that the terms of the Placing
were fair and reasonable and in the interests of the Company and
its shareholders as a whole.

The aggregate gross proceeds of the Placing were approximately
HK$6.8 million and the aggregate net proceeds of the Placing,
after deduction of expenses, were approximately HK$6.6 million,
representing a net issue price of approximately HK$0.146 per
placing share. The net proceeds from the Placing were intended
to be used for the general working capital of the Group and for
future investments pursuant to the investment objectives of the
Company. As of 31 March 2021, the net proceeds from the Placing
of approximately HK$6.6 million has been fully used as intended.

Save as the aforesaid capital reorganization and the Placing, the
Group did not run any capital exercise during the Year.

Material Acquisitions and Disposal of Subsidiaries,
Associates and Joint Ventures

During the year ended 31 March 2021, the Company does not
have any significant acquisition and disposal of subsidiaries,
associates or joint ventures.

Employees

During the year ended 31 March 2021, the Group had retained
eleven employees (2020: nine employees). Total staff costs of the
Group, excluding directors’ remuneration, for the year under review
amounted to approximately HK$2.9 million (2020: approximately
HK$1.0 million). Staff remuneration packages were in line with the
prevailing market practice and were determined on the basis of the
performance and experience of individual employee.

Charges on Assets and Contingent Liabilities

As at 31 March 2021, the Group has pledged listed securities of
approximately HK$14.4 million (2020: approximately HK$24.4
million) to secure the margin payables of approximately HK$4.4
million (2020: approximately HK$5.1 million). The Group did not
have significant contingent liabilities as at 31 March 2021 and
2020.

ARABZIBEBRREEZER EMBARZTIER
BREFEBERREER -EEERR KEFER
ARREEFNESURBEAARRRRER 2 R
BEREBHEZGRIDE - REFERFT LAtk &
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49 46,800,0007% 7T & 496,600,000/% 7T © HEE 7 F 5
TEHAESRAEEIN0.146/8 T - B &S BB TS K
BIERBEASEE—REELSIREBEARARE
BERERKBE - BE_T_—F=/A=+—8"
Fid & %18 FT 15 FUBF 5 496,600,000/8 L E IR Bt E A&
EHEA -

Bl AEAREESEIN AEBRAFEARL
BAETEMNERAED-
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HEEHE-
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T—2EE(ZZE_ZF NEEE) AKEREE
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BT (ZFT ZZ 4 : #1,000,0005 7T ) ° B T # B EF
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==}

E°
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Future Plans for Material Investments or Capital Assets
and Their Expected of Funding in Coming Year

As at 31 March 2021 and up to the date of this annual report, the
Company does not have any concrete plan for material investments
or capital assets.

Foreign Currency Fluctuation

The Group’s exposures to foreign currencies mainly arises
from its investments in companies located in the PRC, which
are financed internally. In order to mitigate the potential impact
of currency fluctuations, the Group closely monitors its foreign
currency exposures and will use suitable hedging instruments
against significant foreign currency exposures, where necessary.
No foreign currency hedge contract was entered into by the
Group during the Year. As at 31 March 2021, the Group had no
outstanding foreign currency hedge contracts (2020: Nil).

PURCHASE, SALE AND REDEMPTION OF SHARES
For the year ended 31 March 2021, neither the Company nor
its subsidiaries had purchased, sold or redeemed any of the
Company’s shares.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The audit committee of the Company had reviewed the
consolidated results of the Group for the year ended 31 March
2021, including the accounting principles and accounting practices
adopted by the Company, and discussed matters relating to
auditing, risk management, internal controls, financial reporting,
the adequacy of resources, qualification and experience of staff.

The audit committee of the Group consists of three independent
non-executive directors, namely Mr. HON Leung, Mr. LUK Simon

and Ms. LIU Xiaoyin.

By Order of the Board
China Investment and Finance Group Limited

CHAN Cheong Yee
Executive Director

Hong Kong, 25 June 2021
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EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR

Mr. CHAN Cheong Yee (“Mr. Chan”), aged 57, was appointed as
an executive Director on 8 March 2011. Mr. Chan is one of the
representatives of Evergrande Securities (Hong Kong) Limited
and a licensed person to carry out type 4 (advising on securities)
and type 9 (asset management) regulated activities under the
Securities and Futures Ordinance (the “SFO”). Mr. Chan obtained
a Bachelor of Science degree from the College of Business
Administration of the University of South Florida in the United
States of America. Mr. Chan is experienced in dealing in securities,
fund management, corporate management, corporate finance and
managing listed investment companies under Chapter 21 of the
Listing Rules of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the
“Stock Exchange”).

Mr. Chan is currently executive director of each of China Innovation
Investment Limited (stock code: 1217), China Investment
Development Limited (stock code: 204), Capital VC Limited (stock
code: 2324), China New Economy Fund Limited (stock code: 80),
National Investments Fund Limited (stock code: 1227) and China
Trends Holdings Limited (stock code: 8171). All these companies
are listed on either the main board or GEM of the Stock Exchange.

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. WU Qi (“Mr. Wu”), aged 37, was appointed as a non-executive
Director on 3 July 2015. He is a famous securities analyst in China.
He has many years’ solid experience in the financial industries.
He has often been interviewed by many Chinese media and has
been invited by a number of financial programs as a guest. He is
also a financial columnist of sina.com, yicai.com and other famous
websites. Mr. Wu specializes in the stock market analysis and his
choice of stocks also has outstanding insights.

Mr. FONG On Shek, aged 76, was appointed as an independent
non-executive Director on 19 July 2017. He has over 20 years’
solid experience in senior management positions in various
industries.

HITES

REREE(TREE]D 57 RZT——F=AN
AREZERUTEST BATEARESR (FR)ER
RAEP—UBEAE - REFHFEBMEGRD ([F
REIEHED]) REERBAIKESRIE (BLEFRH
BERIRFHM(REEETRE)IRERTDNFMA
T -REEMGENBERBEEHEREMNARIR
EEBREETEM -REEINTBLRS EERE
TEEE CEREREEEERARIMARR
(FH&*“PM)im%ﬁE'J%MEIETiFE&éAﬂﬁﬁ%&
BEEER-

REEBROMNEEPHAFREFARDA (KK
RI%:1217) PEKREFBFR AR (BRMHAR:
204) - BHEPAIR AR 2R (B 5% - 2324) - R BT
Z%E—%“'?xﬁﬁﬁﬁ"ﬂ (AR5 :80) BIBRKREESH

A (BAn (K55 - 1227) R BB EZERAR AR (K
fﬂka‘)ﬁ:8171)Zﬁtﬂé%°Fﬁﬁ§2%’@ﬂi’iﬁé‘ﬁﬁﬁ§ﬁﬁ
TRFKGEM £ e

FUTES
REEE(TREE]) 37 R _T—HAFEHA=H
E%Tﬂ%#%ﬂﬁﬁ%"ﬁ%qﬂE%ﬂ%%”’\ffﬁﬁﬂio
EeRMARRZFRENER NEEEIBEAKRE
R MEMEHERERE E%ﬁ R E-URE
EZAMUNTERRAVEER - RAELBEONET
ES HREARGERELRE-

FEAXRE 7650 R-_ZE—+&F+t A Hmai%é&
ABMFRTES - FRTRATEEISAETIEER
L HEEE0FNLEEER-

19



20

China Investment and Finance Group Limited
P E KR B OE &£ B B R 44 7

BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS

EEEMT

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. LUK Simon (“Mr. Luk”), aged 55, was appointed as an
independent non-executive Director on 2 July 2014. He is a
responsible officer for the regulated activities of asset management
(Type 9) under the Securities and Futures Ordinance since 2003.
Mr. Luk has over 10 years’ experience in asset management and
investment advising. Mr. Luk worked in various investment advising
companies.

Since September 2020, Mr. Luk is the responsible officer of
EAIl Securities Limited. During the period from November 2016
to September 2020, Mr. Luk is the responsible officer of Thoth
Investment Management Limited. During the periods from July
2014 to November 2016 and from February 2011 to November
2013, Mr. Luk was a responsible officer of W. Falcon Asset
Management (Asia) Limited and Capital Focus Asset Management
Limited respectively. Before that, Mr. Luk was a founder and
responsible officer of Money Concepts (Asia) Ltd. During the period
of 2000 to 2009, Mr. Luk managed various funds and private equity
portfolios. Mr. Luk was appointed as an independent non-executive
director of Infinity Development Holdings Company Limited (stock
code: 640), a company listed on the Stock Exchange, since
November 2013.

Ms. LIU Xiaoyin, aged 36, was appointed as an independent
non-executive Director on 20 March 2015. She is currently the
assistant to the general manager of a China based investment
company. She has over 5 years solid investment and management
experience.

Mr. HON Leung (“Mr. Hon"), aged 38, was appointed as an
independent non-executive Director on 20 November 2015. He is
the founder of William Hon & Co, and a certified public accountant
(practising) in Hong Kong, with over 10 years of professional
practice experience. He possess solid finance and accounting
knowledge. Mr. Hon is currently an independent non-executive
director of FY Financial (Shenzhen) Co., Ltd. (stock code: 8452), a
company listed on GEM of the Stock Exchange.

BYUFHTES

BRE2EE ([REE]) 655 R -_F—WFLA-
AREEEARBIFNTES -RA-ST=FERE
HFRHMEEABTERE (RUAEETR)ZREDH

ZEEAB -BEALEBEEEERREFANTEEAS
BI0OF KR -EAELEBRNZHEREFZARR -

TENAR BEEERBTHESFERATH
CHZE-RFT—AEZZ_TFNAH
A - B 5*6 & Thoth Investment Management Limited
MEEAB - RZE—MNFLtAZE-ZT—RF+—AH
RZT——F_RE-_Z—=F1+—AHH ELt4E
DRARFRTEEER (DM ERAGIREREES
BERAGIZABAB HELZA BEEETEREEH

\m]n \I

= e
aE A

BNEMERABRZABARBEAR - R-_ZEE
FE_TENFHH BEXLBEEEZAES R

ERAREER -EEREB _T—=F+ - ARLEZ
ERERBERERARAF (—MRBERXALETHR
Al IR SR 640) 2B IFHRTTEE -

BRELt: 36 XN _E—HF=-A - THEZE
RBIFPTEF FER/—HTERERRZAL
EHE-REEALF RBRENEELR-

BRaE(T8EE]) 38 R_T—HAF+—A
TTHRERERBIURITES- f&fEF%E”IQHJrEﬂi
EBMZAIMA-BRBARERGM HAEBTF
CEEXUELR RARRENSRANGTAH -3
FERTERBEEE CRIDBOBRAR (—ER
Bt X FTGEM LR R B - B0 X5 - 8452) 2 W7 3F
WITES-



DIRECTORS’ REPORT
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The Board presents their annual report and the audited financial
statements of the Group for the year ended 31 March 2021.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding.
The principal activities of subsidiaries are securities trading and
investment holding.

SEGMENT INFORMATION

For the year ended 31 March 2021 and 2020, the Group’s turnover
and results were mainly derived from the interest income and
dividend income from investment holding. The directors consider
that these activities constitute one and the only business segment
since these transactions are subject to common risks and returns.
The management monitors the operating results of its business
for the purpose of making decision about resource allocation
and performance assessment. Given the nature of the Group’s
operation is investment holding, it is not considered meaningful to
provide a business segment analysis of operating losses. Details of
the segment information are set out in note 9 to the consolidated
financial statements.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

As the Group’s operation is investment holding, there was
no information regarding major customers and suppliers as
determined by the Group.

RESULTS AND APPROPRIATIONS

The results of the Group for the year ended 31 March 2021 and
the state of affairs of the Group and the Company as at that date
are set out in the financial statements on pages 55 to 59 and page
130. The Directors do not recommend the payment of a dividend
for the years ended 31 March 2021 (2020: HK$Nil).
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SHARE CAPITAL
Details of movements in the share capital of the Group during the
year are set out in note 23 to the consolidated financial statements.

SHARE OPTIONS

The existing share option scheme of the Company was approved
and adopted by shareholders’ resolution at the annual general
meeting held on 29 August 2013 (the “Option Scheme”), unless
otherwise cancelled or amended subject to resolution passed at
general meeting of the Company the Option Scheme will remain in
force for ten years from 29 August 2013. As at 31 March 2021, the
remaining life of the Option Scheme was approximately 2 years
and 5 months.

The purpose of the Option Scheme is to provided incentive or
reward to Participants (as defined below) for their contribution to,
and continuing efforts to promote the interests of, the Group.

Eligible participants (the “Participants”) of the Option Scheme
include any employees of the Group (including any directors,
whether executive or non-executive and whether independent
or not, of the Company or any Subsidiary) and any distributor,
contractor, business partner, promoter, service provider, customer,
supplier, consultant, agent and adviser or any person who, in the
sole discretion of the Board, has contributed or may contribute to
the Group eligible for Options under the Option Scheme.

Without prior separate approval from the Company’s shareholders,
(i) the total number of shares which may be issued upon exercise
of all options to be granted under the Option Scheme and any
other share option scheme of the Company must not exceed 10%
of the shares of the Company as at the date of the shareholders’
approval of the option limit; and (ii) the maximum number of shares
issued and to be issued upon exercise of the options granted
to each Participant under the Option Scheme (including both
exercised and outstanding options) in any 12-month period shall
not (when aggregated with any shares of the Company subject to
options granted during such period under any other share option
scheme(s) of the Company) exceed 1% of the shares of the
Company in issue for any time being.
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Any grant of options to any directors, chief executive or substantive
shareholders (as such terms as defined in the Listing Rules) of
the Company, or any of their respective associates under the
Option Scheme or any other share option scheme of the Company
or any of its subsidiaries shall be subject to the prior approval of
the independent non-executive directors or shareholders of the
Company as the case may be. Without prior separate approval
from the Company’s shareholders, the maximum number of shares
issued and to be issued in respect of which options granted and
may be granted to a substantial shareholder or an independent
non-executive director of the Company in the 12-month period up
to and including the date of such grant shall not (i) exceed 0.1%
of the shares of the Company in issue on the date of such grant;
and (ii) have an aggregate value, based on the closing price of the
shares of the Company as stated in the daily quotations sheets
issued by the Stock Exchange on the date of grant, in excess of
HK$5 million.

Under the Option Scheme, the options granted may be accepted
by the participants concerned for a period of twenty-one days
from the date of such offer or such shorter period as the Board
may from time to time determine. An option shall be regarded
as having been accepted when the Company receives from the
Participant the duplicate of the offer letter duly signed by the
Participant together with a remittance in favour of the Company
of HK$1 as consideration for the grant of option. Options may be
exercised in accordance with the terms of the Option Scheme at
any time not exceeding a period of ten years from the date on
which the share option is granted. The subscription price for the
shares on the exercise of an option under the Option Scheme shall
be determined by the Board in its absolute discretion but in any
event shall not less than the highest of: (i) the closing price of the
Company’s share as stated in the daily quotation sheets issued by
the Stock Exchange on the date of grant which must be a business
day; (ii) the average closing price of the Company’s share as
stated in the daily quotation sheets issued by the Stock Exchange
for the five business days immediately preceding the date of grant;
and (iii) the nominal value of the Company’s share.
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The following table sets out the movements in the Company’s

share options during the year:

TREJR

DERAEEN BRI

Number
Number Number  of options ~ Number of
Number of  of options of options cancelled/ options held
options held granted exercised lapsed as at
Exercise asat  duringthe  during the  during the 31 March
Category Date of Grant Price  Option Period 1 April 2020 Year Year Year 2021
R-B-%2% R-B=-%
mA-A TEER TEER XEER ZA=t-H
Frig Riiz e 28/%%2 frig
5l REAH e BREHE BRERE BREHE BREYE BRERE BREXE
Directors
E=
Mr. CHAN Cheong Yee 7 August 2020 HK$0.316  Three years from date of grant - 2,250,000 - - 2,250,000
REZEE ZT-TENAtH 03168 RHAHRH=F
Mr. FONG On Shek 7 August 2020 HK$0.316  Three years from date of grant - 2,250,000 - - 2,250,000
FRAKE ZT-TENAtH 03168 RHAHRH=F
Employees 7 August 2020 HK$0.316  Three years from date of grant - 18,000,000 - - 18,000,000
{31 ZZ-TEN\AtH 031687 HHAHRH=F
Total
&3t - 22,500,000 - - 22,500,000

Details of the 22,500,000 share options granted during the year:

Grant date: 7 August 2020
3 years commencing from 7 August 2020
HK$0.316

approximately HK$2,620,000

Exercise period:
Exercise price:

Fair value:

The fair value of options which were calculated by binomial option
pricing model with the following assumptions:

Share price as at grant date: HK$0.280
Nature of the options: Call
Risk-free rate: 0.092%
Expected life of the options: 3 years
Expected volatility: 81.311%
Expected dividend yield: 0%
Exercise multiple: 2.8
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RESERVES

Details of movements in reserves of the Group during the year are
set out in the consolidated statement of changes in equity on page
58 of this report and other details of the reserves of the Group is
set out in note 25 to the consolidated financial statements.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

Under the Companies Law, Chapter 22 (Law 3 of 1961, as
consolidated and revised) of the Cayman Islands, share premium
of the Company is distributable to the shareholders of the
Company subject to the provisions of the Memorandum and
Articles of Association and a statutory solvency test. The Articles
of Association provide that an ordinary resolution passed by the
shareholders of the Company is required for any distribution out
of the share premium account. The Company’s reserves available
for distribution comprise the share premium, accumulated profits
and valuation reserve derived from the available-for-sale financial
assets. In the opinion of the Board, the Company’s reserves
available for distribution to the shareholders at 31 March 2021
were approximately HK$186,549,000.

DIVIDEND POLICY

The Board established a dividend policy (the “Dividend Policy”) in
January 2019. The Company endeavours to maintain adequate
working capital to develop and operate the business of the Group
and to provide stable and sustainable return to the shareholders of
the Company.

In considering the payment of dividends, the Board shall take into
account, among other things, the actual and expected financial
performance of the Group, the capital and debt level of the Group,
the general market conditions, any working capital requirements,
capital expenditure requirements and future development plans
of the Group, the liquidity position of the Group, contractual
restrictions on payment of dividends, the statutory and regulatory
restrictions which the Group is subject to from time to time and any
other relevant factors that the Board may consider relevant.
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The Company does not have any pre-determined dividend
distribution ratio. The Company’s dividend distribution record in the
past does not necessarily imply that the similar level of dividends
may be declared or paid by the Company in the future.

The declaration and payment of dividend by the Company is
subject to any restrictions under the Companies Law of the
Cayman Islands and the Company’s articles of association and any
other applicable laws and regulations. The Board will continually
review the Dividend Policy and reserve the right in its sole and
absolute discretion to update, amend, modify and/or cancel the
Dividend Policy at any time.

The Dividend Policy shall in no way constitute a legally binding
commitment by the Group in respect of its future dividend and/or
in no way obligate the Group to declare a dividend at any time or
from time to time.

DIRECTORS
The directors of the Company during the year and up to the date
of this report are:

Executive Director
Mr. CHAN Cheong Yee

Non-Executive Directors
Mr. WU Qi
Mr. FONG On Shek

Independent Non-Executive Directors
Mr. LUK Simon
Ms. LIU Xiaoyin
Mr. HON Leung

No director has a service contract which is not determinable by
the Group within one year without payment of compensation (other
than statutory compensation).

In accordance with Article 88 of the Articles of Association of
the Company, Mr. LUK Simon and Mr. HON Leung shall retire
by rotation. All retiring Directors being eligible, offer themselves
for re-election at the forthcoming annual general meeting of the
Company.
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS,
ARRANGEMENT OR CONTRACTS OF
SIGNIFICANCE

No transaction, arrangement or contract of significance in relation
to the Group’s business to which the Company or its subsidiary
was a party and in which a director of the Company had a material
interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end of the
year or at any time during the year.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN COMPETING
BUSINESS

As at the date of this report, none of the Directors and their
respective associates had any interest in a business which causes
or may cause a significant competition with the business of the
Group and any other conflict of interests which any such person
has or may have with the Group.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

The Company has arranged for appropriate insurance cover
for Directors’ and officers’ liabilities in respect of legal actions
against its directors and senior management arising out of
corporate activities. The permitted indemnity provision is in
force for the benefit of the directors as required by section 470
of the Companies Ordinance (Chapter 622 of the laws of Hong
Kong) when this report prepared by the directors is approved in
accordance with section 391 of the Companies Ordinance.

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES’
INTERESTS IN EQUITY OR DEBT SECURITIES
Save as disclosed in “SHARE OPTIONS” in this directors’
report, as at 31 March 2021, none of the directors and the chief
executives of the Company had or were deemed to have any
Disclosable Interests or short position in the shares, underlying
shares and debentures of the Company or any of its associated
corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the Securities and
Futures Ordinance (the “SFO”) which were notified to the Company
and the Stock Exchange pursuant to division 7 and 8 of Part XV
of the SFO (including interest or short positions which they are
taken or deemed to have under such provisions of the SFO)), or
which were required, pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO, to be
entered in the register referred to therein, or which were required
to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant
to the Model Code for securities transactions by Directors of listed
companies contained in the Listing Rules.
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INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS OF
SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS

The Company had not been notified of any person (other than
directors or chief executive of the Company) who had an interest
or a short position in the shares and underlying shares of the
Company as recorded in the register required to be kept by the
Company pursuant to Section 336 of the SFO as at 31 March
2021.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
The Company has complied with the Corporate Governance
Code (“Code”) as set out in Appendix 14 of the Rules Governing
the Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange (“Listing Rules”)
throughout the year ended 31 March 2021, with deviations from
Provisions A.2.1 and A.4.1 of the Code.

Pursuant to Provision A.2.1 of the Code, the roles of the Chairman
and the Chief Executive Officer should be separated and
should not be performed by the same individual. The division of
responsibilities between the chairman and the Chief Executive
Officer should be clearly established and set out in writing. The
Board is in process of locating an appropriate person to fill the
vacancy of the Chairman and the Chief Executive Officer of the
Company as soon as practicable.

Pursuant to Provision A.4.1 of the Code, non-executive directors
should be appointed for a specific term, subject to re-election.
None of the non-executive Directors was appointed for a specific
term. Since all the Directors are subject to retirement by rotation
according to the provisions under article 88 of the Articles of
Association of the Company, the Company considers that sufficient
measures have been taken to ensure that the Company’s corporate
governance practices are no less exacting than those in the Code.

ARRANGEMENTS TO PURCHASE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

At no time during the year was the Company or any of its
subsidiaries a party to any arrangements to enable the Company’s
directors or members of its management to acquire benefits by
means of the acquisition of shares in or debt securities (including
debentures) of the Company or any other body corporate.
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RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Save as disclosed in note 27 to the consolidated financial
statements, the Group had no material transactions with its related
parties during the year.

The Directors conducted review of the related party transactions
of the Group during the year and were not aware any transaction
requiring disclosure of connected transactions in accordance with
the requirements of the Listing Rules.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS
No contracts concerning the management and administration of the
whole or any substantial part of the business of the Group were
entered into or existed during the year.

EMOLUMENT POLICY

The emoluments of the directors are subject to review and
recommendation to the Board by the Remuneration Committee and
then fixed by the Board with the authorisation of the shareholders
at a general meeting.

RETIREMENT BENEFITS SCHEME
Details of the retirement benefits scheme are set out in note 28 to
the consolidated financial statements.

PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the Group and
within the knowledge of its directors, the Company has complied
with the public float requirement of the Listing Rules for the year
ended 31 March 2021.
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PURCHASE, SALE AND REDEMPTION OF SHARES
For the year ended 31 March 2021, neither the Group nor
its subsidiaries had purchased, sold or redeemed any of the
Company’s listed securities.

BUSINESS REVIEW

Fair Review of the Company’s Business and Likely
Future Development

Please refer to “Statement from the Management” on pages 4 to 18.

Principal Risks and Uncertainties
Please refer to note 4 to the consolidated financial statements.

Environmental Protection

The Group has taken an initiative to promote employees’
awareness of environmental protection and the need to achieve
efficient utilisation of resources through launching paper recycling
in offices.

Compliance with Laws and Regulations

In order to comply with the Prevention of Bribery Ordinance, the
Group emphasises the importance of adhering to anti-corruption
practices for all employees. The Group regards honesty, integrity
and fair play as its core values that must be upheld by all
employees of the Group at all times. As such, it is the Group’s
policy that employees are not allowed to solicit or accept any
advantage for themselves or others, from any person, company or
organisations having business dealings with the Group.

Company’s Key Relationships with its Employees

We consider our employees an important asset of the Company.
We strive to provide a fair and respectful working environment to
our employees.

In selecting our employees and board members, the Company
considers the experience, knowledge and background of the
individual that can contribute to the diversity and caliber of the
Company.
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We encourage the staff to take seminars and other activities
related to the Company’s business. We adopt a five-day workweek
and encourage our employees to have a good balance among
health, work and social or family activities.

Community Involvement and Contribution

The Company pursues sustainable development of the community
by supporting initiatives that create effective and lasting benefits
to the local communities. We supports long-term community
investment by encouraging our employees to participate in
volunteer work.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

Other than the share option scheme of the Company as disclosed
on pages 22 to 24 and note 24 to the consolidated financial
statements in this report, no equity-linked agreements that will
or may result in the Company issuing shares or that require the
Company to enter into any agreements that will or may result in
the Company issuing shares were entered into by the Company
during the Year or subsisted at the end of the Year.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Group’s
Articles of Association, or the laws of the Cayman Islands which
would oblige the Company to offer new shares on a pro-rata basis
to the existing shareholders.

FIVE YEARS FINANCIAL SUMMARY

Details of the five years financial summary in relation to the
Group’s results and assets and liabilities are set out in page 132.
This summary does not form part of the audited consolidated
financial statements.

CONFIRMATION OF INDEPENDENCE

The Company has received from each of the independent
non-executive Directors an annual confirmation of independence
pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules and considers all the
independent non-executive Directors to be independent.

DISCLOSURE OF DIRECTORS’ INFORMATION
UNDER RULE 13.51B OF THE LISTING RULES
Mr. CHAN Cheong Yee was appointed and resigned as an
executive director of Core Economy Investment Group Limited
(stock code: 339), which is listed on the Stock Exchange, with
effect from 18 January 2021 and 15 June 2021, respectively.
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AUDITORS

The consolidated financial statements of the Group for the
year have been audited by Elite Partners CPA Limited. Elite
Partners CPA Limited retires, and being eligible, offers itself for
reappointment. A resolution for reappointment of Elite Partners
CPA Limited as auditor of the Company is to be proposed at the
forthcoming annual general meeting.

By Order of the Board

CHAN Cheong Yee
Executive Director

Hong Kong, 25 June 2021
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The Company recognises that good corporate governance
standards maintained throughout the Group serve as an effective
risk management tool for the Company. The board of Directors of
the Company (the “Board”) is committed to lead the Group growing
in an efficient manner followed by corporate missions in terms
of business strategies and improved operational planning and
procedures which are enforced under high corporate governance
standard.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
The Company has complied with the Corporate Governance
Code (“Code”) as set out in Appendix 14 of the Rules Governing
the Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange (“Listing Rules”)
throughout the year ended 31 March 2021, with deviations from
Provisions A.2.1 and A.4.1 of the Code.

Pursuant to Provision A.2.1 of the Code, the roles of the Chairman
and the Chief Executive Officer should be separated and
should not be performed by the same individual. The division of
responsibilities between the chairman and the Chief Executive
Officer should be clearly established and set out in writing. The
Board is in process of locating an appropriate person to fill the
vacancy of the Chairman and the Chief Executive Officer of the
Company as soon as practicable.

Pursuant to Provision A.4.1 of the Code, non-executive directors
should be appointed for a specific term, subject to re-election.
None of the non-executive Directors was appointed for a specific
term. Since all the Directors are subject to retirement by rotation
according to the provisions under article 88 of the Articles of
Association of the Company, the Company considers that sufficient
measures have been taken to ensure that the Company’s corporate
governance practices are no less exacting than those in the Code.

DIRECTORS’ SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Group has adopted the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”)
as set out in Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules as the code for
securities transactions by Directors of the Group. Having made
specific enquiry of all Directors, the Group confirmed that all
Directors have complied with the required standard set out in the
Model Code throughout the year.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Composition

The Board of the Group is collectively responsible for overseeing
the management of the business and affairs of the Group with
the objective of enhancing shareholders value. The Board
comprises a total of six Directors, with one executive Director,
two non-executive Directors and three independent non-executive
Directors as at 31 March 2021. One of the independent
non-executive Directors, Mr. HON Leung, has appropriate
professional qualifications in accounting pursuant to Rule 3.10 of
the Listing Rules. Each of the independent non-executive Directors
has made an annual confirmation of independence pursuant to
Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The Group is of the view that all
independent non-executive Directors meet the independence
guidelines set out in Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules and are
independent in accordance with the terms of the guidelines. All
Directors have access to the company secretary for advice on the
board procedures and regulatory matters. Any Director may take
independent professional advice if they so wish at the expense of
the Group, as arranged by the company secretary.

Function

In view of the simple structure of the Group, all significant decision
making is carried out by the executive Director and the Chairman
of the Board while the day-to-day investment decision is based on
the professional recommendation of the investment manager.

None of the existing non-executive Directors of the Group is
appointed for a specific term. This constitutes a deviation from
the code provision A.4.1 of the Code. However, one-third of the
Directors of the Company (both executive and non-executive) are
subject to retirement by rotation at each annual general meeting
under the articles of association of the Group. As such, the Group
considers that sufficient measures have been taken to ensure that
the Group’s corporate governance practices are similar to those in
the Code.

Directors’ Training

As part of an ongoing process of directors’ training, the
company secretary continuously updates all Directors on latest
developments regarding the Listing Rules and other applicable
regulatory requirements to ensure compliance of the same by all
Directors. All Directors are encouraged to attend external forum
or training courses on relevant topics which may count towards
Continuous Professional Development training.
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Pursuant to Code A.6.5, Directors should participate in continuous
professional development to develop and refresh their knowledge
and skills. This is to ensure that their contribution to the Board
remains informed and relevant. During the year ended 31 March
2021, all Directors have participated in appropriate continuous
professional development activities either by attending training
courses or by reading materials relevant to the Company’s
business or to the Directors’ duties and responsibilities.

All Directors have made full and active contribution to the affairs
of the Board and the Board always acts in the best interests of the
Group. During the year ended 31 March 2021, the Board convened
a total of 10 meetings. Included in one meeting was a session
held among the non-executive directors (including independent
non-executive directors) only. The Directors can attend meetings
in persons or through other means of electronic communication
in accordance with the articles of association of the Group. The
number of Board meetings attended by each Director during the
year ended 31 March 2021 is set out in the following table. Figure
in brackets indicates the maximum number of meetings in the
period in which the individual was a Director.
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Attendance
Name of Directors EENR &R &
Executive Director BITES
Mr. CHAN Cheong Yee PREZE A 10/(10)
Non-executive Directors ETES
Mr. WU Qi RERE 10/(10)
Mr. FONG On Shek FRALE 10/(10)
Independent Non-executive Directors BYFBTES
Mr. LUK Simon BER 2 &4 10/(10)
Ms. LIU Xiaoyin ZEE T 10/(10)
Mr. HON Leung Bon g 10/(10)

To the best knowledge of the Board, there is no financial, business
or family relationship among the members of the Board as at
31 March 2021. All of them are free to exercise their individual
judgments.

BEFEMM R_E-_—F=A=+—H EFg
KREBBENE EHARKBR - KEHUELE
STF e

35



36

China Investment and Finance Group Limited
P E KR B OE &£ B B R 44 7

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

SREARE

COMPANY SECRETARY

Mr. CHAN Ka Yin was appointed as the company secretary of the
Company in August 2017. He reports to the executive Director
of the Company and assists the Board in functioning effectively
and efficiently. He has taken no less than 15 hours of relevant
professional training during the year ended 31 March 2021.

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

The Company has a remuneration committee for determining the
remuneration of the Directors. The members of the remuneration
committee are: Ms. LIU Xiaoyin, Mr. LUK Simon and Mr. HON
Leung. During the year ended 31 March 2021, the committee held
two meetings to discuss remuneration related matters. The number
of meetings attended by each committee member during the year
ended 31 March 2021 is set out in the following table. Figure in
brackets indicates the maximum number of meetings in the period
in which the individual was a committee member.

Ms. LIU Xiaoyin REE 2+
Mr. LUK Simon PER 254
Mr. HON Leung kAt

Ms. LIU Xiaoyin is the chairman of the remuneration committee.
The remuneration committee is responsible for the following
functions: determining the policy for remuneration of directors and
senior management, assessing performance of executive directors,
and approving the terms of executive directors’ service contracts.
The remuneration committee has to make recommendations to
the Board on the remuneration packages of individual executive
directors and senior management. No director or any of his/her
associated director, and chief executive is involved in deciding
his/her own remuneration.
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NOMINATION COMMITTEE

The nomination committee was set up in March 2021. The
members of the nomination committee are Ms. LIU Xiaoyin,
Mr. LUK Simon and Mr. HON Leung. Ms. LIU Xiaoyin, is the
chairman of the nomination committee. During the year ended
31 March 2021, the committee held one meeting to discuss
nomination related matters. The number of meetings attended by
each committee member during the year ended 31 March 2021
is set out in the following table. Figure in brackets indicates the
maximum number of meetings in the period in which the individual
was a committee member.

Ms. LIU Xiaoyin
Mr. HON Leung
Mr. LUK Simon

BRiL

The primary function of the nomination committee is to review
the structure, size and composition of the Board annually and
make recommendations on any proposed changes to the Board to
complement the Group’s corporate strategy.

Procedure and Process for Nomination of Directors

The nomination committee will recommend to the Board for the
appointment of Director(s) including independent non-executive
Director(s) in accordance with the following procedures and
process:

i. The nomination committee will, giving due consideration to
the current composition and size of the Board, develop a list
of desirable skills, perspectives and experience at the outset
to focus the search effort;
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The nomination committee may consult any source it

considers appropriate in identifying or selecting suitable

candidates, such as referrals from existing Directors,

advertising, recommendations from a third party agency firm

and proposals from the Shareholders with due consideration

given to the criteria which include but are not limited to:

(a)

(9)

Diversity in the aspects, amongst others, of gender,
age, cultural and educational background, professional
experience, skills, knowledge and length of service;

Commitment for responsibilities of the Board in respect
of available time and relevant interest;

Qualifications, including accomplishment and experience
in the relevant industries in which the Group’s business
is involved;

Independence;

Reputation for integrity;

Potential contributions that the individual can bring to the
Board; and

Plan(s) in place for the orderly succession of the Board.

The nomination committee may adopt any process it considers

appropriate in evaluating the suitability of the candidates,

such as interviews, background checks, presentations and

third party reference checks;

The nomination committee will consider a broad range of

candidates who are in and outside of the Board’s circle of

contacts;
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v. Upon considering a candidate suitable for the directorship,
the Nomination Committee will hold a meeting and/or by
way of written resolutions to, if thought fit, approve the
recommendation to the Board for appointment;

vi. The nomination committee will provide the relevant
information of the selected candidate to the Remuneration
Committee for consideration of the remuneration package of
such selected candidate;

vii. The nomination committee will thereafter make the
recommendation to the Board in relation to the proposed
appointment, and the Remuneration Committee will make the
recommendation to the Board on the policy and structure for
the remuneration;

viii. The Board may arrange for the selected candidate to be
interviewed by the members of the Board who are not
members of the nomination committee and the Board will
thereafter deliberate and decide the appointment as the case
may be; and

ix. All appointment of Directors will be confirmed by the filing
of the consent to act as Director of the relevant Director
(or any other similar filings requiring the relevant Director
to acknowledge or accept the appointment as Director, as
the case may be) to be filed with the relevant regulatory
authorities, if required.

Board Diversity Policy

The Board has adopted a board diversity policy to achieve board
diversity through the consideration of a number of factors and
measurable objectives, including but not limited to gender, age,
cultural background, educational background, skills, knowledge
and professional experience. All Board appointments will be based
on merit, and candidates will be measured against objective
criteria, with due regard for the benefits of diversity on the Board.
The Nomination Committee has the delegated responsibilities to
monitor the implementation and review the board diversity policy
and report to the Board.
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AUDIT COMMITTEE

The audit committee comprises the following independent non-
executive Directors, namely, Mr. HON Leung, Mr. LUK Simon and
Ms. LIU Xiaoyin. Mr. HON Leung serves as the chairman of the
audit committee. No member of the audit committee is a member
of the former or existing auditor of the Company. During the year
ended 31 March 2021, the audit committee held two committee
meetings. The number of meetings attended by each committee
member during the year ended 31 March 2021 is set out in the
following table. Figure in brackets indicates the maximum number
of meetings in the period in which the individual was a committee

member.

Mr. HON Leung kA
Mr. LUK Simon PER 254
Ms. LIU Xiaoyin BEE 2+

Responsibilities of the audit committee include:

(1) to be in charge of the appointment of external auditors,
auditing expenses and any matters regarding the resignation
or dismissal of the external auditors;

(2) to discuss with the external auditors on the nature and
scope of audit prior to the commencement of the auditing
procedures; and

(3) to review the interim and annual accounts. The audit
committee has reviewed the auditing performance, the risk
management and internal controls, and the audited financial
statements of the Company for the year ended 31 March
2021.
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GENERAL MEETINGS

During the year ended 31 March 2021, the Company held
two general meetings, i.e. the annual general meeting and an
extraordinary general meeting. The attendance by each Director
at the aforesaid general meetings during the year ended 31 March

BRERXE

RBE_T-_—F=—A=T-RHLEFE AQFAIE]T
MABRRARE ZBRRBFRG R —REREEFH K
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2021 is set out in the following table. Figure in brackets indicates ATREEZEEXNERHEMBITERZIEZERE-
the maximum number of meetings in the period in which the
individual was a committee member.

Attendance

HERE

Mr. CHAN Cheong Yee BREELE 2/(2)
Mr. WU Qi RETHE 0/(2)
Mr. FONG On Shek AEAEE 2/(2)
Mr. LUK Simon PR 254 0/(2)
Ms. LIU Xiaoyin BlEH &+ 0/(2)
Mr. HON Leung ot 0/(2)
CORPORATE GOVERNANCE FUNCTION TEERBEE
No corporate governance committee has been established and BRI EAZIBEE g AtHEFSEEH

the Board is responsible for performing corporate governance
functions. This includes developing and reviewing Company’s
policies, practices on corporate governance, training and
continuous professional development of Directors and senior
management, and the Company’s policies and practices on
compliance with legal and regulatory requirements etc. During
the year ended 31 March 2021, the Board has reviewed the
Company’s policies and practices on corporate governance.
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AUDITORS’ REMUNERATION

For the year ended 31 March 2021, services provided to the
Group by its external auditors, Elite Partners CPA Limited, and the
respective fees paid/payable are set out as follows:

BB B =
HEZZ-—F=ZA=+—-RHILFE INEZEEH

TEEEAMESMERARAARERHEZ RS R
EN/ERZEBEERHRINMT :

HK$
BT
Elite Partners CPA Limited ATlEEesMmEKAMARAR
— Audit services — B IR 460,000
— non-assurance services —EEZERE -
460,000
DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE BEEYHHKBRRZ2ER

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Board acknowledges their responsibilities for the preparation
of the consolidated financial statements of the Group and ensures
that they are prepared in accordance with statutory requirements
and applicable accounting standards. The Directors also ensure
the timely publication of such consolidated financial statements.
The statement of the external auditors of the Group, Elite Partners
CPA Limited, with regard to their reporting responsibilities on
the Group’s consolidated financial statements is set out in the
Independent Auditor’'s Report on pages 49 to 54.

INTERNAL CONTROL AND RISK MANAGEMENT

Responsibility

The Board has the overall responsibility to ensure that sound
and effective risk management and internal control systems
are maintained. Management is responsible for designing,
implementing and monitoring the risk management and internal
control systems to manage risks. Sound and effective risk
management and internal control systems are designed to identify
and manage the risk of failure to achieve business objectives.
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Risk Management Framework

Risk management is enhanced continually, linking to our corporate
strategies and as a continuous part of day-to-day business
operations for all key decision making processes and core business
activities. Major activities of the risk management process include
risk assessment, which constitutes the sub-processes of risk
identification, risk analysis and risk evaluation. There involves also
risk assessment documentation, methodologies, risk treatment,
monitoring and review for ensuring the overall effectiveness of risk
management. Fraud risk management through code of conduct and
whistleblowing policy is adopted to uphold honesty, integrity and
fair play as our core values of the Group at all times. The Board is
responsible for the Group’s risk management and internal control
systems and for reviewing their effectiveness. The Audit Committee
supports the Board in monitoring the Group’s risk exposures,
the design and operating effectiveness of the underlying risk
management and internal control systems. The Audit Committee,
acting on behalf of the Board, oversees the following processes:

(i) regular reviews of the principal business risks, and control
measures to mitigate, reduce or transfer such risks; the
strengths and weaknesses of the overall internal control
system and action plans to address the weaknesses or to
improve the assessment process;

(i) regular reviews of the business process and operations,
including action plans to address the identified control
weaknesses and status update and monitor in implementing
its recommendations; and

(iii) regular reports by the external auditors, if any, of any
control issues identified in the course of their work and
the discussion with the external auditors of the scope of
their respective review and findings. The Audit Committee
will then report to the Board after due review of the
effectiveness of the Group’s risk management and internal
control systems. The Board considers the works and
findings of the Audit Committee in forming its own view on
the effectiveness of these systems.
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Internal Control System

The Group’s internal control system aims at safeguarding assets
from inappropriate use, maintaining proper accounts and ensuring
compliance with regulations. The system is designed to provide
reasonable, but not absolute, assurance against misstatement
or loss, and to manage risks of failure in the Group’s operational
systems. The Group’s internal control system includes a
well-established organizational structure with clearly defined lines
of responsibility and authority. Policies and procedures are laid
down for its key business processes and business units covering
business operations, financial reporting, human resources and
computer information systems. The Code of Conduct is maintained
and communicated to all employees for compliance. In addition,
a whistleblowing policy was established for employees to raise
concerns in confidence about suspected misconducts, malpractices
or fraudulent activities relating to the Group.

COSO Internal Controls

The Group’s internal control model is based on that set down
by the Committee of Sponsoring Organisations of the U.S.
Treadway Commission (“COSQ”) for internal controls, and has
five components, namely Control Environment; Risk Assessment;
Control Activities; Information and Communication; and Monitoring.
In developing the Group’s internal control model based on the
COSO principles, management has taken into consideration the
Group’s organisational structure and the nature of its business
activities.

(i) Control Environment

The Board has demonstrated a commitment to integrity
and ethical values. It works with independence from
management and exercises oversight of the development
and performance of internal control. Management
establishes the structures, reporting lines, and appropriate
authorities and responsibilities in the pursuit of objectives.
The Board is committed to attract, develop, and retain
competent individuals in alignment with objectives. It
holds individuals accountable for their internal control
responsibilities in the pursuit of objectives.
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(ii)

(iii)

(iv)

(v)

Risk Assessment

The risk assessment specifies objectives with sufficient
clarity to enable the identification and assessment of risks
relating to objectives. It identifies risks to the achievement
of its objectives across the entity and analyzes risks as a
basis for determining how the risks should be managed. It
also considers the potential for fraud in assessing risks to
the achievement of objectives by identifying and assessing
changes that could significantly impact the system of
internal control.

Control Activities

Management selects and develops control activities that
contribute to the mitigation of risks to the achievement
of objectives to acceptable levels. It also develops
general control activities over technology to support the
achievement of objectives. Control activities through
policies and procedures are established to put into practice.

Information and Communication

Management obtains, generates and uses relevant,
quality information to support the functioning of internal
control. There is internal communication of objectives and
responsibilities necessary to support the functioning of
internal control. External communication regarding matters
affecting the functioning of internal control is made where
necessary.

Monitoring

Management has ongoing evaluations to ascertain whether
the components of internal control are present and
functioning. It evaluates and communicates internal control
deficiencies in a timely manner to those parties responsible
for taking corrective action, including senior management
and the Board, as appropriate.

(ii)

(iii)

(iv)

(v)
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Review of Risk Management and Internal Controls
Effectiveness

During the year ended 31 March 2021, the Group has engaged an
external professional consultant to take the primary role to perform
the Internal Audit (“IA”) function on behalf of the Board, the Audit
Committee conducted an annual review of the effectiveness of
risk management and internal control systems. The annual review
covered all material controls, including financial, operational and
compliance controls and considered:

(i) areas of risks identified by management;

(ii) effectiveness of risk management and internal control
systems;

(iii) adequacy of the resources, qualification and experience of
staff of the Group’s accounting, internal audit and financial
reporting function, and their training and budget; and

(iv) any enhancement to the risk management and internal
control systems as identified as being necessary or
proposed in the Internal Control Review Report. The Audit
Committee concluded that the Group’s risk management
and internal control systems are effective and adequate.

The Executive Director of the Company also provided a
confirmation to the Board on the effectiveness of the risk
management and internal control systems on 25 June 2021 and
as of that date. As a result of the above, the Board whilst keeping
it under review in light of experience, also considered the Group’s
risk management and internal control systems are effective and
adequate.

BEEBREERABEZRF 2R

RBEE-ZZE-_—F=A=+—HLFERN £A£EE
EREN S EXBERNEEEEACRRESZTERITAY
Ez([NHEZ] B EREZERCHEREER
R EBESIE R 2 FRBUETT F E R 7T - BRAF Z 5 %
EMBEZENERE BREME SEREGHAERSE
B WEEEUATEE:

(i) B IR E P A B L B R B

(i) FAREERAMEZERS IR

(iii) R AN E R NI EAZ & IR R AE
ANBR BIBAERKESR UNEHEETIZ
LB RBEBERETRN R

(iv) ANEZRETECBLFTHAEZIRANERE
BRABEZERR2EARZ -FEREEE
EREW RANEEZRERERENMARBEE
ERBBML -

ERARRTESFNER - BE-_—FXA-THARE
EERLMAREENARBEERGZIRKANESS
EHER - EFEERNLEXMAL RIBEELRITEE
Hige TRRAEEZAREENABEZERGR
BRI



Annual R rt
2020/21 d ;p"i&

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

SREARE

HANDLING AND DISSEMINATION OF INSIDE
INFORMATION

The Company has put in place a policy on handling and
dissemination of inside information which sets out the procedures
and internal controls for handling and dissemination of inside
information in a timely manner in such a way to avoid placing any
person in a privileged dealing position. The inside information
policy also provides guidelines to employees of the Group to
ensure proper safeguards exists to prevent the Company from
breaching the statutory and listing rule disclosure requirements.
The Company has appropriate internal control and reporting
systems to identify and assess potential inside information.
Dissemination of inside information of the Company shall be
conducted by publishing the relevant information on the websites
of the Stock Exchange and the Company, according to the
requirements of the Listing Rules.

SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

Procedures for Convening an Extraordinary

General Meeting and Putting Forward Proposals at
Shareholders’ Meeting

The Company may also communicate with its Shareholders
through extraordinary general meetings, if and when appropriate.

Pursuant to Article 58 of the articles of association of the Company,
the Board may whenever it thinks fit call extraordinary general
meetings. Any one or more Members holding at the date of deposit
of the requisition not less than one-tenth of the paid up capital of
the Company carrying the right of voting at general meetings of
the Company shall at all times have the right, by written requisition
to the Board or the company secretary of the Company, to require
an extraordinary general meeting to be called by the Board for the
transaction of any business specified in such requisition; and such
meeting shall be held within two (2) months after the deposit of
such requisition. If within twenty-one (21) days of such deposit the
Board fails to proceed to convene such meeting the requisitionist(s)
himself (themselves) may do so in the same manner, and all
reasonable expenses incurred by the requisitionist(s) as a result of
the failure of the Board shall be reimbursed to the requisitionist(s)
by the Company.
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Pursuant to Article 89 of the articles of association of the
Company, no person other than a Director retiring at the meeting
shall, unless recommended by the Directors for election, be eligible
for election as a Director at any general meeting unless a Notice
signed by a Member (other than the person to be proposed) duly
qualified to attend and vote at the meeting for which such notice is
given of his intention to propose such person for election and also
a Notice signed by the person to be proposed of his willingness
to be elected shall have been lodged at the head office or at the
Registration Office not less than seven (7) clear days but not
more than fourteen (14) clear days before the date of the general
meeting.

Procedures for Shareholders Putting Enquiries to the
Board

Shareholders have the right to put enquiries to the Board. All
enquiries shall be in writing and sent by post to the registered
office of the Company in Hong Kong.

Shareholders may also make enquiries with the Board at the
general meetings of the Company.

COMMUNICATIONS WITH SHAREHOLDERS

The Code requires the Company to have a dialogue with
shareholders and it is the responsibility of the Board as a
whole to ensure that satisfactory dialogue does take place. The
primary communication channel between the Company and its
shareholders is through the publication of its interim and annual
reports. The Company’s Registrars serve the shareholders with
respect to all share registration matters. The Company’s annual
general meeting provides a useful forum for shareholders to
exchange views with the Board. The directors and management
of the Company are available to answer shareholders’ questions.
Separate resolutions are proposed at general meetings on each
substantially separate issue, including the election of individual
director. Details of the poll voting procedures and rights of
shareholders to demand a poll are included in the circular to
shareholders dispatched together with the annual report. The
circular also includes details of the procedures and the timetable of
proposing appropriate candidates to stand for election as directors
at annual general meetings, and relevant details of proposed
resolutions, including biographies of each candidate standing for
re-election and whether such candidates are considered to be
independent.

CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

There is no change in the Company’s constitutional documents
during the year ended 31 March 2021.
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elite
partners

CERTIFIED PUBLIC ACCOUNTANTS

To the members of
China Investment and Finance Group Limited
(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of China
Investment and Finance Group Limited (the “Company”) and its
subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the “Group”) set out on
pages 55 to 131, which comprise the consolidated statements of
financial position as at 31 March 2021, the consolidated statement
of profit or loss and other comprehensive income, consolidated
statement of changes in equity and consolidated statement of
cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the consolidated
financial statements, including a summary of significant accounting
policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true
and fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as
at 31 March, 2021, and of its consolidated financial performance
and its consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in
accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards
(“HKFRSs”") issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants (“HKICPA”) and have been properly prepared in
compliance with the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards
on Auditing (“HKSAs”) issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities
under those standards are further described in the “Auditor’s
Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial
Statements” section of our report. We are independent of the
Group in accordance with the HKICPA’s “Code of Ethics for
Professional Accountants” (the “Code”), and we have fulfilled our
other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We
believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgment, were of most significance in our audit of the
consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 March
2021. These matters were addressed in the context of our audit of
the consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming
our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on
these matters.

Key audit matters

Valuation of the Group’s unlisted equity investments
measured at fair value through profit or loss categorised
as level 3

As at 31 March 2021, fair value measurement of the Group’s
unlisted equity investments at fair value through profit or loss of
approximately HK$24,140,000 were categorised as level 3 in the
fair value hierarchy.

The valuation of the unlisted equity investments at fair value
through profit or loss involved high degree of estimation
uncertainty, subjectivity and management judgment.

We have identified the valuation of the Group’s unlisted equity
investments through profit or loss as a key audit matter because
the availability of financial information is limited for these financial
assets and high degree of management judgment was required in
determining the assumptions to use in arriving at the unobservable
inputs.

How the matter was addressed in our audit

Our major audit procedures in relation to this matter including the
following:

. We evaluated the competence, capabilities and independence
of the Group’s external valuer;

. We assessed the appropriateness for the selection of the
valuation technique used by management based on the
market practice and our knowledge of the nature of the
financial assets;
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. We evaluated the judgment made by management in
determining the key assumptions, including credit spread rate
and volatility, by comparing the supporting documentation to
external market analysis, the market practice and our industry
knowledge. We also performed an independent sensitivity
analysis to evaluate those assumptions applied to the
valuation model for calculating the fair value of the financial
assets; and

. We checked the mathematical accuracy of the discounted
cash flow model prepared by management via reperformance.

OTHER INFORMATION

The directors are responsible for the other information. The other
information comprises the information included in the annual report
but does not include the consolidated financial statements and our
auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not
cover the other information and we do not express any form of
assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial
statements, our responsibility is to read the other information and,
in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially
inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements or our
knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be
materially misstated. If, based on the work we have performed,
we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other
information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to
report in this regard.
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RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND THOSE
CHARGED WITH GOVERNANCE FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors are responsible for the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in
accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for
such internal control as the directors determine is necessary to
enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors
are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a
going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going
concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless
the directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease
operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the
Group’s financial reporting process.

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE

AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether
the consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue
an auditor’'s report that includes our opinion. This report is made
solely to you, as a body, in accordance with our agreed terms
of engagement, and for no other purpose. We do not assume
responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person for
the contents of this report. Reasonable assurance is a high level
of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in
accordance with HKSAs will always detect a material misstatement
when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and
are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they
could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions
of users taken on the basis of these consolidated financial
statements.
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As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

. Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or
error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to
those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of
not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is
higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve
collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations,
or the override of internal control.

C Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the
audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate
in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an
opinion on the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.

. Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used
and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related
disclosures made by the directors.

. Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the
going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists
related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt
on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we
conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to
draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures
in the consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures
are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are
based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our
auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may
cause the Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

. Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures,
and whether the consolidated financial statements represent
the underlying transactions and events in a manner that
achieves fair presentation.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

B ZBAERE

. Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the
financial information of the entities or business activities
within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated
financial statements. We are responsible for the direction,
supervision and performance of the group audit. We remain
solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding,
among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit
and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies
in internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement
that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding
independence, and to communicate with them all relationships
and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on
our independence, and where applicable, related action taken to
eliminate threats or safeguards applied.

From the matters communicated with those charged with
governance, we determine those matters that were of most
significance in the audit of the consolidated financial statements
of the current period and are therefore the key audit matters.
We describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or
regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when,
in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter
should not be communicated in our report because the adverse
consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to
outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent
auditor’s report is Leung Man Kin with Practising Certificate
number P07174.

Elite Partners CPA Limited
Certified Public Accountants

10/F, 8 Observatory Road
Tsim Sha Tsui, Kowloon
Hong Kong

Hong Kong, 25 June 2021
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
% ’g‘ E %‘E N E {‘m - E LI& %‘E 43,% For the year ended 31 March 2021 &#E—Z_——F=A=+—HILFE

2021 2020
—E-—F —ETF
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
B it FHERT FHET
Gross proceeds from disposal of listed HELMESZ
securities 1S SRR 850 30,371 144,262
Revenue Uk 2% 8 4,521 2,930
Net realised loss on disposal of HEUAFEEFA
listed equity investments at fair value BRlRz ERAKRE
through profit or loss ZEBBEEERFE (5,944) (18,909)
Net unrealised gain/(loss) on listed equity ~ AR FEFFABREEZ
investments at fair value through ETRAEE 2 RER
profit or loss Wz (E18) 38 25,980 (61,172)
Net unrealised loss on unlisted equity AR ERABRREZ
investments at fair value through FETRAZEZ
profit or loss FHEEFRE (13,152) (24,743)
Other income H b A 8 162 =
Impairment losses under expected BHEEEBBEEXNTH
credit loss model, net of reversal BEEE (LR ER ) 10 1,282 (17,034)
Administrative expenses THHAX (8,872) (7,815)
Finance costs A& KA 12 (408) (365)
Profit/(loss) before tax BREBATER (BE) 11 3,569 (127,108)
Income tax credit g e 13 = 732
Profit/(loss) and total comprehensive KAREEAELRER
income/(expense) for the year =L (BE)R
attributable to owners of the Company 2EBA S (BX)#HE 3,569 (126,376)
HK cents HK cents
AL L
(Restated)
(ig&%))
Earnings/(loss) per share BREFN (FA)
— Basic —H&R 15 1.43 (55.98)
- Diluted — 15 1.43 (55.98)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

,2,51-\ ’g‘ E\ZI' ﬁ% ;'-Ijt 5R, 13,\% For the year ended 31 March 2021 &2 T - —F=A=+—HIL&FE
2021 2020
—E-— & —ECTF
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
k3 FET FAET
Non-current assets RBEE
Equity investments at fair value INAFEFABREZ
through profit or loss AR & 17 24,140 37,292
Debt investments measured at REHEKATEZ
amortised cost BB E 18 25,364 13,119
49,504 50,411
Current assets REBEE
Equity investments at fair value AR EFABRREREZ
through profit or loss AR E 17 121,192 98,135
Other receivables, prepayments and H b pE U RIA -
deposits AR RIBERIZS 20 29,771 41,883
Cash and cash equivalents HekReEEY 21 2,789 1,562
153,752 141,580
Current liabilities FREBAE
Margin payables B RER 22 4,422 5,131
Other payables and accruals HEMEARERETER 3,328 4,214
7,750 9,345
Net current assets REBEEFRE 146,002 132,235

Net assets EEFE 195,506 182,646




CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

For the year ended 31 March 2021 BiZ2=—Z—-—F=HA=+—HItFE
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2021 2020
—E-— & —ECTF
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
&t FHERT FET

Capital and reserves EXRFHE
Share capital [N 23 271 112,883
Reserves EEe] 25 195,235 69,763
Total equity S 195,506 182,646
Net asset value per share (in HK$) BEREEFE (Bx) 26 0.72 0.08

The consolidated financial statements were approved and
authorised for issue by the board of directors on 25 June 2021 and
signed on its behalf by:

CHAN Cheong Yee
BRE=
Director

EFE

REMBREAENR B —FA-tLHHEE=SE
HOERFETZE WEHTIALTHRRES:

FONG On Shek

FEA
Director

EFE
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

For the year ended 31 March 2020 &iZ—Z - =HA=+—HItFE

REEZEBR

Capital Share
Share Share reduction option Accumulated
capital premium reserve reserve losses Total
R ROBE REEEAF#EE BRERE 2 EHE “am
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$°000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$’000
TAR TER TER TER TER THAR
(Note (a)) (Note (b))
(K3 (a)) (Hi3E (b))
As at 1 April 2020 RZZE-FTFMA—A 112,883 914,480 - - (844,717) 182,646
Profit and total comprehensive REERNREZERALE
income for the year - - - - 3,569 3,569
Reduction of share capital IR R A (112,657) = 112,657 = = =
Issue of new shares under placing REREETHRG 45 6,626 = = = 6,671
Grant of share options RHERE - - = 2,620 = 2,620
As at 31 March 2021 R-ZB--$=A=+-H 271 921,106 112,657 2,620 (841,148) 195,506
Share
Share Share option Accumulated
capital premium reserve losses Total
BRA R EE BRERE 502 bl
HK$’'000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$’000
TER TER TER TER THAR
(Note (a)) (Note (b))
(M (a)) (KizE (b))
As at 1 April 2019 RZZ-NENA—H 112,883 914,480 3,740 (722,081) 309,022
Loss and total comprehensive AEEFERZERLAE
expenses for the year - - - (126,376) (126,376)
Lapsed of share options FERE RN - - (3,740) 3,740 =
As at 31 March 2020 RZEZTF=-A=1+—H 112,883 914,480 - (844,717) 182,646
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
% 'é“ *E é @ E}J 43;:2 For the year ended 31 March 2020 82— _FF=-A=+—HILFE

Notes:

(@) Share premium represents the difference between the par value of
the shares of the Company and proceeds received from the issuance
of the shares of the Company which is governed by the Cayman
Companies Law.

(b) Share option reserve comprises the fair value of share options granted
which are yet to be exercised. The amount will be transferred to
accumulated losses when the related options are expired or forfeited.

(c) Capital reduction reserve represents the net excess of proceeds on
reduction of share capital.

HyaE -

(@) BOEEBEEARABRNZEEEFITARFRN (ZFH
ERFEMRE) BB ZABFAZER-

(b) BERERBHEEELENKRTEZBREZAFEZ
SRR ERBRERRIORMFERE R EE-

(c) RRARHIR R BB EDRAR AR ERIBFREBL B -

I
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

MERERER

R 2~ 4

For the year ended 31 March 2021 BiZ—Z-—F=HA=+—HItFE

2021 2020
—E-— & —ECTF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FExT FHET
Cash flows from operating activities LRETHRERE
Profit/(loss) before tax BRELADRF (BE) 3,569 (127,108)
Adjustments for: BUATIER B A%
Interest income FLE KA (4,514) (2,603)
Dividend income A% B U A (7) (327)
Interest expenses FERZ 408 365
Net realised loss on disposal of HENAFEFABEERZ
listed equity investments at fair value ETRARE 2B EREEFE
through profit or loss 5,944 18,909
Net unrealised (gain)/loss on listed equity =~ A AF{EFF ABHEEZ
investments at fair value through ERARE 2 REHR
profit or loss (Wa=) BT E (25,980) 61,172
Net unrealised loss on unlisted equity RATFEGFABREZ
investments at fair value through JEETRAIEE 2 REIFHIBFE
profit or loss 13,152 24,743
Impairment losses under expected EHEEEBEREX THREEE
credit loss model, net of reversal (MR AEE) (1,282) 17,034
Equity-settled share-based payments INIREEE ARG BER 2 HHFEX
expenses 2,620 —
Operating loss before working LEESEHANKEER
capital changes (6,090) (7,815)
Purchase of equity investments at BEAATFTEFABEREZRAKE
fair value through profit or loss (33,392) (151,302)
Proceeds from disposal of HENAFEFABEERZ
equity investments at fair value RAIEE 2 BT 5RIA
through profit or loss 30,371 144,262
Purchase of debt investments BEREHEAAFTEZEBRE
measured at amortised cost (12,000) (15,000)
Decrease in other receivables, H W GRIE - B RERIES R D
prepayments and deposits 16,013 15,636
(Decrease)/increase in margin payables EMRESZ CRL) /1 (709) 1,247
(Decrease)/increase in other payables and i, f& <t 5018 & fE 5+ & 3
accruals CRA) /H#m (886) 1,530
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

% ’g‘ IE, ﬁ )‘)2@ = 43;:2 For the year ended 31 March 2021 &#E—Z_——F=A=+—HILFE

2021 2020
—E-— & —E T4
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FHET
Cash used in from operations KEEFTAMNIR S (6,693) (11,442)
Dividend received Bl R 7 327
Interest received B F & 1,650 1
Interest paid EARFE (408) (365)
Tax refund 2RTIA - 319
Net cash used in from operating activities & & /EEFTA IR & /F58 (5,444) (11,160)
Cash flows from financing activities MEITBHRERE
Proceeds from issue of shares under placing 15 & E¢ & 2 17 % 19 BT 15 3UHE 6,728 =
Expenses in connection with issuance HETROHEENER
of shares (57) -
Net cash generated from financing activities Bt & /EEFTEHIR & /FEE 6,671 =
Net increase/(decrease) in cash and ReRBRESZSEYHEM OBD)BE
cash equivalents 1,227 (11,160)
Cash and cash equivalents at the RBEHRVIZ2HEESERESEEY
beginning of the reporting period 1,562 12,722
Cash and cash equivalents RBEHRZRERELEEY
at the end of the reporting period 2,789 1,562
Analysis of balances of cash and RERAESEEYERDN
cash equivalents
Cash and bank balances 7 & MIRTTHE 5 1,195 1,531
Deposits at other financial institutions REM S RBEE 2 773K 1,594 31

2,789

1,562
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
?,5'1-\ ’g‘ E\ZI' ﬁ% $ﬁ %% Bﬂ' EI For the year ended 31 March 2021 H#E—F - —F=A=1+—HIFE

1. GENERAL INFORMATION

The Company was incorporated in the Cayman Islands as an
exempted company with limited liability on 26 April 2002. The
Company’s shares have been listed on The Stock Exchange
of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) with effect from
19 September 2002. The registered office of the Company
is at Cricket Square, Hutchins Drive, P.O. Box 2681, Grand
Cayman, KY1-1111, Cayman lIslands and its principal office
in Hong Kong is at Room 1104, Crawford House, 70 Queen’s
Road Central, Hong Kong.

The principal activities of the Group are investment holding
and trading of securities.

The consolidated financial statements are prepared in Hong
Kong dollar (HK$), which is the same as the functional
currency of the Company.

2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS
TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”)

(a) Amendments to HKFRSs that are mandatorily
effective for the current year
In the current year, the Group has applied the
Amendments to References to the Conceptual
Framework in HKFRS Standards and the following
amendments to HKFRSs, including Hong Kong
Accounting Standards (“HKASs”), issued by the Hong
Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”)
for the first time, which are mandatorily effective for
the Group’s annual period beginning on or after 1 April
2020 for the preparation of the consolidated financial
statements:

Amendments to HKAS 1 Definition of Material
and HKAS 8

Amendments to HKFRS 3 Definition of a Business

Amendments to HKFRS 9, Interest Rate Benchmark
HKAS 39 and HKFRS 7 Reform

The application of the Amendments to References to
the Conceptual Framework in HKFRS Standards and
the amendments to HKFRSs in the current year had no
material impact on the Group’s financial positions and
performance for the current and prior years and/or on
the disclosures set out in these consolidated financial
statements.

—RER

KRR _EE-_FNA-F+HEHEHST
MR AEREBER ARG -AARROMBEZZEE
ZTENATNBREREBBEERSHAMERAA
(TBE R AT ) £ o A &) 5 9% =5 2 i 74 Cricket
Square, Hutchins Drive, P.O. Box 2681, Grand
Cayman, KY1-1111, Cayman lIslands & H & & 4
MERUNBEBER/RBEH705 KHKRE1104
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS 2. ERAHIEBMBHREER ([FEH
TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING BBREEN | REBMBHREEN 2
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”) (continued) CHENE )

(b) New and amendments to HKFRSs in issued but (b) EEMEERER ZHITEBHMBRE
not yet effective HARBEBUBHREEN ZBFTX
The Group has not early applied the following new and AEBYEREEABTIEBMGEEKE
amendments to HKFRSs that have been issued but are Mo BEERBREENREREY B R
not yet effective: HAEB|ZEFT A

HKFRS 17

Amendments to HKFRS 3

Amendments to HKFRS 9,

HKAS 39, HKFRS 7,

HKFRS 4 and HKFRS 16

Amendments to

HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28

Amendment to HKFRS 16

Amendment to HKFRS 16

Amendments to HKAS 1

Amendments to HKAS 1
and HKFRS Practice
Statement 2

Amendments to HKAS 8

Amendments to HKAS 12

Amendments to HKAS 16

Amendments to HKAS 37

Amendments to HKFRSs

Insurance Contracts and the
related Amendments®

Reference to the Conceptual
Framework*

Interest Rate Benchmark
Reform — Phase 22

Sale or Contribution of Assets
between an Investor and its
Associate or Joint Venture®

Covid-19-Related Rent
Concessions'

Covid-19-Related Rent
Concessions beyond
30 June 20213

Classification of Liabilities
as Current or Non-current
and related amendments to
Hong Kong Interpretation 5
(2020)°

Disclosure of Accounting
Policies®

Definition of Accounting
Estimates®

Deferred Tax related to Assets
and Liabilities arising from a
Single Transaction®

Property, Plant and Equipment
— Proceeds before Intended
Use*

Onerous Contracts — Cost of
Fulfilling a Contract*

Annual Improvements to
HKFRSs 2018-2020*
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APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS 2. ERAFHTEBMBEREER ([FEH
TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING BHREEZER | REBHBEREER 2
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”) (continued) CHESE )
(b) New and amendments to HKFRSs in issued but (b) CHEMEHMRERZHITEBHBRSE
not yet effective (continued) HARBBUBHREERDNZBET (F)
1 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 June ! RZEZTEFANA—BHZEFRBHFED
2020 B
2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2 RZEZ—F—A B Z2EFRABHFED
2021 B
3 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 April g RZEZ—FMHA—BHZEFRBHFED
2021 B
4 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January g RZEZZF—A B ZEFRABNFED
2022 B
5 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January & RZEZ=F—A— B 2EFRBENFEL
2023 B
6 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after a date to g RAFET A Bk 2 1% 5 18 & & /5 HAR A 3k
be determined
The directors of the Company anticipate that the application of all the KNG EEEHEAME NG BB RELER
new and amendments to HKFRSs will have no material impact on the LEBVEREER Z BRI AR A TE R R KB
consolidated financing statements in the foreseeable future. SUHGREVBBRREEEATE -
SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 3. FESHHEHME

POLICIES

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared
in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA. For
the purpose of preparation of the consolidated financial
statements, information is considered material if such
information is reasonably expected to influence decisions
made by primary users. In addition, the consolidated financial
statements include applicable disclosures required by the
Rules Governing the Listing of Securities (the “Listing Rules”)
on the Stock Exchange and by the disclosure requirements of
the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance (“CO”).

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on
the historical cost basis except for equity investments at fair
value through profit or loss (“FVPL”) that are measured at fair
values at the end of each reporting period, as explained in the
accounting policies set out below.

Historical cost is generally based on the fair value of the
consideration given in exchange for goods or services.

REMBRRECBRBEEESAMASEM2EE
HHEREENRH - IR GEEHBREME
Al REH ANV EBIECAEIFLZRE
AIERMERBRERER - WIN HRAVBTRRE
BB ES ETRY(TERRADAREE
DRMER (TARHERGI ) BBEREBRZBRE

==

g% o

BTXAESTBRRMEEZARFEFARE
R(TARFEFABRER]) ZRARER &R
THESERFREAFEAEIN REMBERR
BESKAERE -

B St RR — R B R RS SRS T 2 (R
ZAFEET



mEMBHRME

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an
asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction
between market participants at the measurement date,
regardless of whether that price is directly observable or
estimated using another valuation technique. In estimating
the fair value of an asset or a liability, the Group takes into
account the characteristics of the asset or liability if market
participants would take those characteristics into account
when pricing the asset or liability at the measurement date.
Fair value for measurement and/or disclosure purposes in
these consolidated financial statements is determined on
such a basis, except for share-based payment transactions
that are within the scope of HKFRS 2 Share-based Payment,
leasing transactions that are accounted for in accordance with
HKFRS 16, and measurements that have some similarities to
fair value but are not fair value, such as net realisable value
in HKAS 2 Inventories or value in use in HKAS 36 Impairment
of Assets.

In addition, for financial reporting purposes, fair value
measurements are categorised into Level 1, 2 or 3 based on
the degree to which the inputs to the fair value measurements
are observable and the significance of the inputs to the fair
value measurement in its entirety, which are described as
follows:

. Level 1 inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted) in active
markets for identical assets or liabilities that the entity
can access at the measurement date;

. Level 2 inputs are inputs, other than quoted prices
included within Level 1, that are observable for the asset
or liability, either directly or indirectly; and

. Level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs for the asset or
liability

The principal accounting policies are set out below.

3.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 March 2021 BiZ2=—Z—-—F=HA=+—HItFE
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 3. TESHHEHE(H)
POLICIES (continued)
Basis of consolidation HERBEE

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial
statements of the Company and entities controlled by the
Company. Control is achieved when the Company:

. has power over the investee;

. is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its
involvement with the investee; and

. has the ability to use its power to affect its returns.

The Group reassesses whether or not they control an investee
if facts and circumstances indicate that there are changes to
one or more of the three elements of control listed above.

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Group obtains
control over the subsidiary and ceases when the Group loses
control of the subsidiary. Specifically, income and expenses
of subsidiaries acquired or disposed of during the year are
included in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and
other comprehensive income from the date the Group gains
control until the date when the Group ceases to control the
subsidiary.
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All intragroup assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses SEARRIZEMBERNAEEKE AR 2 HEiE
and cash flows relating to transactions between members of TRGZEEREGE Em WA AZRBEEM
the Group are eliminated in full on consolidation. EEORGREREREREHE-

When the Group loses control of a subsidiary, a gain or EAREBEEAEMBAT 2 IEHIER RN
loss is recognised in profit or loss and is calculated as the BEeriEaBRlEkOewREZATFEERE:

difference between (i) the aggregate of the fair value of the
consideration received and (ii) the carrying amount of the
assets, and liabilities of the subsidiary attributable to the
owners of the Company.

Revenue recognition

Revenue is recognised when the amount of revenue can be
reliably measured; when it is probable that future economic
benefits will flow to the Group and when specific criteria have
been met for each of the Group’s activities, as described
below.

Dividend income from investments is recognised when
the shareholders’ rights to receive payment have been
established.
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mEMBHRME

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Revenue recognition (continued)

Interest income is accrued on a time basis, by reference
to the principal outstanding ant at the effective interest
rate applicable, which is the rate that exactly discounts the
estimated future cash receipts through the expected life of the
financial asset to that asset’s net carrying amount on initial
recognition.

Leases

Definition of a lease

A contract is, or contains, a lease if the contract conveys the
right to control the use of an identified asset for a period of
time in exchange for consideration.

For contracts entered into or modified or arising from business
combinations on or after the date of initial application, the
Group assesses whether a contract is or contains a lease
based on the definition under HKFRS 16 at inception,
modification date or acquisition date, as appropriate. Such
contract will not be reassessed unless the terms and
conditions of the contract are subsequently changed.

Short-term leases and leases of low-value assets

The Group applies the short-term lease recognition exemption
to leases of equipment that have a lease term of 12 months
or less from the commencement date and do not contain a
purchase option. It also applies the recognition exemption
for lease of low-value assets. Lease payments on short-term
leases and leases of low-value assets are recognised as
expense on a straight-line basis or another systematic basis
over the lease term.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 3. FESTHHEME (F)
POLICIES (continued)
Foreign currencies ShiE

In preparing the financial statements of each individual
group entity, transactions in currencies other than the entity’s

REEEENEEER ZMBRRE  UZEE
ZHMBEEBUIINZEE (INE)ETZR S TIE

functional currency (foreign currencies) are recognised MR ABZERER RRE AR ERE MU
at the rates of exchange prevailing at the dates of the INEFEBECERER DRZAZEXRENKRE

transactions. At the end of the reporting period, monetary LASNEE TE 1E?ﬁ’“$@7\5§2#fﬁglﬁﬁ)ﬂmﬁm
items denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at NEERRZEZSNHNE - RINEBEK AT

the rates prevailing at that date. Non-monetary items carried
at fair value that are denominated in foreign currencies are
retranslated at the rates prevailing at the date when the
fair value was determined. Non-monetary items that are
measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are
not retranslated.

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of monetary

BZFEHIAR ﬂ//\é%ﬁ?@

AEHEERRARENREEKREMEL ZE

items, and on the retranslation of monetary items, are RERAEELEH BRR®ER-

recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they arise.

Borrowing costs BERAE

All borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in the FrEBERAREEHETBRERPER-
period in which they are incurred.

Employee benefits EBEEF

Retirement benefit costs B K15 F A

Payments to Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme are mEHlE AR EMEL 2 HRRNEERHRS

recognised as an expense when employees have rendered
service entitling them to the contributions.

Short-term employee benefits

Short-term employee benefits are recognised at the
undiscounted amount of the benefits expected to be paid as
and when employees rendered the services. All short-term
employee benefits are recognised as expense unless another
HKFRS requires or permits the inclusion of the benefit in the
cost of an asset.

A liability is recognised for benefits accruing to employees in
respect of wages and salaries in the period the related service
is rendered at the undiscounted amount of the benefits
expected to be paid in exchange for that service.

MARZEZEHAKERRFA
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mEMBHRME

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Share-based payment arrangements

Equity-settled share-based payment transactions

Share options granted to employees

Equity-settled share-based payments to employees and others
providing similar services are measured at the fair value of
the equity instruments at the grant date.

The fair value of the equity-settled share-based payments
determined at the grant date without taking into consideration
all non-market vesting conditions is expensed on a
straight-line basis over the vesting period, based on the
Group’s estimate of equity instruments that will eventually
vest, with a corresponding increase in equity (share option
reserve). At the end of each reporting period, the Group
revises its estimate of the number of equity instruments
expected to vest based on assessment of all relevant
non-market vesting conditions. The impact of the revision
of the original estimates, if any, is recognised in profit or
loss such that the cumulative expense reflects the revised
estimate, with a corresponding adjustment to the share option
reserve. For share options that vest immediately at the date of
grant, the fair value of the share options granted is expensed
immediately to profit or loss.

When share options are exercised, the amount previously
recognised in share option reserve will be transferred to
accumulated losses. When the share options are forfeited
after the vesting date or are still not exercised at the expiry
date, the amount previously recognised in share options
reserve will be transferred to accumulated losses.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Share-based payment arrangements (continued)
Equity-settled share-based payment transactions
(continued)

Share options granted to consultants

Equity-settled share-based payment transactions with parties
other than employee are measure at the fair value of the
goods or services received, except where that fair value
cannot be estimated reliably, in which case they are measured
at the fair value of the equity instruments granted, measured
at the date the entity obtains the goods or the counterparty
renders the service. The fair values of the goods or services
received are recognised as expenses (unless the goods or
services qualify for recognition as assets).

Taxation
Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently
payable and deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the
year. Taxable profit differs from ‘loss before tax’ as reported
in the profit or loss because of income or expense that
are taxable or deductible in other years and items that are
never taxable or deductible. The Group’s liability for current
tax is calculated using tax rates that have been enacted or
substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences
between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the
consolidated financial statements and the corresponding tax
base used in the computation of taxable profit. Deferred tax
liabilities are generally recognised for all taxable temporary
differences. Deferred tax assets are generally recognised
for all deductible temporary difference to the extent that it is
probable that taxable profits will be available against which
those deductible temporary differences can be utilised. Such
assets and liabilities are not recognised if the temporary
difference arises from the initial recognition of other assets
and liabilities in a transaction that affects neither the taxable
profit nor the accounting profit.
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mEMBHRME

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Taxation (continued)

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary
differences associated with investments in subsidiaries,
except where the Group is able to control the reversal of the
temporary difference and it is probable that the temporary
difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future. Deferred
tax assets arising from deductible temporary differences
associated with such investments are only recognised to
the extent that it is probable that there will be sufficient
taxable profits against which to utilise the benefits of the
temporary differences and they are expected to reverse in the
foreseeable future.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the
end of each reporting period and reduced to the extent that
it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will be
available to allow all or part of the asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax
rates that are expected to apply in the period in which the
liability is settled or the asset is realised, based on tax rate
(and tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively
enacted by the end of the reporting period.

The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets reflects
the tax consequences that would follow from the manner in
which the Group expects, at the end of the reporting period,
to recover or settle the carrying amount of its assets and
liabilities.

Current and deferred tax are recognised in profit or loss.

3.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 3. FESTHHEME (F)

POLICIES (continued)

Provisions BiE

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present EAXAEBABASHARERBEREMT CEELHE
obligation (legal or constructive) as a result of a past event, E) -MAKEAEABNEEEE BEAHEEAE
it is probable that the Group will be required to settle that SRR SEMETRERT A EREE-

obligation, and a reliable estimate can be made of the amount
of the obligation.

The amount recognised as a provision is the best estimate
of the consideration required to settle the present obligation
at the end of the reporting period, taking into account the
risks and uncertainties surrounding the obligation. When a

ERABELERNREREHATABNRR
RIAHERRR RERESHBERRK SIEEZ
REREMAAEZRENREML HEEE
REEZREEEINEARERENE EEEE

provision is measured using the cash flows estimated to settle ERAZSHReRECHE(MEENEHE

the present obligation, its carrying amount is the present BEK) o

value of those cash flows (where the effect of the time value

of money is material).

Financial instruments SRIA

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised when VBEERMBEEREEEEKAZIAESLN
a group entity becomes a party to the contractual provisions BXHETNTRER - TEREHEENNBKE

of the instrument. All regular way purchases or sales of ERXSHBHEERRARKRIBR - REHRESE
financial assets are recognised and derecognised on a trade FEEREMIGHRES BT ERRARNEER

date basis. Regular way purchases or sales are purchases or
sales of financial assets that require delivery of assets within
the time frame established by regulation or convention in the
market place.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially measured
at fair value. Transaction costs that are directly attributable
to the acquisition or issue of financial assets and financial

MHEEESR-

MBEERMBARNSRAFEFE - WEX
BOIMBEERMBAE( DA“THEEJM\TE%
MPBEERIINBEREBENRZRA  ROE

liabilities (other than financial assets at FVPL) are added to or HRRFAMBEEXMBEGEN AT EREH
deducted from the fair value of the financial assets or financial BEEXVBBEMNRFEFRNR (WMER) -
liabilities, as appropriate, on initial recognition. Transaction BEUATFEFABEENNBEENEERER

costs directly attributable to the acquisition of financial assets
at FVPL are recognised immediately in profit or loss.

SRR B R R o
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

The effective interest method is a method of calculating
the amortised cost of a financial asset or financial liability
and of allocating interest income and interest expense over
the relevant period. The effective interest rate is the rate
that exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts and
payments (including all fees and points paid or received that
form an integral part of the effective interest rate, transaction
costs and other premiums or discounts) through the expected
life of the financial asset or financial liability, or, where
appropriate, a shorter period, to the net carrying amount on
initial recognition.

Interest and dividend income which are derived from the
Group’s ordinary course of business are presented as

revenue.

Financial assets

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial
assets

Financial assets that meet the following conditions are
subsequently measured at amortised cost:

. the financial asset is held within a business model whose
objective is to collect contractual cash flows; and

. the contractual terms give rise on specified dates to cash
flows that are solely payments of principal and interest
on the principal amount outstanding.

Financial assets that meet the following conditions are
subsequently measured at fair value through other
comprehensive income (“FVOCI”):

. the financial asset is held within a business model whose
objective is achieved by both selling and collecting
contractual cash flows; and

. the contractual terms give rise on specified dates to cash
flows that are solely payments of principal and interest
on the principal amount outstanding.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial
assets (continued)

All other financial assets are subsequently measured at
FVPL, except that at the date of initial application of HKFRS
9/initial recognition of a financial asset the Group may
irrevocably elect to present subsequent changes in fair value
of an equity investment in other comprehensive income if that
equity investment is neither held for trading nor contingent
consideration recognised by an acquirer in a business
combination to which HKFRS 3 Business Combinations
applies.

A financial asset is held for trading if:

. it has been acquired principally for the purpose of selling
in the near term; or

. on initial recognition it is a part of a portfolio of
identified financial instruments that the Group manages
together and has a recent actual pattern of short-term
profit-taking; or

. it is a derivative that is not designated and effective as a
hedging instrument.

In addition, the Group may irrevocably designate a financial
asset that are required to be measured at the amortised cost
or FVOCI as measured at FVPL if doing so eliminates or
significantly reduces an accounting mismatch.
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mEMBHRME

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)
Financial instruments (continued)
Financial assets (continued)

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial

assets (continued)

(i)

(i)

Amortised cost and interest income

Interest income is recognised using the effective interest
method for financial assets measured subsequently
at amortised cost. Interest income is calculated by
applying the effective interest rate to the gross carrying
amount of a financial asset, except for financial assets
that have subsequently become credit-impaired (see
below). For financial assets that have subsequently
become credit-impaired, interest income is recognised
by applying the effective interest rate to the amortised
cost of the financial asset from the next reporting
period. If the credit risk on the credit-impaired financial
instrument improves so that the financial asset is no
longer credit-impaired, interest income is recognised by
applying the effective interest rate to the gross carrying
amount of the financial asset from the beginning of the
reporting period following the determination that the
asset is no longer credit-impaired.

Financial assets at FVPL
Financial assets that do not meet the criteria for being
measured at amortised cost are measured at FVPL.

Financial assets at FVPL are measured at fair value
at the end of each reporting period, with any fair value
gains or losses recognised in profit or loss. The net gain
or loss recognised in profit or loss excludes any dividend
or interest earned on the financial asset and is included
in the “net unrealised loss on listed/unlisted equity
investments at FVPL” and “net realised loss on disposal
of listed equity investment at FVPL” line items.
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mEMBHRME

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Impairment of financial assets

The Group performs impairment assessment under expected
credit loss (“ECL”) model on financial assets (including debt
investments measured at amortised cost, other receivables
and deposits, bank balances and deposits at other financial
institutions). The amount of ECL is updated at each reporting
date to reflect changes in credit risk since initial recognition.

Lifetime ECL represents the ECL that will result from all
possible default events over the expected life of the relevant
instrument. In contrast, 12-month ECL (“12m ECL") represents
the portion of lifetime ECL that is expected to result from
default events that are possible within 12 months after the
reporting date. Assessment are done based on the Group’s
historical credit loss experience, adjusted for factors that are
specific to the debtors, general economic conditions and an
assessment of both the current conditions at the reporting
date as well as the forecast of future conditions.

For all financial assets at amortised cost, the Group
measures the loss allowance equal to 12m ECL, unless when
there has been a significant increase in credit risk since
initial recognition, the Group recognises lifetime ECL. The
assessment of whether lifetime ECL should be recognised is
based on significant increases in the likelihood or risk of a
default occurring since initial recognition.

(i) Significant increase in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk has increased
significantly since initial recognition, the Group compares
the risk of a default occurring on the financial instrument
as at the reporting date with the risk of a default
occurring on the financial instrument as at the date of
initial recognition. In making this assessment, the Group
considers both quantitative and qualitative information
that is reasonable and supportable, including historical
experience and forward-looking information that is
available without undue cost or effort.
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mEMBHRME

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)
Financial instruments (continued)
Financial assets (continued)

Impairment of financial assets (continued)

(i)

Significant increase in credit risk (continued)

In particular, the following information is taken into
account when assessing whether credit risk has
increased significantly:

. an actual or expected significant deterioration in
the financial instrument’s external (if available) or
internal credit rating;

. significant deterioration in external market indicators
of credit risk, e.g. a significant increase in the credit
spread, the credit default swap prices for the debtor;

. existing or forecast adverse changes in business,
financial or economic conditions that are expected
to cause a significant decrease in the debtor’s
ability to meet its debt obligations;

. an actual or expected significant deterioration in the
operating results of the debtor;

. an actual or expected significant adverse change
in the regulatory, economic, or technological
environment of the debtor that results in a
significant decrease in the debtor’s ability to meet
its debt obligations.

Irrespective of the outcome of the above assessment,
the Group presumes that the credit risk has increased
significantly since initial recognition when contractual
payments are more than 30 days past due, unless the
Group has reasonable and supportable information that
demonstrates otherwise.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

mEMBHRME

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)
Financial instruments (continued)
Financial assets (continued)

Impairment of financial assets (continued)

(i)

Significant increase in credit risk (continued)

Despite the aforegoing, the Group assumes that the
credit risk on a debt instrument has not increased
significantly since initial recognition if the debt instrument
is determined to have low credit risk at the reporting
date. A debt instrument is determined to have low credit
risk if i) it has a low risk of default, ii) the borrower
has a strong capacity to meet its contractual cash flow
obligations in the near term and iii) adverse changes in
economic and business conditions in the longer term
may, but will not necessarily, reduce the ability of the
borrower to fulfil its contractual cash flow obligations.
The Group considers a debt instrument to have low credit
risk when it has an internal or external credit rating of
‘investment grade’ as per globally understood definitions.

The Group regularly monitors the effectiveness of
the criteria used to identify whether there has been a
significant increase in credit risk and revises them as
appropriate to ensure that the criteria are capable of
identifying significant increase in credit risk before the
amount becomes past due.

Definition of default

For internal credit risk management, the Group considers
an event of default occurs when information developed
internally or obtained from external sources indicates that
the debtor is unlikely to pay its creditors, including the
Group, in full (without taking into account any collaterals
held by the Group).

Irrespective of the above, the Group considers that
default has occurred when a financial asset is more
than 90 days past due unless the Group has reasonable
and supportable information to demonstrate that a more
lagging default criterion is more appropriate.

3.
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mEMBHRME

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)
Financial instruments (continued)
Financial assets (continued)
Impairment of financial assets (continued)
(iii) Credit-impaired financial assets

(iv)

A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or more
events that have a detrimental impact on the estimated
future cash flows of that financial asset have occurred.
Evidence that a financial asset is credit-impaired includes
observable data about the following events:

(a) significant financial difficulty of the issuer or the
borrower;

(b) a breach of contract, such as a default or past due
event;

(c) the lender(s) of the borrower, for economic or
contractual reasons relating to the borrower’s
financial difficulty, having granted to the borrower a
concession(s) that the lender(s) would not otherwise
consider;

(d) it is becoming probable that the borrower will enter
bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation; or

(e) the disappearance of an active market for that
financial asset because of financial difficulties.

Write-off policy

The Group writes off a financial asset when there is
information indicating that the counterparty is in severe
financial difficulty and there is no realistic prospect of
recovery. Financial assets written off may still be subject
to enforcement activities under the Group’s recovery
procedures, taking into account legal advice where
appropriate. A write-off constitutes a derecognition event.
Any subsequent recoveries are recognised in profit or
loss.
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mEMBHRME

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)
Financial instruments (continued)
Financial assets (continued)

Impairment of financial assets (continued)

(v)

Measurement and recognition of ECL

The measurement of ECL is a function of the probability
of default, loss given default (i.e. the magnitude of the
loss if there is a default) and the exposure at default.
The assessment of the probability of default and loss
given default is based on historical data adjusted by
forward-looking information. Estimation of ECL reflects
an unbiased and probability-weighted amount that is
determined with the respective risks of default occurring
as the weights.

Generally, the ECL is the difference between all
contractual cash flows that are due to the Group in
accordance with the contract and the cash flows that the
Group expects to receive, discounted at the effective
interest rate determined at initial recognition.

Where ECL is measured on a collective basis or cater for
cases where evidence at the individual instrument level
may not yet be available, the financial instruments are
grouped on the following basis:

. Nature of financial instruments;

. Past-due status;

. Nature, size and industry of debtors; and

. External credit ratings where available.
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mEMBHRME

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Impairment of financial assets (continued)

(v) Measurement and recognition of ECL (continued)
The grouping is regularly reviewed by management to
ensure the constituents of each group continue to share
similar credit risk characteristics.

Interest income is calculated based on the gross carrying
amount of the financial asset unless the financial asset
is credit-impaired, in which case interest income is

calculated based on amortised cost of the financial asset.

The Group recognises an impairment gain or loss in
profit or loss for all financial instruments by adjusting
their carrying amount.

Derecognition of financial assets
The Group derecognises a financial asset only when the
contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset expire.

On derecognition of a financial asset measured at amortised
cost, the difference between the asset’s carrying amount
and the sum of the consideration received and receivable is
recognised in profit or loss.

Financial liabilities and equity

Classification as debt or equity

Debt and equity instruments are classified as either financial
liabilities or as equity in accordance with the substance of the
contractual arrangements and the definitions of a financial
liability and an equity instrument.

3.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial liabilities and equity (continued)

Equity instruments

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual
interest in the assets of an entity after deducting all of its
liabilities. Equity instruments issued by the Company are
recognised at the proceeds received, net of direct issue costs.

Financial liabilities at amortised cost

Financial liabilities including margin payables, other payables
and accruals are subsequently measured at amortised cost,
using the effective interest method.

Derecognition of financial liabilities

The Group derecognises financial liabilities when, and only
when, the Group’s obligations are discharged, cancelled or
have expired. The difference between the carrying amount of
the financial liability derecognised and the consideration paid
and payable is recognised in profit or loss.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents represent cash at bank and
on hand, demand deposits with banks and other financial
institution, and short-term liquid investments which are readily
convertible into known amounts of cash and subject to an
insignificant risk of change in value, having been within three
months of maturity at acquisition.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

mEMBHRME

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)
Related parties
For the purposes of these financial statements, related parties
include a person and entity as defined below:

(a) A person or a close member of that person’s family is
related to the Group if that person:

(i) has control or joint control over the Group;
(i) has significant influence over the Group; or

(iii) is a member of the key management personnel of
the Company or of a parent of the Company.

(b) An entity is related to the Group (reporting entity) if any
of the following conditions applies:

(i) the entity and the Company are members of
the same group (which means that each parent,
subsidiary and fellow subsidiary is related to the
others);

(i) either entity is an associate or joint venture of the
other entity (or of a member of a group of which the
other entity is a member);

(iii) both entities are joint ventures of a third entity;

(iv) one entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the
other entity is an associate of the third entity;

(v) the entity is a post-employment benefit plan for the
benefit of employees of either the Company or an
entity related to the Company. If the reporting entity
is itself such a plan, the sponsoring employers are
also related to the plan;

(vi) the entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a
person identified in (a);

(vii)) a person identified in (a)(i) has significant
influence over the entity or is a member of the key
management personnel of the entity (or of a parent
of the entity); or

3.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
,2,51-\ ’g‘ E\ZI' ﬁ% $ﬁ %% Bﬂ' EI For the year ended 31 March 2021 =~ T - —F=A=+—HIFE

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)
Related parties (continued)
(b) An entity is related to the Group (reporting entity) if any
of the following conditions applies: (continued)

(viii) the entity, or any member of a group of which it is a
part, provides key management personnel services
to the Company or a parent of the Company.

Close members of the family of a person are those
family members who may be expected to influence, or be
influenced by, that person in their dealings with the entity
and include:

(i) that person’s children and spouse or domestic
partner;

(i) children of that person’s spouse or domestic

partner; or

(iii) dependents of that person or that person’s spouse

or domestic partner.
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mEMBHRME

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Contingent liabilities and contingent assets

A contingent liability is a possible obligation that arises from
past events and whose existence will only be confirmed by
the occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more uncertain
future events not wholly within the control of the Group. It
can also be a present obligation arising from past events
that is not recognised because it is not probable that outflow
of economic resources will be required or the amount of
obligation cannot be measured reliably. When a change in the
probability of an outflow occurs so that outflow is probable,
they will then be recognised as a provision.

A contingent asset is a possible asset that arises from past
events and whose existence will only be confirmed by the
occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more uncertain future
events not wholly within the control of the Group. When inflow
is virtually certain, an asset is recognised.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGMENTS AND
KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY

In the application of the Group’s accounting policies, which
are described in note 3, the directors of the Company are
required to make judgments, estimates and assumptions
about the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities that are
not readily apparent from other sources. The estimates and
associated assumptions are based on historical experience
and other factors that are considered to be relevant. Actual
results may differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on
an on-going basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are
recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised if
the revision affects only that period, or in the period of the
revision and future periods if the revision affects both current
and future periods.

3.
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGMENTS

AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (continued)

Critical judgments in applying accounting policies
The followings are the critical judgments, apart from those
involving estimations, that the directors have made in the
process of applying the Group’s accounting policies and that
have the most significant effect on the amounts recognised in
the consolidated financial statements.

Classification of investments in unlisted equity
securities:

Certain investments in unlisted equity securities are not
classified as an associate nor accounted for using equity
method, even though the Group owns or potentially owns
more than 20% ownership interest in those investments. In
the opinion of the directors, the Group has no significant
influence over those investments since the Group and each
of the investee entered into a relevant agreement to conclude
the followings:

—  the Group did not have any representative on the board
of directors or equivalent governing body of those
investments;

—  the Group did not participate in policy-making processes,
including participation in decisions about dividends or
other distributions; and

—  the Group did not interchange any managerial personnel
with those investments.

As the Group did not act to fulfill any one of the issues stated
above, it does not consider as having significant influence on
the investments. Hence, those investments are not considered

as the associate of the Group.
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGMENTS

AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (continued)

Critical judgments in applying accounting policies
(continued)

Significant increase in credit risk in measurement of
ECL

As explained in note 3, the Group monitors all financial assets
that are subject to impairment requirements to assess whether
there has been a significant increase in credit risk since initial
recognition. If there has been a significant increase in credit
risk, the Company will measure the loss allowance based on
lifetime rather than 12m ECL. HKFRS 9 does not define what
constitutes a significant increase in credit risk. In assessing
whether the credit risk of an asset has significantly increased
the Group takes into account qualitative and quantitative
reasonable and supportable forward-looking information with
significant judgments involved. Information that will be taken
into account when assessing whatever there is significant
increase in credit risks are set out in “Impairment of financial
assets” in note 3 and note 6.

Key sources of estimation uncertainty

The followings are the key assumptions concerning the future,
and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the end
of the reporting period, that have a significant risk of causing
a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and
liabilities within the next financial year.

Fair value measurements and valuation processes
Some of the Group’s assets are measured at fair value for
financial reporting purposes. The board of directors of the
Company determines the appropriate valuation techniques
and inputs for fair value measurements.
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGMENTS AND
KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY
(continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (continued)
Fair value measurements and valuation processes
(continued)

In estimating the fair value of an asset or a liability, the
Group uses market-observable data to the extent it is
available. Where Level 1 inputs are not available, the Group
engages independent professional valuers to perform the
valuation. The management of the Company works closely
with the independent professional valuers to establish the
appropriate valuation techniques and inputs to the model. The
management of the Company reports the valuation findings to
the board of directors of the Company to explain the cause of
fluctuations in the fair value of the assets and liabilities.

The Group uses valuation techniques that include inputs that
are not based on observable market data to estimate the
fair value of certain types of financial instruments. Note 7
provides detailed information about the valuation techniques,
inputs and key assumptions used in the determination of the
fair value of various assets and liabilities.

Impairment of financial assets at amortised cost

The directors of the Company estimate the amount of loss
allowance for ECL on financial assets at amortised cost
based on the credit risk of the respective financial instrument.
The loss allowance amount is measured as the difference
between the asset’s carrying amount and the present value of
estimated future cash flows with the consideration of expected
future credit loss of the respective financial instrument. The
assessment of the credit risk and therefore expected cash
flows of the respective financial instrument involves a high
degree of estimation and uncertainty. When the actual future
cash flows are less than expected or more than expected,
a material impairment charges or a material reversal of
impairment charges may arise, accordingly. The information
about the ECL and the financial assets at amortised cost are
disclosed in respective notes to the consolidated financial
statements.
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGMENTS

AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (continued)
Impairment of financial assets at amortised cost
(continued)

In response to the requirements of HKFRS 9, the directors of
the Company is responsible in developing and maintaining the
processes for measuring ECL including monitoring of credit
risk, incorporation of forward looking information and the
method used to measure ECL; and ensuring that the Group
has policies and procedures in place to appropriately maintain
and validate models used to assess and measure ECL.

Incorporation of forward-looking information

The Group employs internal experts who use external and
internal information to generate scenario of future forecast
of relevant economic variables. The internal and external
information used includes the historical data of the Group
and economic data and forecasts published by governmental
bodies and monetary authorities respectively. Accordingly,
when measuring ECL the Group selects and uses reasonable
and supportable forward-looking information available without
undue cost or effort in its assessment, which is based on
assumptions and estimates for the future movement of
different economic drivers and how these drivers will affect
each other as well as the correlation.

Measurement of ECL

Probability of default (“PD”) constitutes a key input in
measuring ECL. PD is an estimate of the likelihood of
default over a given time horizon, the calculation is based
on reasonable and appropriate statistical rating models
selected by the management with judgments. These statistical
models are based on market data (where available), as
well as internal data comprising both quantitative and
qualitative factors which includes historical data, assumptions
and expectations of future conditions. The management
gathers this information and adjust the data to reflect
probability-weighted forward-looking information that is
reasonable and supportable available without undue cost or
effort.
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGMENTS

AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (continued)
Impairment of financial assets at amortised cost
(continued)

Measurement of ECL (continued)

Loss Given Default (‘LGD”) is an estimate of the loss
arising on default. It is based on the difference between
the contractual cash flows due and those that the lender
would expect to receive. In assessing the lifetime ECL on
credit-impaired financial assets classified as stage 3, the
Group performs the assessment based on the Group’s
historical credit loss experience, adjusted for factors that
specific to the debtors or borrowers, general economic
conditions and both the current conditions at the reporting
date as well as the forecast of future conditions with
significant judgments involved. The methodology and
assumptions used for estimating both the amount and
timing of future cash flows are reviewed regularly to reduce
material differences between loss estimates and actual loss
experience.

Details information with regard to the exposure to credit
risk and expected credit losses are set out in note 6 to the
consolidated financial statements.

CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group manages its capital to ensure that entities in
the Group will be able to continue as going concern while
maximising the return to shareholders through the optimisation
of the debt and equity balance. The Group’s overall strategy
remains unchanged from prior years.

The capital structure of the Group consists of cash and cash
equivalents and equity attributable to owners of the Company,
comprising issued share capital and reserves.

The directors review the capital structure by considering the
cost of capital and the risks associated with capital. In view
of this, the Group will balance its overall capital structure
through new shares issues as well as the issue of new debt.
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6. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 6. €W I A

Categories of financial instruments
The carrying amounts of each of the categories of financial

EWMIBECDE
REEBMERS SRR TAZBEED

instruments as at the end of the reporting period are as ™
follows:
Financial Financial
Financial assets at  liabilities at
assets at amortised amortised
FVTPL cost cost Total
NATE REHERE REHREX
sFABRREK TEZ TEZ
ZHBEE HBEE HHAE @t
HK$°000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
THERT TERT TERT TERT
2021 “B--f
Debt investments measured at amortised cost K E M A E 2 EBRIRE = 25,364 = 25,364
Equity investments at FVTPL URATEFABRERERE 145,332 = = 145,332
Other receivables and deposits Hp U IE KRS - 29,752 - 29,752
Cash and cash equivalents BehBHeEEY = 2,789 = 2,789
145,332 57,905 - 203,237
Margin payables ERRES - = 4,422 4,422
Other payables and accruals Heb M HIE R ERTE R = = 3,328 3,328
- - 7,750 7,750
Financial Financial
Financial assets at liabilities at
assets at amortised amortised
FVTPL cost cost Total
WATE  RBERE REBERAK
FAERR TEZ HEZ
LHBEE HEEE nKasE @it
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FTEL FTET TEI FTEL
2020 —ECER
Debt investments measured at amortised cost X A & 2 EHIRE = 13,119 = 13,119
Equity investments at FVTPL WATEFABRRZREEE 135,427 - - 135,427
Other receivables and deposits Eb MBS = 41,852 = 41,852
Cash and cash equivalents ReRkREeEEY - 1,562 = 1,562
135,427 56,533 - 191,960
Margin payables EfRES = = 5,131 5,131
Other payables and accruals HtEN B REER - - 4,214 4,214
_ = 9,345 9,345
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FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)
Financial risk management objectives and policies
The Group’s major financial instruments include equity
investments at FVTPL, debt investments measured at
amortised cost, other receivables and deposits, cash and
cash equivalents, other payables and accruals, and margin
payables. Details of these financial instruments are disclosed
in the respective notes. The risks associated with these
financial instruments and the policies applied by the Group to
mitigate these risks are set out below. Management monitors
these exposures to ensure appropriate measures are
implemented in a timely and effective manner.

Foreign currency risk

The Group is not exposed to significant foreign currency
risk as the all of its transactions are denominated in HKS,
functional currency of the Company and its subsidiaries.

Interest rate risk

The Group’s cash flow interest rate risk is mainly concentrated
on the bank balances carried at floating interest rate. The
Group currently does not have a hedge policy against the
interest rate exposure. However, the management monitors
interest rate exposure and will consider the hedging significant
interest rate exposure as needed.

Sensitivity analysis

The directors consider that the Group’s exposure to interest
rate risk of bank balances, which are short term in nature, is
insignificant, accordingly no sensitivity analysis is presented.

Equity price risk

The Group’s equity price risk relates to equity price changes
arising from listed securities held for trading stated in listed
equity investments at FVPL. The Group’s listed securities held
for trading are listed on the Stock Exchange. Decisions to buy
and sell listed securities are rested with assigned investment
managers and governed by specific investment guidelines.
The Group’s equity price risk is mainly concentrated on equity
securities operating in 2 (2020: 2) sectors quoted in the Stock
Exchange.
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FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)
Sensitivity analysis

If the price of the respective investments held by the Group
as listed equity investments at FVTPL were higher or lower
by 5% as at 31 March 2021 (2020: 5%), the Group’s loss for
the year ended 31 March 2021 would decrease or increase by
approximately HK$5,060,000 (2020: HK$4,097,000).

Credit risk and impairment assessment

Credit risk refers to the risk that the Group’s counterparties
default on their contractual obligations resulting in financial
losses to the Group. The Group’s credit risk exposures
are primarily attributable to debt investments measured at
amortised cost, other receivables and deposits, bank balances
and deposits at other financial institutions. The Group does
not hold any collateral or other credit enhancements to cover
its credit risks associated with its financial assets.

The Group performed impairment assessment for financial
assets under ECL model. Information about the Group’s credit
risk management, maximum credit risk exposures and the
related impairment assessment, if applicable, are summarised
as below:

Debt investments measured at amortised cost

The Group invested in a bond issued by a listed company in
Hong Kong which exposed to credit risk. The credit risk of
debt investments is managed through an internal process.
The credit quality of each counterparty is investigated before
an advance is made. The Group also actively monitors the
outstanding amounts owed by the issuer and uses past
due information to assess whether credit risk has increased
significantly since initial recognition.

Other receivables and deposits

For other receivables and deposits, the directors of the
Company make periodic individual assessment on the
recoverability of other receivables and deposits based on
historical settlement records, past experience, and also
quantitative and qualitative information that is reasonable and
supportive forward-looking information. The Group actively
monitors the outstanding amounts owed by each debtor and
uses past due information to assess whether credit risk has
increased significantly since initial recognition.
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mEMBHRME

6. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment (continued)
Bank balances and deposits at other financial
institutions

Credit risk on bank balances is limited because the
counterparties are reputable banks with high credit ratings
assigned by international credit agencies. The Group
assessed 12m ECL for bank balances by reference to
information relating to probability of default and loss given
default of the respective credit rating grades published by
external credit rating agencies. Based on the average loss
rates, the 12m ECL on bank balances is considered to be
insignificant.

Credit risk for deposits at other financial institutions
is considered as not material taking into account the
good market reputations and high credit ratings of the
counterparties.

The Group’s internal credit risk grading assessment comprises
the following categories:

For the year ended 31 March 2021 &2 -Z-—F=fF=+—HIFE

EWMIA(F)
1= & 3 B 2 ORi B AP Al ()
RITHBRREMEHAEENFH

HREFHTRAREREEFARBEIR/EER
HZRIT BMRITREBZEERRAER AEH
LERMINBEETFRARBRONEEREETR
EMMBOBERBRNER  FHETRITER
Z1REARMEEBR - REFHBRRE RTT

‘ez 12E AR EEBERRR/RM T REN -

REEHFHTRENTHEBERRSEEFE R
HeBEBTFINEERREE/SLTEKX

AEBNABEERBRIRBIEATER:

Internal Financial assets
credit rating Description at amortised cost
REBERATEN
AEBEEFTR it MBEE
Low risk The counterparty has a low risk of default and does not have 12m ECL
any past-due amounts
1K = bz HFEANENRBEE UEREAEHEE 12 AR BEEEE
Watch list Debtor frequently repays after due dates but usually settle in full 12m ECL
L BEHRALERINPRAEBET BRE2HENE 12 BB HIEE BB
Doubtful There have been significant increases in credit risk since Lifetime ECL —
initial recognition through information developed internally not credit-impaired
or external resources
T7 &t BAABINIBERGHNER  TRIBVFRBARGCERAREZIEN 2PEPEEHE-
BEERE
Loss There is evidence indicating the asset is credit-impaired Lifetime ECL —
credit-impaired
BX BREBEXPAZEECHBREERE >HEREEEE -
BEERIE
Write-off There is evidence indicating that the debtor is in severe financial Amount is written off

s 35

difficulty and the Group has no realistic prospect of recovery

BFRBRABBARRBENMHERELRAKEY BEROKDE RS

ko
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6. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) 6. €RMIHE(HE)
Credit risk and impairment assessment (continued) FEERBREEN (&)
The tables below detail the credit risk exposures of TRFINASBBETHEBEEBETHNT®
the Group’s financial assets which are subject to ECL BEMEERR :
assessment:
2021 2020
—E--F e S22
Gross Gross
External Internal carrying Loss carrying Loss
credit rating credit rating 12m or lifetime ECL amount allowance amount  allowance
128528
ABEETR ABEETR BHEEER EHAE FERHE RELE HBREE

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$000
TR TR TET TET

Financial assets
at amortised cost

BREMATENTEEE
Debt investments measured N/A Low risk 12m ECL
at amortised cost 29,184 3,820 16,189 3,070
REBEKAGT B EBRE TEA YA 12EAEREESSR
Other receivables and deposits N/A Low risk 12m ECL 22 - 300 19
HibERTIER RS A 1 1218 AR HA
FEFR
N/A Doubtful Lifetime ECL
- not credit-impaired 39,180 9,450 53,334 11,763
TER R 2HEACERSE
-EEERE
N/A Loss Lifetime ECL
— credit-impaired 15,380 15,380 15,080 15,080
TER Bx 2HESREEER
—FERE
Bank balances Baa 2 or above  N/A 12m ECL 1,195 - 1,531 -
RITHEE Baa 23k A & TEA 1218 AR HA
EEFE
Deposits at other financial N/A Low risk 12m ECL
institutions 1,594 - 3 -
REMSBEENTR A g 12[8 ATEH

FEBE
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6. £RITH (&)

6. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment (continued)

The following tables show reconciliation of loss allowances

FEERRREEN (&)
TRINNERZBERAAEZHBEERER

that has been recognised for financial assets measured at BIERE K
amortised cost:
Stage 2 Stage 3
Stage 1 Lifetime Lifetime
12m ECL ECL ECL Total
(not credit- (credit-
impaired) impaired)
P& B2 :1:) B E3
128 A 2HES 2HEE
FERBR FEER FEER @it
(BEERE) (FERE)
HK$'000 HK$°000 HK$'000 HK$'000
T T THIT TER
As at 1 April 2019 R-ZE-NFNA—AH = 12,898 = 12,898
Changes due to financial instruments ERAREHIAESY
recognised: 25
- Transfer -BR - (2,354) 2,354 =
Impairment losses recognised BHERRESRE 3,089 1,219 12,726 17,034
As at 31 March 2020 and 1 April 2020 R-B-BE=A=t+-AR
—E_EFMA-H 3,089 11,763 15,080 29,932
Changes due to financial instruments ERAReBIAEEY
recognised: 2%
- Transfer —ER (19) - 19 =
Impairment losses recognised ERAREER 750 (2,313) 281 (1,282)
As at 31 March 2021 R-—E-—%=f=+—H 3,820 9,450 15,380 28,650




mEMBHRME

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)
Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group are unable to meet
their payment obligations associated with its financial
liabilities when they fall due. The Group manages liquidity risk
by maintaining adequate reserves, as well as continuously
monitoring cash flow forecast and actual cash flows.

In managing the liquidity risk, the Group monitors and
maintains a level of cash and cash equivalents that is
adequate in management discretion. In formulating their
strategy, management would consider the financing of the
Group’s operations and the effects of fluctuation in operating
and investing cash flows. As at 31 March 2021, the liquidity
of the Group is primarily dependent on its ability to maintain
adequate cash flows from operations and to raise funds
through issue and allotment of new shares to meet its debt
obligations and investment project opportunities as they fall
due or arise.

The remaining contractual maturities at the end of the
reporting period of the Group’s financial liabilities, which are
based on contractual undiscounted cash flows and the earliest
date that the Group can be required to pay, are within one
year or on demand (2020: within one year or on demand).
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7. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENT

(i)

For the year ended 31 March 2021 &2 -Z-—F=fF=+—HIFE

7. RVEEE

Fair value of the Group’s financial assets that (i) AEEERULAFETEZRAEENH
are measured at fair value on a recurring basis KEEAFE
At 31 March 2021 and 2020, the Group had following RZBEZ—FRZFZTF=A=+—H"
financial instruments carried at fair value all of which AEEBELNTERITAE HEAFEELRS
are based on the Level 1, Level 2 and Level 3 of the fair BEXE R FZREREZFUARNFEAR:
value hierarchy:
2021 2020
—E=-—fF —T-FF
HK$’000 HK$°000
FHET FET
Level 1: ”k—ﬁ& :
Financial assets at FVPL AREEFAEBERZUBEE
— listed equity investments *L MR A& & 121,192 98,135
Level 3: o
Financial assets at FVPL NREEFAEBERCUBEE
— unlisted equity investments —é‘EL MR AR & 24,140 37,292
145,332 135,427

The Group’s policy is to recognise transfers into and
transfers out of any of the three levels as of the date of
the event or change in circumstances that caused the
transfer.

Some of the Group’s financial assets and financial
liabilities are measured at fair value at the end of each
reporting period. The following table gives information
about how the fair values of these financial assets and
financial liabilities are determined (in particular, the
valuation technique(s) and inputs used).

AREBZBREREEEHHLEE ALK
EHREBERESE AERZ AR 2EA
B o

AEBETUHHBEERMBABTIAER
THRERBZ R TFEFE - TREIEH
ZEMBEENMBABZ AT ERFE
E(REEME MERBERTREARER)
ZEH -
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7. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENT (continued) 7. A¥ETE (&)
(i) Fair value of the Group’s financial assets that (i) AEEERUAFEFEZAEBUK
are measured at fair value on a recurring basis BEEAFYE (&)
(continued)
Relationship of
Fair value  Valuation Significant unobservable
Financial assets 2021 2020 hierarchy  technique(s) unobservable inputs inputs to fair value
FABR
Y| BAgER
HBEE ZE--F  CZZ-RE NVEER  RERH BEGAHE NYEZHE
HK$’000 HK$'000
THR THER
Unlisted equity investments 24,140 37,292 Level 3 Discount cash flow with future Free cash flow The higher of the free
classified as equity cash flows that are estimated cash flow, the higher
investments at FVPL based on expected recoverable of the fair value
amounts, discounted at rates
that reflect management’s best
estimation of the expected risk
level
AERARTEFABREL 24,140 371292 =1 ARAERERERPTHNEOLE emRLRE EHRENEMA AT
RARE 23k LHRAR fEEHMERRENE NRRY BEHA
EREHRARMRKT 251
fhEr L EER
Discounted rate that ~ The higher of the
correspond to the discount rate, the
expected risk level lower of the fair value
HeEgRRKTz HREXEA ATES)D
HRx
Listed equity investment 121,192 98,135 Level 1 Quoted bid prices in an active N/A N/A
classified as equity market
investments at FVPL
PERULTETARRR 121,192 98,135 £—#% EEMHEAR TR TER
LBAREZ FARARE
In estimating the fair value of unlisted equity investment, HETFELTRABREHNRAFLER A28 F
the management of the Company work closely 1% [ R R AT (A B R A BB 0 1E - HILE
with International Valuation Limited to establish the BEHERMEZEAZBABIE ARRE
appropriate valuation techniques and inputs to the BERSRERRMARARESERAH
model. The management of the Company reports the ER UBEATERBZRA-

findings to the directors of the Company at the end of
each reporting period to explain the cause of fluctuations
in fair value.



100

China Investment and Finance Group Limited

PR OB B E & B B R 4 7
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
,2,51-\ ’g‘ E\ZI' ﬁ% $ﬁ %% Bﬂ' EI For the year ended 31 March 2021 BiZ—Z-—F=HA=+—HItFE
7. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENT (continued) 7. AVEE (&)
(i) Fair value of the Group’s financial assets that (i) AEEERUAFEFAEZLAEEH
are measured at fair value on a recurring basis BEEAFE(H&)
(continued)
Reconciliation of Level 3 fair value measurements BERAFEI;TEHEE
2021 —E-—F
Unlisted equity
securities
classified
as equity
investments at
FVPL
PEARUAFE
SPABHEZ
BARE
FETRAES
HK$°000
FHx
As at 1 April 2019 RZZE—NFMOA—H 62,035
Net unrealised loss on unlisted equity AR EFABRREZELTRARE Z
investments at FVPL RERFIEFE (24,743)
As at 31 March 2020 and 1 April 2020 R-BE-_ZEF=A=+—HER=-ZE-_ZFNA—AH 37,292
Net unrealised loss on unlisted equity AR EFABREREZELTRARE
investments at FVPL REBEERTE (13,152)

As at 31 March 2021 R=-—B=—-#=A=+—8 24,140
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,2,51-\ ’g‘ E\Zt ﬁ% $ﬁ %% Bﬂ' EI For the year ended 31 March 2021 B#E2—F——F=-A=1+—HIFE

7. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENT (continued) 7. AVEE(R)

(ii) Fair values of financial instruments carried at (ii)
other than fair value
The carrying amounts of the Group’s financial assets
and financial liabilities carried at amortised cost are not
materially different from their fair values as at 31 March
2021 and 2020 due to their short-term maturities.

YHAAFEFEZEMTIRAZATVE

RZBEZ—FR-ZF-ZEF=RA=+—H
NEHEAARIENAEEN B EE R WE
BEZEEEREATENEEREZE &
EHTEE AR A

HK$162,000 (2020: nil) from the government to support the
Group'’s operations under Employment Support Scheme. There
were no unfulfilled conditions or contingencies relating to the
government grants.

8. REVENUE AND OTHER INCOME 8. WaEKHMWA
An analysis of the Group’s revenue and other income are as REE 2 Wm REMBAD AT :
follows:
2021 2020
—EsE-— & R
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FE T
Revenue: Wz
Dividend income from equity investment ~ LA RFEF ABREREZBRAEE
at FVPL Z R B A 7 327
Interest income from debt investments REER AT EZEBIREYZ
at amortised cost PSRN 2,645 1,189
Interest income from other receivables H b e U R IB 2 B B A 1,869 1,413
Interest income from brokers wad 2 R B A —* 1
Interest income from bank accounts IRITTHERZF BHRA —* —*
4,521 2,930
Other income PN 162# =
4,683 2,930
*  Amount less than HK$1,000 * 2T E1,000% T
S During the year ended 31 March 2021, the Group received & REEF-ZF-Z—F=ZFA=+—HIFE FEHFH

BB RTHIR 5t # 51 &) #E18162,0008 T (ZF=-F
FHE) AR E B B E o B AE B BT B
B R EL AR B R F A o
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10.

SEGMENT INFORMATION

For the year ended 31 March 2021 and 2020, the Group’s
revenue and results were mainly derived from the interest
income and dividend income from investment holding. The
directors consider that these activities constitute one and
the only business segment since these transactions are
subject to common risks and returns. The management
monitors the operating results of its investment business as
a whole for the purpose of making decision about resource
allocation and performance assessment. Given the nature of
the Group’s business was operated as a single segment, it is
not considered meaningful to provide an operating segment
analysis of financial performance.

Geographical information

During the year ended 31 March 2021 and 2020, all activities
of the Group are based in Hong Kong and all of the Group’s
revenue was derived from Hong Kong. Accordingly, no
geographical analysis of revenue and assets is presented.

Given that the nature of the Group’s operation is investment
holding, there was no information regarding major customers
as determined by the Group.

IMPAIRMENT LOSSES UNDER EXPECTED

For the year ended 31 March 2021 &2 -Z-—F=fF=+—HIFE

DHERER

BE_ TSR _FT_FTF-_A=+—BLF
B AR E Y= &%ﬁIEXQ&ﬁThZﬂ
WARBBWA -EERS" mmMi“%ax
HREREE R FA SR ERE — R —
EBOM EEBERHEEBRERT 2KZS
BUERERD BERRBFEELRE -ERA
SEZELE - DHNERLEE WA B RRE
HELDBOTEBET K

ih & & R
REBZE-ZTZ-_—FR-_ZT-_TF=A=+—HIt
FE - AEBFRBEBAREAET MAKE
ZHBEREIDRERE Eitt LIt B &E 251K
mREEMMWESTER -

ERAEELLEBHENREER BAEHE
BE AEBYEEHEIEEPETENER -

10. AHEFEEFREXTHRESE (K

CREDIT LOSS MODEL, NET OF REVERSAL BRIEME)
2021 2020
—E-—fF —ETF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FERT FAT
Impairment losses (reversed)/recognised on:  FLUATIEE (EE) /MR ZBAERIE:
— Other receivables — H th FEURIR (2,032) 13,964
— Debt investments measured —IREEXN AT ECEBRIRE
at amortised costs 750 3,070
(1,282) 17,034

Details of impairment assessment are set out in note 6.

BB RS BT AE6 o
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11. PROFIT/(LOSS) BEFORE TAX

2020/21 Annual Report
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 March 2021 BiZ2=—Z—-—F=HA=+—HItFE

1. BRBATER, (F18)

£ W

2021 2020
—E-—fF —E-F
HK$°000 HK$’000
FERT FHET
Profit/(loss) before tax has been BrRFLATE R (BB sk
arrived at after charging/(crediting): (AU TIBREESH:
Directors’ remunerations ExMe
— Fees - 705 1,110
— Other remunerations —HA B & 331 210
— Equity-settled share-based payments —ARELEE RN BER 2K 530 -
Total directors’ remunerations BEEWE 1,566 1,320
Staff costs BTRA
— Basis salaries and other benefits —EAXFe REAMET 756 1,010
— Equity-settled share-based payments —ARBEEE RN BER Z AR 2,090 =
— Retirement benefits scheme —RRERE S 33 38
Total staff costs (excluding directors’ BETIXA(TEEESEHE)
remunerations) 2,879 1,048
Auditors’ remuneration % AN & 460 490
Equity-settled share-based payments VARG BE 45 B LA R 0 A B 2 A9 3K
(included in directors’ remunerations (BERRTELiZEEHe &
and staff costs above) 8 T RA) 2,620 =
Investment manager fee HELKIEEHR 866 960
Net unrealised (gain)/loss on listed equity AAFEFFAEREZ ETRERA
investments at fair value through WEZRER (W) BEFEE
profit or loss (25,980) 61,172
Net unrealised loss on unlisted equity AAFEEGABRERZIFELTRA
investments at fair value through WEZRERBEFE
profit or loss 13,152 24,743
Expenses related to short-term lease EHEERBERAX 90 90
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12. FINANCE COSTS 12. @& K&
2021 2020
—2--fF —F-FF
HK$°000 HK$’000
FTHET FET
Interest on margin financing wholly BRERFBHEEZ
repayable on demand REZHBENE 408 365
13. INCOME TAX CREDIT 13. FIBBIE R
2021 2020
=E=—F —EEF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FEIT
Current tax: EHBE:
Hong Kong Profits Tax: BEBNEH
Over-provision in respect of prior years BT FEBERE - 732
Income tax credit FrigfiE % - 732

On 21 March 2018, the Hong Kong Legislative Council passed RZZE—N\F=ZA=-+—R FBLELRB (=
The Inland Revenue (Amendment) (No.7) Bill 2017 (the “Bill”) E—LEBRK (EFT) (BTR)KHER) ([
which introduces the two-tiered profits tax rates regime. The BOIER]DSIAFEBEMAG - ZENERER
Bill was signed into law on 28 March 2018 and was gazetted —E-N\F=ZAZHN\RAEERAEZELNER
on the following day. Under the two-tiered profits tax rates HZB-BEBEFEH MRS FEEBOEEERE
regime, the first HK$2 million of profits of the qualifying H2,000,0007% 7T /9 5 F1l &9 i 2 58.25% + i 8 i
group entity will be taxed at 8.25%, and profits above HK$2 2,000,000/ 7T #) )% M 8 Tt & 516.5% ° A& H)
million will be taxed at 16.5%. The profits of group entities BEREMAHESNEETEENBEEBZSE
not qualifying for the two-tiered profits tax rates regime will £16.5% E 4

continue to be taxed at a flat rate of 16.5%.

The directors considered the amount involved upon EERABEHRANNEHRABAAS R ©BELLE
implementation of the two-tiered profits tax rates regime as PBRERTBELFAR MEFENEEFNEM
insignificant to the consolidated financial statements. Hong BT ERBRE N 216.5% 51 & ©

Kong Profits Tax is calculated at 16.5% of the estimated
assessable profit for both years.
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13. INCOME TAX CREDIT (continued)

The tax charge for the year can be reconciled to the loss

13. FIBHER (&)
FERBX LA HERRATBER HRET K

before tax using the statutory tax rate for the Hong Kong BRETARR REBW QB FEMATEME ST

Profits Tax in which the Company and its subsidiaries are B ZEERE:
domiciled is:
2021 2020
—E-—F —ETF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHERT FHET
Loss before tax MR AT E 18 3,569 (127,108)
Tax at the statutory tax rate RAEEMEFEZHIE (589) 20,973
Tax effect of expenses not deductible TR MBS 2 B2
for tax purposes (2,876) (6,917)
Tax effect of non-taxable income BERRBAZ R E 1,245 483
Tax effect on deductible temporary AERAHRGERERE RS E
differences not recognised 3,136 (10,093)
Tax effect of tax losses not recognised RIERTIE BB 2B (916) (4,446)
Over-provision in respect BTFERBREE
of prior years - 732
Tax credit for the year FEBIERSR - 732

At the end of the reporting period, the Group has unused
tax losses of approximately HK$470,690,000 (2020:
HK$465,737,000) available for offset against future profits.
No deferred tax asset has been recognised in respect of such
losses for both years due to the unpredictability of future
profits streams. All unrecognised tax losses may be carried
forward indefinitely.

At the end of the reporting period, the Group has deductible
temporary difference of approximately HK$401,343,000 (2020:
HK$375,363,000) arising from the net unrealised loss on
financial assets held for trading. No deferred tax assets have
been recognised in relation to such deductible temporary
difference as it is not probable that taxable profit will be
available against which the deductible temporary difference
can be utilised.

PSR B A RIS - AN B S 0] 8 R 2R A
Z REAFIEE B4 5470,690,0008 T (—ZF =
T4 1 465,737,00078 7T ) o B A R 2R A O R
B MY ERZNEFENEEBEERELT
MEEE - FAEABERARBEBEITNERAE

+
r%l:lo

RREABERE NEBEBEREEEREL
MBEEZASZREBEBIREAZANBY
B 2= %8 4 5401,343,00008 T (—Z T - T &
375,363,000/ 7T.) © F A K AT Bk L AT 0 B B
EREES FER T & M EFR - SR B st B BE AT 40
RERNEZHEERELEHIBEE-
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14.

15.

DIVIDENDS

The directors do not recommend the payment of a dividend
for the year ended 31 March 2021 and 2020.

EARNINGS/(LOSS) PER SHARE

The calculation of basic and diluted earnings/(loss) per share
was based on the profit attributable to owners of the Company
of HK$3,569,000 (2020: loss of HK$126,376,000) and the
weighted average number of 249,022,000 (2020: 225,767,000
(restated)) ordinary shares in issue during the year.

On 30 July 2020,
reorganisation which involved in the consolidation of every ten

the Company completed a capital

ordinary shares of the Company of HK$0.0001 each into one
consolidated share of HK$0.001 each.

For the year ended 31 March 2021 and 2020, the weighted
average number of ordinary shares has been adjusted for the
effect of the share consolidation.

The computation of diluted earnings per share for the year
ended 31 March 2021 does not assume the exercise of the
Company’s share options since the exercise price of those
share options was higher than the average market price of
shares for the period from the date of the grant of share
options to 31 March 2021.

The computation of diluted loss per share for the year
ended 31 March 2020 does not assume the exercise of the
Company’s share options since their assumed exercise would
result in a decrease in loss per share for that year.

14.

15.

For the year ended 31 March 2021 &2 -Z-—F=fF=+—HIFE

iR E
EETEFRNBEZ_T-_—FK—
A=t—BUIFEZRE-

TFE=

BREF(BE)
BREARESRA, (BEB) HBIERR A #
B AFE(E % 73,569,000 L (T T F : Hi8
126,376,000/8 7T ) R ANF 8 2 17 & WA N 7
¥ £1249,022,000% ( =% = T 4 : 225,767,000
B (EEY) Vet 8-

RZEZZEFLA=Z+H ARIEXSEET
B% AR A BB AR E(E0.0001B T2 B A A —
R EREE0.C0OTE T A RN ANER -

WRE-F-—4#R-F-FF=A=T-AL
I ERBET SHE R 662 e
i -

HERE-F-—£=A=t+—BLEEOSR

BERNKYEBRRKAAABRERTE ER
ZEBRENTEESREBRERLBESHE
E_—F-HA=+t—BHULHEROHTFHETE-

HEBE_ZT_TF=-A=T—RHILFENER
BEERRYERRARAABRERTE ER
RREBRERETESSERZFESREERD
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16. DIRECTORS’ AND FIVE HIGHEST PAID 16. EERTEBRSFEEME

INDIVIDUALS’ EMOLUMENTS

Directors’ remuneration disclosed pursuant to S.383 of
the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance (Cap.622) and the
Companies (Disclosure of Information about Benefits of
Directors) Regulation (Cap.622G) is as follows:

(a) Directors
The aggregate amounts of emoluments payable by the
Company during the years are as follows:

REFEERAGH(ENB-T %)%
SENTZBEAR (REEENEER) R
(FRBZT-GE)RBECEZHHMMT:

(a) ES
BEEXRRAIEN e BENT

2021 2020
— - —ETF
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FERT FAT
Fees e

Executive directors HITES 180 360
Non-executive directors FRITES 165 390
Independent non-executive directors B FEHITEE 360 360
705 1,110

Other emoluments Hii <
Basic salaries and other benefits EAF & RHMEF 315 200
Employee share option benefits EEREKERT 530 -
Retirement scheme contributions RRE B3R 16 10
861 210
1,566 1,320

No directors waived or agreed to waive any emoluments
and no emoluments were paid to the directors as
inducement to join or upon joining the Group or as
compensation for loss of office during the year (2020: nil).

FRALEEEREXRAERETMME - 75
BEREEXNHS ARSI REMBREE
SERMBRZ RS HABMBAB (ZFT=_F
FE) -
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16. DIRECTORS’ AND FIVE HIGHEST PAID
INDIVIDUALS’ EMOLUMENTS (continued)

16. EERIEBEHEEME (&)

i. Resigned on 31 December 2019

(a) Directors (continued) (a) E=(#&)
The emoluments paid or payable to each of the six (2020: ENSERTFARB(ZEZSF LR)ES
seven) directors are as follows: EBZHME0T:
2021 2020
ZB--% CZCEE
Basic
salaries Employee Retirement
and other  share option scheme Total Total
Fees benefits benefits ~ contributions  emoluments  emoluments
EXE¢ k8 4N
Be  REMER  BRERT SHEIRER WedE Mems
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
T T T T TiExL T
Executive directors HiTES
Mr. Chan Cheong Yee RERLE 180 180 265 9 634 360
Non-executive directors FUTES
Mr. Liao Jintian (note /) BRALE (M) - - - - - 300
Mr. Wu Qi RERE 120 - - - 120 120
Mr. Fong On Shek HEREE 45 135 265 7 452 180
Sub-total It 165 135 265 7 572 600
Independent non-executive directors BUkYTES
Mr. Luk Simon BERZEE 120 - - - 120 120
Ms. Liu Xiaoyin ABEat 120 - - - 120 120
Mr. Hon Leung BREE 120 - - - 120 120
Sub-total It 360 - - - 360 360
Total BE 705 315 530 16 1,566 1,320
Note: Bt -

i. RZE-—NF+ZA=+—HEE
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16. DIRECTORS’ AND FIVE HIGHEST PAID
INDIVIDUALS’ EMOLUMENTS (continued)

(a)

(b)

Directors (continued)

Salaries, allowance and benefits in kind paid to or for
the executive directors are generally emoluments paid
or receivable in respect of those persons’ other services
in connection with the management of the affairs of the
Company and its subsidiaries.

Five highest paid individuals

Of the five individuals with the highest emoluments in the
Group, two (2020: two) were directors of the Company
whose emoluments are reflected in the analysis
presented above. The emoluments of the remaining three
(2020: three) individuals were as follows:

(a)

(b)

For the year ended 31 March 2021 BiZ2=—Z—-—F=HA=+—HItFE

16. EERIEBEHEEME (&)

BE= (&)
XNFRTESEZH S RMREVDNES
AZEALTRUEBARRRENE QA
ZEBER 2 HAMIRG M — R REK
ZME -

IEEaFES
AEEREERFHEEFR ME(ZEZF
F MB)RERARES AWM E:RN L5
AM-HEB=ZFZ(ZTEZTF =F)AAZ
[ UNNE

2021 2020

—E-—F —E-THF

HK$’000 HK$’000

FB T FiET

Basic salaries and other benefits EAFE RHEMEF 1,182 939
Retirements benefits scheme RKE R 2 33 38
1,215 977

The number of the highest paid individuals whose
remuneration fell within the following band is as follows:

HK$Nil to HK$1,000,000 T 7T %1,000,0007% 7T

URTIMEHE 2 RSHEEABRDT

2021 2020
—E-—F —ETHF
3 3

No emoluments were paid to these individuals as
inducement to join or upon joining the Group as
compensation for loss of office for the year (2020: Nil).

MAREE WERZEEASNHE AR
BEMBAEESERMBRZ B NEE
BEE (=4 &) -
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17. EQUITY INVESTMENTS AT FAIR VALUE 17. LAFEFABRERZBREARE

THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS

2021 2020
—E-—F —ETF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHERT FHET
Non-current IE T E
Unlisted equity investments outside EBEBBEINZELTRAKRE
Hong Kong 24,140 37,292
Current RE
Listed equity investments in Hong Kong BAZ LTRAKE 121,192 98,135
145,332 135,427
The fair values of these listed securities are determined ZELTESHFZATFENRBARSHRZHM
based on the quoted market bid prices at the end of each WmBEAEBBET MUOMT12H#E A%
reporting period. The Group has pledged certain financial BR-ZBEZ—F=A=1T—HZ2HEHEY

assets at fair value through profit or loss with carrying amount
of approximately HK$14,449,000 as at 31 March 2021 (2020:
HK$24,353,000) to secure margin payables as disclosed in
note 12.

As at 31 March 2021, the net fair value gain in respect of the
Group’s Hong Kong listed investments recognised in profit
or loss amounted to approximately HK$25,980,000 (2020:
loss of HK$61,172,000), and a net loss of approximately
HK$5,944,000 (2020: HK$18,909,000) was recognised upon
disposal of the listed equity investments for the year.

The market value of the Group’s listed equity investments
at the date of approval of these financial statements was
approximately HK$114,807,000.

14,449,000 7T ( == — T 4 : 24,353,000/ 7T )
ZETUAFEHABEEZHBEEEERR
EARENREBESZEIRR-

=

ANZFEZ—F=ZA=Z=+—H XEERER
BMRAZEALTREZATFTEREZFENA
25,980,000/ ¢ (—Z —=ZF : [£51861,172,000/8
L) RREFRAEELTMRAKREERERESERTF
%8 #75,944,00078 70 (=& —ZF 4 : 18,909,0008
.

o

Pt EZSEMBHRER2AE AEB 2 EHRA
& 2 mEY A114,807,000/8 7T



Annual R rt
2020/21 d ;poﬁ

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

mEMBHRME

17. EQUITY INVESTMENTS AT FAIR VALUE
THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS (continued)
Details of principal unlisted equity securities held by the
Group which are also included in the list of the 10 largest
investments of the Group as at 31 March 2021 and 2020, as
disclosed in note 19, are as follows:

Place/country of Percentage of
Name of investee incorporation/ effective
companies establishment Number of share held interest held
AL/
EREDNTER RIH%/ A% fERHEE fEEREREAL
2021 2020 2021 2020
“B--f _Z-%F CB--f -Z-%
Peak Zone Group Limited  British Virgin Islands 2,500 2,500 25% 25%
(note a)
Peak Zone Group Limited ~ XBRZEE
(////W/J"fa /:
Prominent Alliance Limited ~ British Virgin Islands 28,000 28,000 28% 28%
(note b)
Prominent Alliance Limited ~ £ERZES
(Hip)
Wingate Holdings Limited ~ Samoa 3,000 3,000 30% 30%
(note ¢)
Wingate Holdings Limited ~ EZ%
(/WEC/\
Note:
(a) Peak Zone Group Limited (“Peak Zone”), a private company with

(b)

limited liability, and its subsidiaries are principally engaged in
the provision of integrated application. As disclosed in note 4,
the Group has not been in a position to exercise any significant
influence over the financial and operating policies of Peak Zone.
Accordingly, investment in Peak Zone has been classified as
financial asset at FVPL.

Prominent Alliance Limited (“Prominent Alliance”), a private
Company with limited liability, and its subsidiaries are principally
engaged in dealing in securities, advising on securities and asset
management. As disclosure in note 4, the Group has not been in
a position to exercise any significant influence over the financial
and operating policies of Prominent Alliance. Accordingly,
investment in Prominent Alliance has been classified as financial
asset at FVPL.

Wingate Holdings Limited (“Wingate”), a private company with
limited liability, is principally engaged in provision of money
lending business. As disclosed in note 4, the Group has not
been in a position to exercise any significant influence over
the financial and operating policies of Wingate. Accordingly,
investment in Wingate has been classified as a financial asset at
FVPL.

For the year ended 31 March 2021 #{Z =%

——FZA=+—HILEE

17. AR FEFAERRZBARE (&)

AEBFAFHZEBIF EMBRARES

(TRFI A&

BR T FR-_TF-FF=A=+—H2Z10
HRAKE (K19 HE) ) 25 1BmT

Net assets
attributable to
At cost Fair value adjustment At fair value the investments
BRE LPERR BATE REBLEERE
2021 2020 2021 2020 2021 2020 2021 2020
S®--F -“Z-TF CRS-F "%-%F ZRC-F C3-%% ZRS-F IR
HK$'000  HKS'000 ~ HK$'000  HKS'000 ~ HK$'000  HKS'000 ~ HK$'000  HKS'000
Tén Tt ThT Fin Tz TiEx T TEn
75,000 75,000 (62,275 (55,300) 12,725 19,700 4,361 3,604
20,000 20,000 (9,983 (12,608) 10,017 7,392 12,639 12,772
15,023 15,023 (13,625) (4,823) 1,398 10,200 1,741 2,219
Bet -
(a) Peak Zone Group Limited ([Peak Zone])&—
RKMWABREEAR HMMB AR EEN FRH
ERERER MMM T4 B R NEE L&Y
Peak Zone 7 1 i RS & BRITREMERLE -
E It - A Peak Zone 2 R EBE D ERURTFEE
ANEHRZMBEEE-
(b) Prominent Alliance Limited ([Prominent
Alliance ] - —RXFLABREE AR REKBE A A
FERFBFXH BEFREELRREHEE
B o PO FEART B2 FR - AN S B A Prominent
Alliance BV 7% RS E R ITREMEATE -
It » A Prominent Alliance Z & E D A UAF
B ABREMBEE-
(c) Wingate Holdings Limited ([ Wingate ] ) /& —Zf

ABREFRR] TEREREMEER - BLOMK
FTAPTHRFR - AN E & ¥ Wingate 7 B 75 R A& &
BERTEEMERTE At % Wingate 218 &
ENBEAARFEFABEREWKEE-
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17. EQUITY INVESTMENTS AT FAIR VALUE
THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS (continued)
Details of principal listed equity securities held by the Group RZEZ—F=A=1+—H A5EEHBENEE

FIREAZS (MIALREER_T_—F=A

=t —HZ10EKARE (MM E19PTHKEE) ) #F

BT

17. AR FEFABERRZBARE (&)

as at 31 March 2021, which are also included in the list of the
10 largest investments of the Group as at 31 March 2021, as
disclosed in note 19, are as follow:

Accumulated

unrealised Dividend
holding Net Assets received/
gain (loss) attributable receivable
Place/country Number of Percentage of arising on to the during
Name of investee company of incorporation  share held interest held Cost  revaluation Market Value  investment the year
EfiREERZ
2Rt K2R
ERALLE/ igsy- 4+ BREH REELE  FABW/
ERENAER S fERG#A Batt RA (E#8) T EEFE EURE
'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
Tk TAL TAL TAL TAL TAL
WLS Holdings Limited (nofe d) Bermuda 509,230 3.54% 77,421 (58,580) 18,842 18,585 -
ERZRERAA (Mitd) BRE
China e-Wallet Payment Bermuda 126,960 4.63% 37,276 (24,119) 13,077 19,268 -
Group Limited (note e) L3
hEZEXNEERRAR (Hite)
Power Financial Group Limited (nofe f) Bermuda 120,010 4.31% 38,437 (28,116) 10,321 61,316 -
BREBEEERAR (M2l BRE
Wan Cheng Metal Packaging Cayman Islands 10,970 3.43% 3,746 5578 9,325 2,420 -
Company Limited (note g) HEis
ERSBRRARAR (Hitg)
AMCO United Holding Limited (nofe h) Bermuda 44,965 1.86% 20,094 (11,731) 8,363 2,456 -
ERERBEBRR (Hih) BRE
Milan Station Holdings Limited (nofe /) Cayman Islands 32,046 4.50% 9,160 (828) 8,332 5,066 -
REUERERRR (i) RERS
HSBC Holdings plc (note j) England 118 0.01% 6,957 (1,569) 5,387 9,095 -
ELEREBRR (M) 5
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mEMBHRME

17. EQUITY INVESTMENTS AT FAIR VALUE
THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS (continued)

Notes:

A brief description of the business and financial information of the
listed investee companies, based on their latest published annual
report are as follows:

(d)

(e)

WLS Holdings Limited (“WLS”) is incorporated in the Cayman
Islands as an exempted company and continued in Bermuda
with limited liability and its shares are listed on Stock Exchange
of Hong Kong Limited (Stock code: 8021). WLS is principally
engaged in the scaffolding and fitting out services, management
contracting services and other services for construction and
buildings work, money lending business, securities brokerage
and margin financing and securities investment business. For
the year ended 30 April 2020, the audited consolidated loss
attributable to owners of WLS was HK$108,888,000 with basic
and diluted loss per share of HK$0.758 cents. As at 30 April
2020, its audited consolidated net assets attributable to owners
was HK$537,629,000.

China e-Wallet Payment Group Limited (“China e-Wallet”) was
incorporated in Bermuda and the shares of which are listed on
the Main Board of the Stock Exchange (stock code: 802). China
e-Wallet is principally engaged in the provision of biometric
and RFID products and solution services. For the financial
year ended 31 December 2020, the audited consolidated loss
attributable to owners of China e-Wallet was HK$41,800,000
with basic and diluted loss per share of HK1.52 cents. As
at 31 December 2020, its audited consolidated net assets
attributable to owners was HK$422,539,000.

Power Financial Group Limited (“Power Financial”) incorporated
in the Cayman Islands with limited liability and its shares are
listed on Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (Stock code:
397). Power Financial is principally engaged in financial services,
asset management and investment and money lending. For the
year ended 31 December 2020, the audited consolidated loss
attributable to owners of Power Financial was HK$44,190,000
with basic and diluted earnings per share of HK$1.59 cents.
As at 31 December 2020, its audited consolidated net assets
attributable to owners was HK$1,420,324,000.

For the year ended 31 March 2021 #{Z =%

——F_A=T"HIFE

17. AR FEFAERRZBARE (&)

Mz

REFHERELTA

METIR 2 F58H ZERQF

Z%%&Eﬁ%ﬁﬂﬁﬁxﬁﬂ?-

(d)

ERZERAR AR (DERER])RAeES M
Wii%_FaﬁZ%gﬁﬁIEAE%Lﬁ?EZE@An
EROREBBARIABERAR LT (RHR
55 :8021) EEERFEN FIRBEEERESE
TRMELERBEERE- E@m,nﬁﬁﬁ%&ﬁ
R XK EEXE BFELLRAFERE
NEBEHFREEK HE-T-_TFWA=1H
IFFE EREREBARGEEZRREEBER
108,888,000 Jt * & % £ 7K [ # 5% /&5 18 /20.758
BU-R—ZT-_FTFEMA=1+H HEAEARHLE
EBixirE B EFE /537,629,000 7T ©

PEERINEEBRAR ([PREER])RER
EMARS - RGO FTER BT (RMDARSE -
802) - FEBEBEENFREEWHRA I IEH
A(RFID)ERMEBATRRE -BE_FT_F
F+ZA=Z+—BLUWBFE TEESEGA
A& BIZIR A 1B 541,800,000 T - F R E
ARBEEERI2BIL- RZE=-_FEF+=A
=t B HEAARGKEZGEGEETER
422,539,000/ 7T °

ERemEBREGRAR ([ERES]) BRAS
HEEMRIZERAR EROHREBBHAR
SHARAR LM (BHRSE:397) RSB E
ERECRRYG EEEERERENARKE -BE
—EZZEF+ZA=+—HALEFEE #REE2
B AN EAE I E %65 A F518 544,190,000 7T
EREANBEEHEEBBISBIL - R_E_FF
+ZA=t+-—"B HEBEBARGEERRAEE
F 18 51,420,324,000/% 7T ©
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mEMBHRME

17. EQUITY INVESTMENTS AT FAIR VALUE
THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS (continued)

Notes: (continued)

(9)

Wan Cheng Metal Packaging Company Limited (“Wan
Cheng”) incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited
liability and its shares are listed on Stock Exchange of Hong
Kong Limited (Stock code: 8291). Wan Cheng is principally
engaged in manufacturing and sales of tinplate packaging
products in the PRC and Hong Kong. For the year ended
31 December 2020, the audited consolidated loss attributable
to owners was RMB22,929,000 with basic and diluted loss
per share of RMBO0.19 cents. As at 31 December 2020, its
audited consolidated net assets attributable to owners was
RMB59,491,000.

AMCO United Holding Limited (“AMCO United”) incorporated in
Bermuda with limited liability and its shares are listed on Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (Stock code: 630). AMCO
United is principally engaged in the provision of internet and
mobile application and distribution of computer-related and
mobile-related electronic products and accessories. For the
year ended 31 December 2020, the audited consolidated loss
attributable to owners of AMCO United was HK$34,969,000
with basic and diluted loss per share of HK$1.71 cents. As
at 31 December 2020, its audited consolidated net assets
attributable to owners was HK$132,093,000.

Milan Station Holdings Limited (“Milan”) incorporated in the
Cayman Islands with limited liability and its shares are listed
on Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (Stock code: 1150).
Milan is principally engaged in retailing of handbags, fashion
accessories and embellishments operation. For the year ended
31 December 2020, the audited consolidated loss attributable
to owners of Milan was HK$3,108,000 with basic and diluted
loss per share of HK$1.19 cents. As at 31 December 2020,
its audited consolidated net assets attributable to owners was
HK$113,302,000.

For the year ended 31 March 2021 H{Z—& —

(9)

—FZA=+—AILFE

17. AR FEFABERRZBARE (&)

Hiiz - (&)

ERcEREARAR([EK]) ARASESH
Fﬁ%ﬁxizmﬁﬁﬂvﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁé%%ﬂﬁﬁéx%ﬁﬁﬁ
BAF LM (BT 82901) BT EHREFTEH
REFNREEHENOEESNRNERBE B
E*?*?—E¢+*H:+f5¢¢ﬁ%ﬁ/\ﬁé
HEEZEABEAARK22,929,0007T &%
EAREEEREAARKIIOD N _TF
TZA=t+— R HEBABRGLEERGEAEE
FE B ARS59,491,0007T °

ERERAERAT (&R AR AFREZMK
VZERRR EEOREBEEBMAEXZMARR
AL (B 5E:630) BRI EUFIRMHEH
BrEYEAREAARD HEMBRERZEEH
BEFERAEA -BE-_ZT_TF+_H=1—
BEFE SR2EEARGKEERGAEER
34,969,000 7T  BRERNRBHEBEEAR1.7T1E
h-R—_ZE=FF+-_RA=+—H HEEEAEH
KEZAR G EEF1E /132,093,000 7T °

KEWERARAR (KB ARFERSF
MR ZBERAR MERGREEBHER ST
BRAB LT (BRMHARE:1150) KW EEHR =
FR BHEHRENMTEER - BE-_Z=F
F+ZAZT-BLEFE KXWEEABLELER
%R A 518 53,108,0008 7 R E AR E
BAEIA9BI - KT =_FF+-_A=+—H H
A ARIEEERLG S EEFER113,302,000%

JC e
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mEMBHRME

17. EQUITY INVESTMENTS AT FAIR VALUE
THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS (continued)

Notes: (continued)

)

HSBC Holdings plc ("HSBC”) incorporated in England with
limited liability and its shares are listed on Stock Exchange of
Hong Kong Limited (Stock code: 5). HSBC is the banking and
financial services company. For the year ended 31 December
2020, the audited consolidated profit attributable to ordinary
shareholders of HSBC was US$3,898,000,000 with basic and
diluted profit per share of US$0.19. As at 31 December 2020,
its audited consolidated net assets attributable to owners was
US$196,443,000,000.

China 33 Media Group Limited (“China 33 Media”) incorporated
in the Cayman Islands with limited liability and its shares are
listed on Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (Stock code:
8087).
holding, provision of management services, prepaid card

China 33 Media is principally engaged in Investment

business, film and entertainment investment and provision of
advertising services. For the year ended 31 December 2020,
the audited consolidated loss attributable to owners of China
33 Media was RMB123,683,000 with basic and diluted loss
per share of RMB20.27 cents. As at 31 December 2020, its
audited consolidated net assets attributable to owners was
RMB236,802,000.

China National Culture Group Limited (“CNC”) incorporated in
the Cayman Islands with limited liability and its shares are listed
on Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (Stock code: 745).
CNC is principally engaged in the properties investment, money
lending and financial services. For the year ended 31 March
2020, the audited consolidated loss attributable to owners of
CNC was HK$92,227,000 with basic and diluted loss per share
of HK18.79 cents. As at 31 March 2020, its audited consolidated
net assets attributable to owners was HK$109,749,000.

For the year ended 31 March 2021 #{Z =%

——F_A=T"HIFE

17. AR FEFAERRZBARE (&)

Kzt (&)

)

ELERAERAF (NELER]) AR HEE T
Ry ZBRAG ERHREBHERSMAR
AEIET (RMHRE:5) ELERARITRER
RERA -BHE-_T_TF+_A=+—HLF
EELERZEARRELEERGEENA
3,898,000,0003 7T & IR E K & # 8 % 7 £0.19
EL-R-_T-_TF+_A=+—H HEBARE
(T4 EBIZIR A B EIF1E /5196,443,000,0003 7T ©

FRE-—EHEEEBERAR ([PR==EFH]) A
RASHSEMALZERAR ERMHRES
BEXSMABERA Ttm(ﬂxf’ﬁﬁ%‘«irsosﬂoqﬂ

BRI ERFTREER BRHREERS
BNRER B RREKRENREHES RS-

HE T _ZTF+_-_A=Z=+—BHLFE - +H
SCEEIEAARLEEREABROARE
123,683,000 BREARBEEBHEBAARYE
2027 R-ZT=ZTHF+-_A=+—HB H#AH
AELEEZGEEEFMERARY236,802,000
o

PEBERXEEZERRRAA ([PRBERE
EXD)ARAESHSIMKRIZAERAR M
BRONRBEBRERSMBRAR LT (BRHORK:
745) FEBRRXCEXFENEFHERE
MERREEK - BE-_ET-_EF=A=+—8H
WFE PREREEXER ABIGLEEZLE
A 518 592,227,0008 0  BRE AR B EEIE
B1879E - R T _FTF=A=+—H H#&
BEABEEE GG EEFER109,749,000%8
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,2,51-\ ’g‘ E\ZI' ﬁ% $ﬁ %% Bﬂ' EI For the year ended 31 March 2021 H#E—F - —F=A=1+—HIFE
18. DEBT INVESTMENTS MEASURED AT 18. MEER AT EZBEBRE
AMORTISED COST
2021 2020
—E-—F —ETHF
HK$°000 HK$’000
FERT FET
Unlisted debts securities (note) FELMEBES (MiT) 27,000 15,000
Interest receivables JE U F B 2,184 1,189
Less: Allowance for credit losses B EEEBERE (3,820) (3,070)
25,364 13,119
Note: Bt iz -

The unlisted debts securities represented unlisted bonds with principal
amount of HK$15,000,000 and HK$12,000,000 issued by Hao Wen
Holdings Limited (“Hao Wen”) and China 33 Media Group Limited
(“China 33 Media”) respectively, both of the companies listed in Hong
Kong. Unlisted bonds issued by Hao Wen are unsecured, carried
interest at 11% per annum and matured in 3 years. Hao Wen is
principally engaged in the money lending and processing and trading
of electronic parts. Unlisted bonds issued by China 33 Media are
unsecured, carried interest at 12% per annum and matured in 3 years.
China 33 Media is a dominant channel media provider in railway
sector and its main business includes printed media with operation
and distribution three publications and one magazine.

The movements in the loss allowance for credit losses of debt
investments measured at amortised cost are as follows:

FELEMEREFESAHES LW ARG HERERA
A([EX]) kTR ==ZFEEEFARAA ([FR==
B ) E1TH A € 5 515,000,000 7T K 12,000,0007%
TZIETER - BXAEITHELTES BEER-
FRERMERIFEEM - BXEEHEREES RN
IRBEESTEHMH PR —EEMBEITNIELTE
HFARERR FRHRR2ERIFRER - PE=--EKA
BETENTIZREEBEEN X ZEBKRELYE
KRBT =T ) R —TE R ) ED R AR 88

BRBHAAHBZEBRAZEEBRZERE
HEBHMT

2021 2020

—E-—F —ETF

HK$’000 HK$’000

FERT FET

At the beginning of the reporting period Rk s B9 3,070 =
Impairment losses, net REEEFSE 750 3,070
At the end of the reporting period REEHKR 3,820 3,070

Details of impairment assessment are set out in note 6.

The above investment in the bonds issued by Hao Wen
and China 33 Media are included in the list of 10 largest
investments of the Group as at 31 March 2021, as disclosed
in note 19.

BB RT b R B BB L6 o

MM E19RE EXREBEXRTE==
BRERBETZEFFAREBAR_T - —F=H
=t—HZTARERERE-
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19. PARTICULARS OF MAJOR INVESTMENTS

HELD BY THE GROUP

Pursuant to the requirements stipulated in Chapter 21.12
of the Listing Rules, the Group discloses its list of all
investments with a value greater than 5 per cent of the
Group’s gross assets and at least 10 largest investments as

at 31 March 2021 and 2020 are as follows:

As at 31 March 2021

As at investee companies

HRELH

Equity investments:

WLS Holdings Limited (note 17(d))

China e-Wallet Payment Group Limited
(note 17(e))

Peak Zone Group Limited (note 17(a))

Power Financial Group Limited (note 17(f))

Prominent Alliance Limited (note 17(b))

Wan Cheng Metal Packaging Company
Limited (note 17(g))

AMCO United Holdings Limited (note 17(h))

Milan Station Holdings Limited (note 17(i))

Debt investments:
Hao Wen Holdings Limited (note 18)
China 33 Media Group Limited (note 18)

R=-%

RAERE:
ERZRERAR (Het17(d))
FEEREXNEBERAR (Hit176)

Peak Zone Group Limited (##:%17(a))
EREBMEEBBRAR (HaE17(r)
Prominent Alliance Limited ( ##:17(b))
EREBREFRAR (Mit17(g))

ERERAERDR (Hat17(h))
KBUERAR AR (AF170))

BEHRE:
MEXEREBR AT (Hi18)
FE-=EREEARAG (H:218)

2020/21 Annual Report

Cost

BRA
HK$’000
TER

77,422

37,276
75,000
38,437
20,000

15,023
48,292
6,957

15,000
12,000

==

—F£=ZA=

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 March 2021 &

£ W

—F=A=+—AILFE

19. X KBRHFETEREZHE

+-8

Fair value

AVHE
HK$'000
FHL

18,841

13,077
12,725
10,321
10,017

9,325
8,363
8,332

14,560
11,688

BEETRNFEINREZRTE AEEFER =
T FER-T_TF-A=-+—ABESARN
EEEERESY ZMAREER KK 108K
AIEEBBEWT

Dividend/
Interest
received
2 IE
RE/FE
HK$’000
FHET

1,650

117



118

China Investment and Finance Group Limited

=]

B R B E

£ B B

R 2~ 4

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBHRME

19. PARTICULARS OF MAJOR INVESTMENTS

20.

For the year ended 31 March 2021 &

HELD BY THE GROUP (continued)

As at 31 March 2020

-

R=-Z2=-ZF=ZA=+—H

—FZA=+—AILFE

19. XA KBFRHFEEREZHE (&)

Dividend/
Interest
As at investee companies Cost Fair value received
2 IKE
BREANT 2% DF¥E BE/FE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THET FHET FHET
Equity investments: BRERE:

Peak Zone Group Limited (note 17(a)) Peak Zone Group Limited (#7:#17(a)) 75,000 19,700 =
WLS Holdings Limited (note 17(d)) ERERERAR (H17(d) 77,422 14,258 -
Power Financial Group Limited (note 17(f)) BEeREBBRAR (F717()) 38,437 11,281 =
Wingate Holdings Limited (note 17(c)) Wingate Holdings Limited (#72£17(c)) 15,023 10,200 =

China e-Wallet Payment Group Limited FREOINEBAERRR (Hit17(e))

(note 17(e)) 37,276 10,157 -
Prominent Alliance Limited (note 17(b)) Prominent Alliance Limited (#/7#17(b)) 20,000 7,392 =
China 33 Media Group Limited (note 17(k)) FER==EEEERRRR (F:F17(k)) 48,292 6,190 =
HSBC Holdings plc (note 17(j)) ELERBRAR (HE17()) 6,957 5,227 123
China National Culture Group Limited FEBRCEESEBBR AR (H:717())

(note 17(1)) 11,427 4,900 -
Debt investments: BRRE:

Hao Wen Holdings Limited (note 18) SRR ABR AR (M1:18) 15,000 13,119 =
OTHER RECEIVABLES, PREPAYMENTS AND 20. Htt BWWRIE FARNRERES

DEPOSITS

2021 2020

—BC-—fF —E_THF

HK$’000 HK$’000

FTET FHET

Other receivables H b fE W FRIE 29,730 41,830

Deposits paid [RENE & 22 22

Financial assets MBEE 29,752 41,852

Prepayments AT RIE 19 31

29,771 41,883
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20. OTHER RECEIVABLES, PREPAYMENTS AND 20. HMEWFIE BEARERES (F)
DEPOSITS (continued)
The Group recognised loss allowance for other receivables as LA 72 75 52 [ 3t L fth B W SR IE e aR 2 IS TE 4
follows:
2021 2020
—E-—F —ETF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FExT FHET
Other receivables H b IE N FR A 54,560 68,692
Loss allowance EERE (24,830) (26,862)
Net impairment losses on other receivables = fib g Y 7K I8 7 5l {8 B 18 )% 28 29,730 41,830
The movements in the loss allowance for ECL of other HEmERRIBE BHEEBE EBEREZ SN
receivables are as follows: N
2021 2020
—E-—F —ETHF
HK$°000 HK$’000
FTHExT FHET
At the beginning of the reporting period R HA ) 26,862 12,898
Impairment losses, net REEBEFE (2,032) 13,964
At the end of the reporting period KR4 B R 24,830 26,862

Details of impairment assessment are set out in note 6. BT PG E R M 5E6 o
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20.

21.

22,

OTHER RECEIVABLES, PREPAYMENTS AND
DEPOSITS (continued)

The above impairment losses have been separately disclosed
as “impairment losses under expected credit loss model, net
of reversal” in the consolidated statement of profit or loss.

For the year ended 31 March 2021 &2 -Z-—F=fF=+—HIFE

HttEWRE ANRERES (&)
FREEBERGABREREBREAR B

EEBERATHRESE (KMNERED)] -

At the end of the reporting period, the receivable of PR E HI R IR R IE 49 529,730,000 7T ( =
approximately HK$29,730,000 (2020: HK$41,830,000 T ZFF:41,830,0008 L)  fEEARBEFE
represents the consideration receivable arising from the HEMBARMBELEFLETRAREEEZE
disposal of the unlisted equity investments through disposal KRE-ZEFREREER RERER—FR
of subsidiaries in prior years. The amounts are unsecured, BiE-
interest-free and repayable within one year.
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 1. RERAEEEY
2021 2020
—E-—& T4
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FHET
Cash and bank balances fﬁ%&ﬁiﬁ%r 1,195 1,531
Deposits at other financial institutions R H Ath & B 2 K 1,594 31
2,789 1,562
During the reporting period, no cash and cash equivalents RmEEE - HERSERReSENAEHEE
were denominated in a currency other than the functional ERCEEBUIINCEEER-
currency of the relevant group entity.
The effective interest rate of the deposits ranges from 0.01% TRz EBEFENENTF0.01EE0.5E (7 =_F
to 0.5% (2020: 0.01% to 0.5%) per annum and all of them F:001EZE05F) FBEFHRIBRERY
have a maturity within three months from initial inception. R=ERARNEH-
MARGIN PAYABLES 22. BERREE

Margin payables represents margin loans arising from the
trading of listed investments which are repayable on demand.
No ageing analysis is disclosed in respect of margin payables.
In opinion of the Directors, an ageing analysis does not give
additional value in view of the Group’s business nature.

Margin payables bear interest rates ranged from 8% to
15.25% (2020:
31 March 2021.

8% to 15%) per annum for the year ended

BNREZA/EBELTRESIBZAREZER
FRRBSERDRERKEE L EHAEMAR

BEREREIT - EFAR REOINMHEAE
BEBUHEEMS TSI MBEIMEE -

FE/T—J.{%D %EAQE:EE:—QEZE :_'__ElJJ:E
BZFERENFEEE1525FE (Z T _FTF: 8
ZE15[E) °
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For the year ended 31 March 2021 H & =Z—-—F=F=+—HILFE

23. SHARE CAPITAL 23. /&
Number of Number of Number of
ordinary ordinary ordinary
shares of shares of shares of
HK$0.05 HK$0.0001 HK$0.001
each each each
SREE SREE SREE
005872  0.0001ETZ 0.001& T2
EEREE EEREE EEREE
'000 '000 '000 HK$000
T’ T’ T’ THT
Authorised: /f/f
At 1 April 2019, at 31 March 2020 and \_T-NFRA-H-
at 1 April 2020 m,g,7¢ A=+—-BRk
RZZZZENA—-H 24,000,000 - - 1,200,000
Capital reduction and sub-division of BRARR R R 74 (Hizta)
shares (note a) (24,000,000) 12,000,000,000 - -
Share consolidation (note a) RiDEB (Hita) - (12,000,000,000)  1,200,000,000 =
At 31 March 2021 R-ZE--f=A=t+-H - - 1,200,000,000 1,200,000
Issued and fully paid" BEETRHE -
At 1 April 2019, at 31 March 2020 and \*"—nﬁmﬂ A
at 1 April 2020 RZE-ZEF=A=+—-HR
RZEZZENA—H 2,257,666 - - 112,883
Capital reduction and sub-division of BRARVR R R 17 4 (Hizta)
shares (note a) (2,257,666) 2,257,666 - (112,657)
Share consolidation (note a) RiDE B (Hita) = (2,257,666) 225,767 =
Issue of shares under placement (note b)  1RIEE E%1TIN (HiZh) - = 45,150 45
At 31 March 2021 R-B--%=A=+-8 - - 270,917 271

(@) On 16 March 2020, the Company proposed to effect the capital
reduction of issued shares and sub-division of unissued shares
which has become effective on 30 July 2020. The capital
reduction of issued shares and sub-division of unissued shares
involved the following:

(i) the par value of each issued share of HK$0.05 (each
a “Share”) in the capital of the Company be reduced to
HK$0.0001 (each a “New Share”) by cancelling paid-up
capital to the extent of HK$0.0499 on each issued Share
(the “Capital Reduction”) and any liability of the holders of
such shares to make any further contribution to the capital
of the Company on each such share shall be treated as
satisfied and that the amount of issued capital thereby
cancelled be made available for issue of new shares of the
Company;

(i) immediately following the cancellation of paid-up capital
in (a) above, each authorized but unissued Share in the
capital of the Company be sub-divided into 500 New
Shares of HK$0.0001 each (“Sub-division”);

RZZ-ZZTFE=ZA+ XA ARFAEFERE %
TROZBARFARETRG BER 2T
FLtA=Z+THEB-EIRBBITRG ZBRAKIF
WMARBEITROD P R TIIEHE:

(iy BBTHTREBITROMTRZA0.04997%5
TR AR BARARATFRE BITRG
ZHE0.05B T (BB R —RIRMI)EIR
£0.0001B T (EB8A—RIFBKRM]) (TR
RERL) - HERD A AR SRBER S
MARBRAEEFEME-—FHENETR
EBEBTT BRI HSENE BTRASEA
FRYEBT AR R AIF G

(i) EBEX(@BEMOLBREAEHEE AR
Al B A o B BROK FE B i R 37T E B4 3R AR
735000% & AR I {50.000178 JT &9 #T AL 1 ([ 47
Al

12
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23.

24,

SHARE CAPITAL (continued)

(a) (continued)

(iii) immediately following the Sub-division, every ten (10)
issued and unissued New Shares of HK$0.0001 each in
the share capital of the Company be consolidated into one
(1) share of HK$0.001 each (each a “Consolidated Share”)
(the “Share Consolidation”) so that the authorised share
capital of the Company shall be HK$1,200,000,000 divided
into 1,200,000,000,000 Consolidated Shares of HK$0.001
each, and such Consolidated Share(s) shall rank pari
passu in all respects with each other and have the rights
and privileges and be subject to the restrictions in respect
of ordinary shares contained in the articles of association
of the Company;

(iv) the credit arising from the Capital Reduction be transferred
to a distributable reserve account of the Company which
may be utilised by the Directors in accordance with the
articles of association of the Company and all applicable
laws, including, without limitation, eliminating or setting off
the accumulated losses of the Company from time to time.

(b) On 15 September 2020, the Company entered into the placing
agreement to issue and allot a maximum of 45,150,000 placing
shares of HK$0.001 each in the Company with Astrum Capital
Management Limited at a price of HK$0.15. The net proceeds
from the subscription would be used for the general working
capital of the Group and for future investments pursuant to
the investment objectives of the Company. These new placing
shares rank pari passu in all respect with existing shares. This
transaction has been completed on 25 September 2020.

All issued shares rank pari passu in all respects with each
other.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The Company’s share option scheme (the “Scheme”), was
adopted pursuant to a resolution passed on 29 August
2013 for the primary purpose of providing incentives to
directors and eligible employees. Under the Scheme, the
Board of Directors of the Company may grant options to
eligible employees, including directors of the Company and
its subsidiaries, to subscribe for shares in the Company.
Additionally, the Company may, from time to time, grant share
options to outside third parties for settlement in respect of
goods or services provided to the Company.

No share options were granted during the year ended
31 March 2020 and no share options were outstanding under
the Scheme as at 31 March 2020.

23.

24,

For the year ended 31 March 2021 BiZ—Z-—F=HA=+—HItFE
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24. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued) 24, BREE (&)

As at 31 March 2021, the number of shares in respect of
which options had been granted and remained outstanding
under the Scheme was 22,500,000, representing
approximately 8.31% of the shares of the Company in issue
at that date. The total number of shares in respect of which
options may be granted under the Scheme is not permitted
to exceed 20% of the shares of the Company in issue at
any point in time, without prior approval from the Company’s
shareholders. The number of shares issued and to be issued
in respect of which options granted and may be granted to
any individual in any one year is not permitted to exceed 1%
of the shares of the Company in issue at any point in time,
without prior approval from the Company’s shareholders.

Options granted must be taken up within 21 days of the date
of grant, upon payment of HK$1 per option. Options may
be exercised at any time from the date of grant of the share
option to the second anniversary of the date of grant. The
exercise price is determined by the Board of Directors, and
will not be less than the highest of (i) the closing price of the
shares on the date of grant; (ii) the average closing price of
the shares for the five business days immediately preceding
the date of grant; and (iii) the nominal value of the shares.

Details of options granted to directors and employees on
7 August 2020 are as follows:
Date of grant 7 August 2020
Vesting period Immediate
Exercise period 3 years from the date of grant

Exercise price HK$0.316

R-ZEZ—FZA=+—B ZA8BETHER
ERBRTE M RITEEREMSRORNDEE A
22,500,000 - HE R A AR E BB EITRG Z
#18.31% ~ZETEIE T A R EH 2 EBREMP R Z
B BBERERABRBEI LB AR REMR
BB TRBBARQREBITRMN Z20% « T
R—FER T RAEFEAELALZBRE
BRIZBETRETETROBEEREERRA
AR R SR AR T B BBARA A
BEITRMNIZ1% °

BREANKEBHZ21IBA XN HBRE
1B TT T LA A - BB AR AT X X H BB ik 1 B 1
EEROBNAE _EBEF EHMERITE 1T
BRESFEET HIASERTIZESE ()
BORBEE BB ZKRHE: (i) RORERRLA
AR EEER 2 FHWHIE: &) zmE-

R-P-T5/\ALAETEEREEZHRE
HEDT

- qup=p-t| - S AN B =
55 8 B B A
7T1E 81 BEREASR=F
1B 0.316%8 7T
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24. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued) 24, BRESE (&)

The following table discloses movement of the Company’s
share option granted and lapsed:

TREBAAADEH LA BRERS

2021 2020
—E-—F —EEAF
Number of Number of
share options share options
BREHE EEHE
Outstanding at the beginning of IR & E Y R
the reporting period - 405,000
Lapsed during the year FAB XK - (405,000)
Granted during the year FABEKRH 22,500 =
Outstanding and exercisable AR S AR M R IT 6 R A] F1T(E
at the end of the reporting period 22,500 -

No share option was exercised during the year ended
31 March 2021 and 2020. Accordingly, no weighted average
share price at the date of exercise presented.

The fair value of share options granted on 7 August 2020 was
calculated using Binominal Option Pricing Model. The inputs
into the model were as follows:

7 August 2020

Fair value HK$0.1178-0.1161
Share price HK$0.2800
Exercise price HK$0.3160
Expected volatility 81%
Expected life 3 years
Risk-free rate 0.092%
Expected dividend yield Nil

Expected volatility was determined by using the historical
volatility of the Company’s share price over the previous 3
year for the year ended 31 March 2021. Change in subjective
input assumptions could materially affect the fair value
estimate.

The Group recognised a total expense of HK$2,620,000 for
the year ended 31 March 2021 in relation to share options
granted by the Company.

No expenses were recognised for the year ended 31 March
2020 in relation to share options granted by the Company.

REBEE_FT_—FR-_F_FTF-_A=+—HLt
FESECMBREETE - At YEZIR
1T A Z NI (-

%fjfjiﬂﬂtE%ﬁZ%h% NFAE T E
—HEAETERAFE - BN ER B A
%ﬁmT-

—E-EF

AV R =

nNEE 0.1178-0.1161/8 7T
fig B 0.2800/8 7T
T (E 0.3160/8 T
T8 H1 K 1R 81%
8 2R 4F BA =
[ ez 1) 2= 0.092%

TEHA AR B & i
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BIEBERARBRNBE=F 2 BREELIKE
BE- I%ﬁi@)\fﬁﬁﬁ’] EF R REH A FEMGE
REAZE

AEBRBZ T - —F=A=+—HIFEH
QD RIR 2 B IR R R B S 48 %82,620,00078
77[,0
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25. RESERVES 25. f#fE
Capital Share
Share Share reduction option Accumulated
capital premium reserve reserve losses Total
R RAEE RAHREFEE BRERE 2 ER L

HK$'000 HK§'000 HK$'000 HK§'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TAL TAL TAL TAL TAL TAL

(Note (a)) (Note (b))
(M) (P55 (b))
As at 1 April 2020 RZZZTENA-A 112,883 914,480 - - (844,717) 182,646
Profit and total comprehensive REERNREERNESR
income for the year - - - - 3,569 3,569
Reduction of share capital Dt (112,657) - 112,657 - - -
Issue of new shares under placing REEERTHRG 45 6,626 - - - 6,671
Grant of share options RHERE - - - 2,620 = 2,620
As at 31 March 2021 RZB-Z-F=Zf=+-H 21 921,106 112,657 2,620 (841,148) 195,506
Share
Share Share option  Accumulated
capital premium reserve losses Total
g R EE BRERR ZitER aE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TATL TAL TEL TAER TAEL
(Note (a)) (Note (b))
(M) (F3E (b))
As at 1 April 2019 RZE-NERA-A 112,883 914,480 3,740 (722,081) 309,022
Loss and total comprehensive expenses rEEEERZERY AT
for the year - - - (126,376) (126,376)
Lapsed of share options BREXN - - (3,740) 3,740 =
As at 31 March 2020 WZE-ZF=f=1-H 112,883 914,480 - (844,717) 182,646
Notes: Wit -
(a) Share option reserve comprises the fair value of share options (a) BRERBLECRLAEMKRITEZEREZA
granted which are yet to be exercised. The amount will be T 1B o % & FE A% 7O A B R AR RE B i 3082 i
transferred to accumulated losses when the related options are ZR2EE-

expired or forfeited.



126

China Investment and Finance Group Limited

=]

B & £ B & R o4 #

m &

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

mEMBHRME

26. NET ASSET VALUE PER SHARE

27.

Net asset value per share is calculated by dividing the
net assets included in the consolidated statement of
financial position of approximately HK$195,506,000 (2020:
HK$182,646,000) by the number of shares in issue as at
31 March 2021, being 270,917,000 (2020: 2,257,666,000).

In the course of preparation of this annual report, the value
of the Group’s unlisted investments decreased by net amount
of approximately HK$13,152,000, which was made with
reference to independent valuation reports. The valuation
reports were obtained by the Company after 15 April 2021, the
date of the Company’s announcement titled “Net Asset Value”
(the “NAV Announcement”). Owing to the aforesaid valuation
loss, the net asset value per share of the Company as at
31 March 2021 decreased from approximately HK$0.77 as
stated in the NAV Announcement to approximately HK$0.72
as stated in this annual report.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

During the year ended 31 March 2021 and 2020, the Group
had entered into the following transactions with the investment
manager of the Group which, in the opinion of the directors,
were carried out on normal commercial terms and in the
ordinary course of the Group’s business:

For the year ended 31 March 2021 &2 -Z-—F=fF=+—HIFE

26. BREERE

27.

BREEFEDNEBEAVERRLERARNAMAZ
B EFEH195,506,0008 L (T T &
182,646,000/ L) RUAR Z T Z—F=HA=+—
HE2 3T $ B 270,917,0000% (—Z B - T4 :
2,257,666,0000% ) & 13t °

RERAFRBREF AEEFELTRENER
ﬁd\aa%éim:s152000;%71*)3#&%%5%&13@
REEL - ARATARZTEZ—FEMA+HAB (K
@ﬂ*%%z%réémﬁjﬂ%wéém NP
M EREREFERSE AR LEEES
B ARERZZBE-—F=A=+—HZERE
EFEREEFERSRNAEHEMNLN0.77E TR
EARFRABHOL0.728 7T -

BEALRS
BE_Z_—FR-_Z_TF=-_A=+—HLF
B AEEEAEERELEITINTRS &
ERR MEBERGINAEEAEEEBBREPR
ERREREGET

2021 2020
—E-—fF —EEF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FH&T

Investment manager’s fee HELKEEHR
China Everbright Securities (HK) Limited T B X K#E%H (F75) GR A7 640 960
Evergrande Securities (Hong Kong) Limited 8 X:&% (&8 ) BR A 7 226 =
Total B\Et 866 960
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27. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

(continued)
Note:

The Company had terminated the investment management agreement
with China Everbright Securities (HK) Limited (the “China Everbright
Agreement”) effective on 30 November 2020 and entered into a
new investment management agreement with Evergrande Securities
(Hong Kong) Limited (the “New Investment Manager”) effective on
8 December 2020.

The New Investment Manager is entitled to a monthly management fee
of HK$60,000 and payable monthly in advance. Prior to the termination
of the China Everbright Agreement, the maximum aggregate fee to be
payable by the Group shall not exceed HK$960,000 per annum.

Both investment managers shall be deemed as a connected person
of the Company pursuant to Rule 21.13 of the Listing Rules upon the
agreement becoming effective. The transactions are considered a de
minimis transactions under Rule 14A.76 of the Listing Rules.

The independent non-executive directors of the Company considered
that the above investment management agreements are in the best
interests of the Company and were entered into on normal commercial
terms, in the ordinary course of business of the Company and that
investment management fee are calculated in accordance with
the above agreements and are fair and reasonable so far as the
Shareholders are concerned.

Remuneration for key management personnel, including amounts
paid to the directors of the Company and certain of the highest paid
employees are disclosed in note 16 to the consolidated financial
statements.

Annual R rt
2020/21 d ;p"#ﬁ

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 March 2021 #{Z =%

——F_A=T"HIFE

27. AEAEXR S (&)

Hiat:

ARRERZZT-FF+-A=ZTHRRLEDBERKE
%(%7’@)%%& TZ&%‘EE@T@%(F*I%K%%J) ’

YR-ZB-_ZTFF+-_ANBEBRES (FE)ARA
A ([HREERITLHBREERBH -

FRERBAEKDNE A EIRE60,0008 T RERE A
RAISN - RPBEXRBERIEAN ASBSFASN
ZEARSAETEHiB960,000 7T °

REZMBERE KELEHBRE EHRAE21.13
BRRB/ARFBEAL -RIE LT RIE14A.7605
ZEZXHEEA RN ARERRKFENRS -

ARRBUFATEERALAREERHETA
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R
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28. RETIREMENT BENEFITS SCHEME 28. RIKBERIGT &
The Group has participated in a defined contribution AEBEBRE GREIEAESFEIERED) BFIEAR
Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme (the “Scheme”) under the BEEREEZ2MEEHRTEHEAE RS
Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance for all eligible ([E5H81]) FrEEEREAEB  EEDRIBAYL
employees in Hong Kong. The assets of the Scheme are GERZAABEBZED RIBFTE A&H (ExX)
held separately from those of the Group, in funds under the HEEFAVYESREERA(EER GRIIEA
control of trustee. Under the scheme, each of the Group (the BErT81EH) ) 25% Bt sIfEH R -EEE
employer) and its employees makes monthly contributions EBEBAZHRBZE—HEFAA-—BEHZMNU
to the Scheme at 5% of the employees’ earnings as defined 1,500 L AR - ZHoMHRBEAREK WEE
under the Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme Ordinance. R EF AT AR MB TR FE RS-

The contributions from each of the employer and employees
are subject to a maximum contribution of HK$1,500 per
month since 1 June 2015 and thereafter contributions are
voluntary. No forfeited contribution is available to reduce the
contributions payable in the future years.

The total contributions charged to the consolidated income HEZZT - F=-A=1+—"HBLEFERKEELK
statement for the year ended 31 March 2021 amounted to HERNB 2B FHL49,0008 T (T T F:
HK$49,000 (2020: HK$48,000), representing contributions 48,0008 T) RERAEERBE T - —F=H
payable to the Scheme by the Group in respect of the year = +—HLEFEERGEHNS R

ended 31 March 2021.
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29. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL 29. AARTEMBE DT 2
SUBSIDIARIES OF THE COMPANY

Details of principal subsidiaries at 31 March 2021 and 2020 RZEZ—FR-FT_TF=A=+—HZxE

are as follows:

Place of issued share
Name of subsidiary incorporation capital Interest held Principal activities
B D R & o AR AR 3 3t B BRITRAFE B zis TEEHR
2021 2020
—E--F CZIT-TF
Directly hold:
BEERE:
Garron Consultancy Limited Hong Kong Ordinary shares 100% 100% Trading of securities
HK$1
FRERERAR N TERUET 100% 100% #HHEEH
New Express Investment Limited Hong Kong Ordinary shares 100% 100% Trading of securities
HK$1 & investment
holding
HRREBRAR 0 TERUET 100% 100% HHEERKEER
Jetland Global Investments Ltd British Virgin Ordinary shares of 100% 100% Investment
Islands US$1 each holding
RBRRHE Rl 100% 100% & ZERK
BREBEIET
Baiye Holdings Limited British Virgin Ordinary shares of 100% 100% Investment holding
Islands US$1 each
KBEAHS ERER 100% 100% HAEZERK
BREBEIET

Particulars of

The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Company which,

in the opinion of the directors, principally affected the results

for the year or formed a substantial portion of the net assets

of the Group. To give details of other subsidiaries would, in

the opinion of the directors, result in particulars of excessive

length.

None of the subsidiaries had any debt securities outstanding

at end of the reporting period or at any time during the year.

MEBARFEHINMT:

LRFRARAMBANNEERAEANER

FREREEAIBRASEEEFEZIERNMD

ERR I EMMBARFEEBAR TR

&

RBREMRLFERTMER BEMRNBARES

EAHREEZERE S



130

China Investment and Finance Group Limited
P E KR B OE &£ B B R 44 7

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

,2,51-\ ’g‘ E\ZI' ﬁ% $ﬁ %% Bﬂ' -EI For the year ended 31 March 2021 H#E—F - —F=A=1+—HIFE
30. FINANCIAL INFORMATION OF THE 30. KRBz BER
COMPANY
2021 2020
—E-—F —E-THF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FExT FAET
Non-current assets kRBEE
Investment in subsidiaries RHBRARZIKE 1 1
1 1
Current assets RBEE
Other receivables, prepayments Ha U RIE RN FRIERES
and deposits 18,646 26,054
Amounts due from subsidiaries LN NI 173,330 154,038
Cash and cash equivalents ReRkFEZEEY 63 798
192,039 180,890
Current liabilities REEE
Accruals FEsrEH 3,280 4,163
Amounts due to subsidiaries FE T M B 2 R 3R 8 1,940 1,553
5,220 5,716
Net current asset RBEEFE 186,819 175,174
Net assets EESFE 186,820 175,175
Capital and reserves EXR#E
Share capital f& 7 271 112,883
Reserves (Note) R (Hat) 186,549 62,292
Total equity B 186,820 175,175
Signed on its behalf by: BKEATIIALTREREE:
CHAN Cheong Yee FONG On Shek
RE=x FER
Director Director

EF EF
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30. FINANCIAL INFORMATION OF THE 30. ARRIZMKER (&)
COMPANY (continued)
Note: o
Movement in reserves during the year FAEEE
Capital Share
Share reduction option Accumulated
premium reserve reserve losses Total
[N
IR 12 % 8 HURfHE BRERE 23R st
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’'000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET FHET FH&T FET F&T
As at 1 April 2019 RZZE—-ILFWmA—A 914,480 = 3,740 (726,790) 191,430
Loss and total comprehensive AEEBEREE
expenses for the year g - - = (129,138) (129,138)
Lapse of share options i AR 2R 3 - - (3,740) 3,740 =
As at 31 March 2020 and R-B-BF=A=+-H
1 April 2020 R-E-S£NF—H 914,480 - —  (852,188) 62,292
Profit and total comprehensive income N4 &% | &2 2 W A 4258
for the year - - - 2,354 2,354
Reduction of share capital Bl Bk A% A - 112,657 - - 112,657
Issue of new shares under placing BERSEITHRGD 6,626 - - = 6,626
Grant of share options B - - 2,620 = 2,620
As at 31 March 2021 R-FE-_—F=ZA=+—H 921,106 112,657 2,620 (849,834) 186,549
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Year ended 31 March
BEZA=1+-HLEE
2021 2020 2019 2018 2017
B —T-THF —ZT-HNF ZT-NF ZZT—+tF
HK$’000 HK$°000 HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$°000
FTERT FAT FET FHET FAT

RESULTS S
Revenue gy 4,521 2,930 95 907 633
Profit/(loss) before tax BE RIS, (F8) 3,569 (127,108) (87,251) (1,128,214) 436,440
Income tax credit/(expenses) K e,/ (Ax) - 732 1,094 86,506 (80,676)
Profit/(loss) attributable to KRBHEAA
owners of the Company FEMEHER, (BE) 3,569 (126,376) (86,157) (1,041,708) 355,764
Earnings/(loss) per share SRER (HE)
— Basic (HK cents) — AR (W) 1.43 (5.60) (3.82) (46.14) 17.15
At 31 March
R=ZBA=+—H
2021 2020 2019 2018 2017
“E-—f —ZIZT-TF ZT-NF ZT-NF ZT—tF
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FAT FHT FHT FHET
ASSETS AND LIABILITIES EEREE
Non-current assets FRBEE 49,504 50,411 62,035 101,012 135,715
Current assets MEBEE 153,752 141,580 253,968 319,859 1,465,153
Current liabilities mEaRE (7,750) (9,345) (6,981) (11,732) (72,571)
Non-current liabilities FnEEE - - - - (88,800)

Total equity ERas 195,506 182,646 309,022 409,139 1,439,497
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